## University of Alberta

## Damping and Harmonic Control of DG Interfacing

Power Converters

by

Jinwei He

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Power Engineering and Power Electronics

Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering

© Jinwei He Spring 2014 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

## Abstract

A large number of renewable energy resources have been installed in the power distribution system in the form of distribution generation. To interconnect renewable energy resources to the utility power system, the power electronics converter is often used as an efficient interface of distributed generation units. However, the presence of power converters with high order LC or LCL filters also introduces many harmonic and resonance problems to power distribution systems. In addition, the growing application of distributed nonlinear loads further aggravates the harmonic distortions in the power distribution system.

To solve these problems, this thesis discusses interfacing converter control method that actively mitigates the resonances and harmonics in power distribution systems. The first objective is to provide sufficient damping effect to distributed generation unit interfacing converter filters through improved inverter control. To realize this objective, this thesis conducts an in-depth investigation on resonances in both a single inverter and multiple parallel inverters. The virtual impedance based damping method is proposed to realize better control of interfacing converters. The second objective of this thesis is to compensate the impact of nonlinear loads in the low voltage distribution system through flexible operation of interfacing converters. In the scenario, the interfacing converter essentially works as a virtual harmonic filter. A number of power distribution system harmonic compensation methods are proposed. They aim to realize better power quality of future power electronics intensive power distribution systems.

## Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to Dr. Yunwei (Ryan) Li for his kind support, excellent supervision with great patience and enthusiasm, and financial support during the whole research work. This research and dissertation would not have been possible without his patient guidance.

I also thank Dr. Frede Blaabjerg for his generous support during my research at the Institute of Energy Technology, Aalborg University, Denmark, in 2012.

I owe a lot to my wife, Yun Xie. It is difficult to express my gratitude for her. Her support and encouragement make this thesis possible.

Finally, the financial support from Izaak Walton Killam Memorial Scholarship is also very much appreciated.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1		
Intro	duction	1
1.1.	Harmonics and resonance in a DG system power electronics interface	1
1.1.1.	Harmonic and resonance in a single DG system	2
1.1.2.	Interactions between multiple interfacing converters	3
1.1.3.	Harmonic distortion mitigation methods for DG systems	5
1.2.	Harmonic distortion compensation in a power distribution system	8
1.2.1	Local load harmonic current compensation	9
1.2.2	Distribution system voltage harmonic compensation	11
1.2.3	Voltage controlled power system harmonic issues	13
1.3.	Research objectives and thesis layout	14
Chap	ter 2	••••
Interf	facing Converter Control and Active Damping	17
2.1.	Single-loop control scheme	18
2.2.	Double-loop control scheme	24
2.3.	Generalized closed-loop control scheme	26
2.3.1.	GCC scheme structure	27
2.3.2.	Internal virtual impedance control	28
2.3.3.	Positions of internal virtual impedance	30
2.3.4.	Analysis and design of GCC control parameters	32
2.4.	Deadbeat control scheme	36
2.4.1.	Principle of deadbeat control	36
2.4.2.	Proposed active damping scheme for deadbeat current control	39

2.5.	Verification results	42
2.5.1.	GCC scheme verification results	42
2.5.2.	Deadbeat control scheme verification results	44
2.6.	Summary	47
Chap	ter 3	••••
Mode	ling and Active Damping of Multiple Resonances for Parallel Grid-T	ied
Inver	ters	48
3.1.	Modeling of multiple parallel inverters	48
3.1.1.	Multiple parallel inverters with controllers developed in s-domain	49
3.1.2.	Multiple parallel inverters with controllers developed in z-domain	51
3.2.	Frequency response analysis of multiple parallel inverters	53
3.2.1.	Analysis of multiple inverters with deadbeat current control	53
3.2.2.	Analysis of multiple inverters with single-loop current control	59
3.2.3.	Analysis of multiple inverters with GCC control scheme	62
3.3.	Verification results	64
3.3.1.	Performance with deadbeat control scheme	64
3.3.2.	Performance with single-loop control	70
3.3.3.	Performance with GCC scheme	73
3.4.	Summary	73
Chap	ter 4	••••
Distri	bution System Harmonic Compensation Using DG Interfac	ing
Conv	erters	75
4.1.	Improved CCM for harmonic compensation	76
4.1.1.	Principle of harmonic compensation with PLL and harmonic detection	77
4.1.2.	Proposed harmonic compensation method	80

4.2.	Improved VCM for distribution system PCC harmonic volta	age
compe	ensation	84
4.3.	Verification results	89
4.3.1.	CCM based compensation scheme verification	89
4.3.2.	VCM based compensation scheme verification	99
4.4.	Summary 1	.04
Chapt	ter 5	••••
Hybri	id Voltage and Current Control Method to Improve DG Un	nits
Perfo	rmanc1	05
5.1.	The proposed HCM 1	05
5.2.	Flexible operation of DG units using HCM 1	.08
5.3.	Modeling of interfacing converter with HCM 1	12
5.4.	Adaptive HCM to compensate impact of frequency disturbance 1	19
5.5.	Verification results 1	25
5.5.1.	Fixed frequency HCM verification 1	25
5.5.2.	Adaptive HCM verification 1	31
5.6.	Summary 1	.39
Chapt	ter 6 1	.41
Concl	lusions and Future Work1	.41
6.1.	Conclusions 1	41
6.2.	Thesis contribution 1	43
6.3.	Future work 1	45
Refer	ences 1	.47

# List of Abbreviations

AC	Alternating Current
APF	Active Power Filter
СВ	Circuit Breaker
ССМ	Current Control Method
CFL	Compact Fluorescent Lamp
DC	Direct Current
DG	Distributed Generation
DSP	Digital Signal Processor
FPGA	Field-Programmable Gate Array
FLL	Frequency Locked Loop
GCC	Generalized Closed-loop Control
НСМ	Hybrid Control Method
PCC	Point of Common Coupling
PoC	Point of Connection
PLL	Phase Locked Loop
PR	Proportional and Resonant
PV	Photovoltaic
PWM	Pulse Width Modulation
RES	Renewable Energy Resource

SOGI	Second Order Generalized Integrator
THD	Total Harmonic Distortion
VCM	Voltage Control Method
WT	Wind Turbine

# List of Figures

Fig. 1. 1. Interfacing converter with various types of output filters
Fig. 1. 2. Distribution system with multiple DG units
Fig. 1. 3. Wind power conversion using parallel converters
Fig. 1. 4. Installation of passive damping resistor in an LCL filter.
Fig. 1. 5. Average model of active damping using a single-loop control with lead-lead
compensator
Fig. 1. 6. Average model of active damping using a double-loop current control scheme.
Fig. 1. 7. Simplified diagram of an interfacing converter with a local nonlinear load
Fig. 1. 8. Control schemes of an interfacing converter with local nonlinear load
compensation
Fig. 1. 9. Two DG units with a PCC harmonic voltage compensation service12
Fig. 1. 10. PCC harmonic compensation using a virtual harmonic resistor12
Fig. 1. 11. Distribution system with voltage controlled DG units

Fig. 2. 1. Diagram of a single-loop current controlled interfacing converter
Fig. 2. 2. An LCL filter interfaced to PCC
Fig. 2. 3. Equivalent circuit of a current controlled DG interfacing converter
Fig. 2. 4. Closed-loop response of single loop current control with inverter output current
$I_1$ feedback ( $G_{eq}(s) = I_2/I_{ref}$ )
Fig. 2. 5. Closed-loop response of single loop current control with inverter output current
$I_1$ feedback ( $Y_{eq}(s) = -I_2/V_{PCC}$ )
Fig. 2. 6. Closed-loop response of single loop current control with line current $I_2$
feedback ( $G_{eq}(s) = I_2/I_{ref}$ )
Fig. 2. 7. Closed-loop response of single loop current control with line current
$I_2$ feedback ( $Y_{eq}(s) = -I_2/V_{PCC}$ )
Fig. 2. 8. Double-loop control diagram for current-controlled interfacing converter with
an LCL filter
Fig. 2. 9. Proposed GCC scheme: (a) Voltage-controlled interfacing converter with an LC
filter. (b) Current-controlled interfacing converter with an LCL filter27
Fig. 2. 10. Illustration of internal virtual impedance with different feedbacks

Fig. 2. 11. $H_{2\_GCC}(s)$ with the modified LCL filter plant (with inverter output current $I_1$
based internal impedance)
Fig. 2. 12. $H_{I\_GCC}(s)$ with the modified LCL filter plant. (with inverter output current $I_1$
based internal impedance)
Fig. 2. 13. Conventional deadbeat controlled inverter system
Fig. 2. 14. Closed-loop Norton equivalent circuit of an inverter system
Fig. 2. 15. Illustration of single inverter with active damping
Fig. 2. 16. Current controlled grid interfacing converter with LCL filter. (Inverter output
current $I_1$ based internal virtual impedance) (Over-dampened impedance term
with $G_{Internal}(s) = 70$ ). (a: $V_{PCC}$ (100V/div); b: ( $V_C$ 100V/div); c: $I_2$ (2.5A/div).
(Experiment)
Fig. 2. 17. Current controlled grid interfacing converter with LCL filter. (Capacitor
current $I_c$ based internal virtual impedance). (Over-dampened impedance term
with $G_{Internal}(s) = 110$ ). (a: $V_{PCC}$ (100V/d); b: ( $V_C$ 100V/div); c: $I_2$ (2.5A/div).
(Experiment)
Fig. 2. 18. Current-controlled grid-connected interfacing converter with LCL filter.
(capacitor current $I_c$ based internal virtual impedance). Internal impedance term
with $G_{Internal}(s) = 25$ . (a: $V_{PCC}$ (100V/div); b: $V_C$ (100V/div); c: $I_2$ (2.5A/div).)
(Experiment)43
Fig. 2. 19. Performance of deadbeat control during reference step change (without
damping). (a. PCC voltage: 200v/div; b. line current: 10A/div; c. output current: 10A/div).
(Simulation)
Fig. 2. 20. Performance of deadbeat control during reference step change (active
damping). (a. PCC voltage: 200v/div; b. line current: 10A/div; c. output current: 10A/div).
Fig. 2. 21. Performance of deadbeat control during grid voltage sags (without damping).
(a. PCC voltage: 200v/div; b. line current: 10A/div; c. output current: 10A/div ).
(Simulation)
Fig. 2. 22. Performance of deadbeat control during grid voltage sags (active damping). (a.
PCC voltage: 200v/div; b. line current: 10A/div; c. output current: 10A/div). (Simulation)
Fig. 2. 23. Performance of deadbeat control during reference step change (without
damping). (a. PCC voltage: 100v/div; b. line current: 5A/div; c. output current. 5A/div).
(Experiment)

Fig. 2. 24. Performance of deadbeat control during reference step change (active
damping). (a. PCC voltage: 100v/div; b. line current: 5A/div; c. output current: 5A/div).
(Experiment)46
Fig. 2. 25. Performance of deadbeat control during grid voltage sag (without damping). (a
PCC voltage: 100v/div; b. line current: 5A/div; c. output current: 5A/div). (Experiment)
Fig. 2. 26. Performance of deadbeat control during grid voltage sag (active damping). (a.
PCC voltage: 100v/div; b. line current: 5A/div; c. output current: 5A/div). (Experiment)
46

Fig. 3. 1. Illustration of the proposed closed-loop model of parallel grid-connected Fig. 3. 2. Diagram of multiple parallel inverters and its closed-loop equivalent circuit...52 Fig. 3. 3. Inverter1's internal resonance with different parallel inverter numbers Fig. 3. 4. Inverter1's parallel resonance with different parallel inverter numbers Fig. 3. 5. Inverter 1's series resonance with different parallel inverter numbers ( $S_G(z) =$ Fig. 3. 6. Inverter 1's parallel resonance with different grid feeder resistance.  $(P_{12}(z) =$  $I_{2,1}(z)/I_{ref2}(z)$ ). (Two inverters are connected to the system. Conventional deadbeat Fig. 3. 7. Inverter 1's series resonance with different grid feeder resistance. ( $S_G(z) =$  $-I_{2,1}(z)/V_{grid}(z)$ ). (Two inverters are connected to the system. Conventional deadbeat Fig. 3. 8. Inverter1's internal resonance mitigation with different parallel inverter numbers  $(R_{1T}(z) = I_{2,1}(z)/I_{ref1}(z))$ . (Deadbeat control with virtual impedance based Fig. 3. 9. Inverter1's parallel resonance mitigation with different parallel inverter numbers  $(P_{12}(z) = I_{2,1}(z)/I_{ref2}(z))$ . (Deadbeat control with virtual impedance based 

Fig. 3. 10. Inverter1's series resonance mitigation with different parallel inverter numbers
$(S_G(z) = -I_{2,1}(z)/V_{grid}(z))$ . (Deadbeat control with virtual impedance based active
damping)
Fig. 3. 11. Internal resonance of inverter1 $(I_{2,1}/I_{ref,1})$ . (2, 5, and 10 in the figure mean
parallel inverter numbers of the system) (single-loop control with inverter output current
feedback)
Fig. 3. 12. Parallel resonance of inverter 1 $(I_{2,1}/I_{ref,2})$ . (2,5, and 10 in the figure mean
parallel inverter numbers of the system) (Single-loop control with inverter output current
feedback)
Fig. 3. 13. Series resonance of inverter1 $(I_{2,1}/V_{grid})$ . (2,5, and 10 in the figure mean
parallel inverter numbers of the system) (single-loop control with inverter output current
feedback)
Fig. 3. 14. Simplified equivalent circuit of parallel inverters with single-loop current
control and inverter output current feedback
Fig. 3. 15. Internal resonance of inverter1 $(I_{2,1}/I_{ref,1})$ . (2, 5, and 10 in the figure mean
parallel inverter numbers of the system) (GCC control for multiple inverters)
Fig. 3. 16. Parallel resonance of inverter 1 $(I_{2,1}/I_{ref,2})$ . (2,5, and 10 in the figure mean
parallel inverter numbers of the system) (GCC control for multiple inverters)
Fig. 3. 17. Series resonance of inverter1 $(I_{2,1}/V_{grid})$ . (2,5, and 10 in the figure mean
parallel inverter numbers of the system) (GCC control for multiple inverters)
Fig. 3. 18. Parallel resonance without damping (two-inverter microgrid). (Simulation). 65
Fig. 3. 19. Parallel resonance mitigation without active damping. (four inverter
microgrid). (Simulation)
Fig. 3. 20. Parallel resonance mitigation with active damping (two-inverter microgrid).
(Simulation)
Fig. 3. 21. Harmonic spectra of inverter1 during parallel resonance transient
Fig. 3. 22. Series resonance without damping (Inverter2 to Inverter4 shut down at
0.25sec). (Simulation)
Fig. 3. 23. Series resonance mitigation with active damping. (Inverter2 to Inverter4 shut
down at 0.25sec). (Simulation)
Fig. 3. 24. Parallel resonances between two-inverter microgrid without damping. (a. main
grid voltage: 100v/div; b. line current of inverter1: 5A/div; c. line current of inverter2:
5A/div). (Experiment)

Fig. 3. 25. Mitigation of parallel resonances between two-inverter microgrid with active
damping. (a. main grid voltage: 100v/div; b. line current of inverter1: 5A/div; c. line
current of inverter2: 5A/div). (Experiment)
Fig. 3. 26. Series resonances of inverter1 in a single-inverter based microgrid without
damping. (a. grid voltage: 100v/div; b. PCC voltage: 100v/div; c. line current of inverter1:
5A/div). (Experiment)
Fig. 3. 27. Series resonances of inverter1 in a double-inverter based microgrid without
damping. (a. grid voltage: 100v/div; b. PCC voltage: 100v/div; c. line current of inverter1:
5A/div). (Experiment)
Fig. 3. 28. Mitigation of series resonances of inverter1 in a double-inverter based
microgrid with active damping. (a. grid voltage: 100v/div; b. PCC voltage: 100v/div; c.
line current of inverter1: 5A/div). (Experiment)
Fig. 3. 29. Performance of inverter1 with single-loop current control and inverter output
current feedback. (Simulation)
Fig. 3. 30. Performance of inverter1 and inverter2 during the reference step change of
inverter. (Simulation)
Fig. 3. 31. Performance of inverter1 with GCC control scheme. (Simulation)72
Fig.3. 32. Performance of inverter1 and inverter2 during the reference step change of
inverter2 (inverters are controlled by GCC scheme). (Simulation)

Fig. 4. 1. Diagram of a single-phase interfacing converter using conventional current
control method for local load harmonic compensation78
Fig. 4. 2. Diagram of a single-phase interfacing converter using conventional current
control method for feeder resonance mitigation
Fig. 4. 3. Diagram of an interfacing converter with the proposed control scheme
Fig. 4. 4. Diagram of an interfacing converter controlled by VCM
Fig. 4. 5. Simplified equivalent circuit at harmonic frequency
Fig. 4. 6. CCM interfacing converter during harmonic rejection. (a: line current $I_2$ ; b:
output current $I_1$ ; c: local load current $I_{Local}$ .)
Fig. 4. 7. CCM interfacing converter during local harmonic compensation. (a: line
current $I_2$ ; b: output current $I_1$ ; c: local load current $I_{Local}$ .)

Fig. 4. 8. Power control reference during local load harmonic compensation. (a: PCC
voltage and fundamental current reference $I_{ref_f}$ , b: power control gains g1 and g2).
(Simulation)
Fig. 4. 9. Power flow of the CCM based interfacing converter during local load harmonic
current compensation. ( $P_{ref} = 600W$ and $Q_{ref} = 200Var$ .) (Simulation)
Fig. 4. 10. PoC voltage and the fundamental current reference for DG unit with long
feeder under harmonic rejection control. (a: PCC voltage $V_{PCC}$ ; b: fundamental current
reference $I_{ref_f}$ .) (Simulation)
Fig. 4. 11. Performance of the DG unit with long feeder under harmonic rejection control.
(a: grid current $I_{grid}$ ; b: inverter output current $I_1$ ; c: Load current $I_{Load}$ .) (Simulation) 92
Fig. 4. 12. PoC voltage and its corresponding fundamental current reference during
feeder resonance voltage compensation. (a: PoC voltage $V_{PoC}$ ; b: fundamental current
reference $I_{ref_f}$ .) (Simulation)
Fig. 4. 13. Performance of the DG unit during feeder resonance voltage compensation. (a:
grid current $I_{grid}$ ; b: output current $I_1$ ; c: Load current $I_{Load}$ .) (Simulation)
Fig. 4. 14. Power flow of the DG unit with LC ladder. ( $P_{ref}=1000$ W and $Q_{ref}=0$ Var).
(Simulation)
Fig. 4. 15. Performance with local nonlinear load. DG unit works under harmonic
rejection mode (a: PCC voltage 250v/div; b: line current 10A/div; c: inverter output
current 10A/div; d: local load current 10A/div.) (Experiment)95
Fig. 4. 16. Performance with local nonlinear load. DG unit works under harmonic
rejection mode. (a: PCC voltage $250v/div$ ; b: fundamental current reference $Iref_f$
10A/div.) (Experiment)
Fig. 4. 17. Performance with local nonlinear load. DG unit works under local load
harmonic compensation mode. (a: PCC voltage 250v/div; b: line current 10A/div; c:
inverter output current 10A/div; d: local load current 10A/div.) (Experiment)
Fig. 4. 18. Real and reactive power flow using the proposed closed-loop power control
method. (Under local nonlinear load compensation mode and the PoC voltage magnitude
is reduced to 106V) (Experiment)
Fig. 4. 19. Real and reactive power flow using the conventional open-loop power control
method in (1). (Under local nonlinear load compensation mode and the PoC voltage
magnitude is reduced to 106V) (Experiment)

Fig. 4. 20. Performance with an upstream LC ladder. DG unit works under harmonic rejection mode. (a: nodel voltage 250v/div; b: node3 voltage 250v/div; c: PoC voltage Fig. 4. 21. Performance with an upstream LC ladder. DG unit works under harmonic rejection mode. (a: PoC voltage 250v/div; b: fundamental current reference Fig. 4. 22. Performance with an upstream LC ladder. Interfacing converter works under harmonic compensation mode. (a: node1 voltage 250v/div; b: node3 voltage 250v/div; c: Fig. 4. 23. Performance with an upstream LC ladder. Interfacing converter works under harmonic compensation mode. (a: PoC voltage 250v/div; b: fundamental current Fig. 4. 24. VCM based interfacing converter without compensation: (a) PCC phase voltage, (b) DG phase voltage, (c) grid current, (d) line current. (Simulation) ...... 101 Fig. 4. 25. VCM based interfacing converter with PCC harmonic compensation: (a) PCC phase voltage, (b) DG phase voltage, (c) grid current, (d) line current. (Simulation) ... 101 Fig. 4. 26. Voltage control method with harmonic rejection: (a) PCC phase voltage, (b) DG phase voltage, (c) grid current, (d) line current. (Simulation)......101 Fig. 4. 27. Harmonic analysis of PCC voltage (VCM). (Simulation)......102 Fig. 4. 28. Voltage control method without harmonic compensation: (a) PCC line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (b) DG line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (c) grid current (5A/div), (d) Fig. 4. 29. Voltage control method with harmonic compensation: (a) PCC line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (b) DG line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (c) grid current (5A/div), (d) Fig. 4. 30. Voltage control method with harmonic rejection: (a) PCC line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (b) DG line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (c) grid current (5A/div), (d) DG 

Fig. 5. 1. Diagram of a hybrid voltage and current controller.	
Fig. 5. 2. Simplified diagram of a DG unit connected to distribution system	109
Fig. 5. 3. Diagram of interfacing converter controlled by HCM.	111

Fig. 5. 4. Modified Norton equivalent circuit for DG interfacing converter with HCM.
(Valid at selected harmonic frequencies)113
Fig. 5. 5. Modified Thevenin equivalent circuit for DG interfacing converter with HCM.
(Valid at fundamental frequency)113
Fig. 5. 6. The diagram of an LCL filter114
Fig. 5. 7. Bode plot of current tracking gains Geqs using conventional CCM and
$G_{eq_c}(s)$ using the proposed HCM. (Valid at selected harmonic frequencies)
Fig. 5. 8. Bode plot of disturbance gain $G_{Dis_h}(s)$ using the proposed HCM. (Valid at
selected harmonic frequencies)
Fig. 5. 9. Bode plot of shunt admittance $(-Y_{eq}(s))$ using conventional CCM
and $(-Y_{eq\_HCM}(s))$ using the proposed HCM
Fig. 5. 10. Bode plot of voltage tracking gains Geqs using conventional VCM and
$G_{eq_V}(s)$ using the proposed HCM. (Valid at fundamental frequency)
Fig. 5. 11. Bode plot of disturbance gain $G_{dis_f}(s)$ using the proposed HCM. (Valid at
fundamental frequency)
Fig. 5. 12. Bode plot of series output impedance zouts using conventional CCM
and z <sub>out_HCM</sub> (s) using the proposed HCM. (Valid at fundamental frequency)
Fig. 5. 13. Implementation of frequency adaptive HCM using SOGI
Fig. 5. 14. Diagram of frequency adaptive HCM
Fig. 5. 15. Performance of interfacing inverter with HCM (local harmonic compensation)
(a: inverter converter line current; b: main grid current; c: DG voltage). (Simulation). 127
Fig. 5. 16. Performance of interfacing inverter with HCM (local harmonic compensation)
(a: inverter converter line current; b: main grid current; c: DG voltage). (Simulation). 127
Fig. 5. 17. Performance of interfacing inverter with HCM (line harmonic rejection) (a:
inverter converter line current; b: main grid current; c: DG voltage). (Simulation) 127
Fig. 5. 18. Power flow during real reference step increase. (Simulation)
Fig. 5. 19. Control mode transfer performance in grid-connected operation. (a: DG line
current; b: main grid current; c: DG voltage). (Transfer from local harmonic load
compensation to line harmonic compensation at 4.5sec). (Simulation)
Fig. 5. 20. An islanding microgrid with two identical DG units. (DG1 controlled with line
harmonic rejection; DG2controlled with local harmonic load compensation)129
Fig. 5. 21. Power sharing in islanding DG units. (Simulation)
Fig. 5. 22. Line currents of DG units during loads variation. (Simulation)

Fig. 5. 23. Experimental waveforms of grid-connected DG with VCM (a: PCC voltage; b:
filter capacitor voltage; c: main grid current; d: DG line current). (Experiment)
Fig. 5. 24. Experimental waveforms of grid-connected DG with HCM (Line harmonic
currents rejection. a: PCC voltage; b: filter capacitor voltage; c: main grid current; d: DG
line current). (Experiment)
Fig. 5. 25. Experimental waveforms of grid-connected DG with HCM (Local harmonic
currents compensation. a: PCC voltage; b: filter capacitor voltage; c: main grid current; d:
DG line current). (Experiment)
Fig. 5. 26. Experimental single-phase islanding microgrid with two DG units
Fig. 5. 27. Performance of fixed frequency HCM operating in harmonic uncontrolled
mode . (a: DG1 voltage 250V/div; b: DG2 voltage 250V/div; c: DG1 line current 10A/div;
D: DG2 line current 10A/div.) (Experiment)
Fig. 5. 28. Performance of fixed frequency HCM operating in harmonic uncontrolled
mode. (with simplified power control and virtual impedance control loops) (a: DG1
voltage 250V/div; b: DG2 voltage 250V/div; c: DG1 line current 10A/div; D: DG2 line
current 10A/div.) (Experiment)
Fig. 5. 29. Performance of adaptive HCM operating in harmonic uncontrolled mode. (a:
DG1 voltage 250V/div; b: DG2 voltage 250V/div; c: PCC voltage 250V/div.)
(Experiment)
Fig. 5. 30. Performance of adaptive HCM operating in harmonic uncontrolled mode. (a:
DG1 line current 10A/div; d: DG2 current line 10A/div; c: current difference 10A/div.)
(Experiment)
Fig. 5. 31. Performance of adaptive HCM operating in PCC harmonic compensation
mode. (a: DG1 voltage 250V/div; b: DG2 voltage 250V/div; c: PCC voltage
250V/div.)(Experiment)
Fig. 5. 32. Performance of adaptive HCM operating in PCC harmonic compensation
mode. (a: DG1 line current 10A/div; d: DG2 line current 10A/div; c: current difference
10A/div.)(Experiment)
Fig. 5. 33. Experimental single-phase grid-tied microgrid with single DG units
Fig. 5. 34. Grid-connected DG using fixed frequency HCM and revised power control
loop operating in local load harmonic compensation mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b:
DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load
DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load current 5A/div). (Experiment)

Fig. 5. 35. Grid-connected DG using fixed frequency HCM and revised power control
loop operating in DG harmonic current rejection mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b:
DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load
current 5A/div.) (Experiment)
Fig. 5. 36. Grid-connected DG using adaptive HCM operating in local load harmonic
compensation mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b: DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current
5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load current 5A/div.) (Experiment)
Fig. 5. 37. Grid-connected DG using adaptive HCM operating in DG harmonic rejection
mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b: DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d:
Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load current 5A/div.) (Experiment)
Fig. 5. 38. Grid-connected DG using adaptive HCM operating in DG harmonic
uncontrolled mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b: DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current
5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div e: Local load current 5A/div.)
Fig. 5. 39. Grid-connected DG using adaptive HCM operating in PCC harmonic
compensation mode. (a: main grid voltage 250V/div; b: PCC voltage 250V/div; c: DG
voltage 250V/div; d: line current 5A/div.) (Experiment)

# List of Tables

TABLE. 2. 1. Parameters of interfacing converter with single-loop current control	ol21
TABLE. 2. 2. Parameters of interfacing converter with GCC scheme	
TABLE. 2. 3. Circuit and control parameters of inverter with deadbeat control	44
TABLE. 3. 1. Parameters of multiple inverters with GCC control scheme	62
TABLE. 4. 1. Parameters in for interfacing converter with CCM	90
TABLE. 4. 2. Parameters for inverter controlled by VCM	100
TABLE. 5. 1. Requirement for integration wind turbines in Denmark	121
TABLE. 5. 2. Parameters for fixed frequency HCM verification	126
TABLE. 5. 3. Parameters for adaptive HCM verification (islanding operation)	133
TABLE. 5. 4. Parameters for adaptive HCM verification (grid-tied operation)	136

# **Chapter 1**

## Introduction

Increasing concerns about costs associated with and pollution caused by fossil fuel energy based power generation have popularized renewable energy sources (RES) such as photovoltaic energy, wind energy, and fuel cells as means to provide power [1]-[4]. As most RESs have DC or uncontrolled AC output power characteristics that are not ready for grid integration, a power electronics converter is often adopted as an efficient interface to interconnect these distributed generation (DG) systems to the utility grid [5]-[7].

Power electronics converters must be designed and controlled properly to avoid the injection of harmonic pollution to the power distribution system. The application of nonlinear loads (e.g., a compact fluorescent lamp), together with the integration of many small power DG units, can cause a wide range of problems [8]-[10]. To solve these problems, various types of passive filters or active filters can be used, but a better way of improving power quality is to absorb harmonics through improved control of power electronics interfacing converters. The research reported in this thesis was undertaken to (1) reduce harmonic pollution from DG units, and (2) compensate nonlinear load harmonics by using DG unit power electronics converters.

# **1.1. Harmonics and resonance in a DG system power electronics** interface

This section starts with a review of resonances in both single inverter and multiple inverters. Passive and active damping methods are introduced.

#### 1.1.1. Harmonic and resonance in a single DG system

Due to the intermittent nature of many renewable energy sources and the complexity of power electronic circuits, interfacing converters have introduced problems to conventional power distribution systems, such as harmonics, protection interference, leakage current, grounding issue, and reversed power flow. The harmonic pollution from a DG interfacing converter can be divided into three categories: switching ripples, harmonics caused by output filter resonance, and harmonics caused by control.

#### • Switching ripples

The modern interfacing converter normally adopts fully controllable switches such as insulated gate bipolar transistors (IGBT) and metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFET) to form the converter bridge. The pulse width modulation (PWM) in the converter produces switching harmonics in the output voltage of the inverter. Typically, these switching ripples can be attenuated by output filters such as series choke or high-order low-pass filters. Passive output filters that are not designed properly can inject switching ripples to the utility grid.

#### Harmonics caused by output filter resonance

High-order filters such as LC and LCL filters (Fig. 1. 1) have been adopted to absorb switching harmonics from the converter. However, the internal resonance of high-order filters might adversely introduce some resonance current at the characteristic frequency. In addition, the output filter might interact with other passive components in the power distribution system, causing additional resonance current in the filter.

#### • Harmonics caused by control

The control scheme of a DG power converter can have a significant impact on the power quality of the DG line current. For instance, a maximum power point tracking (MPPT) scheme is often used to realize better energy harvesting from photovoltaic (PV) panels. The time-varying feature of current reference for



Fig. 1. 1. Interfacing converter with various types of output filters.

MPPT may cause inter-harmonics and sub-harmonics in the DG unit line current [19]. Additionally, if the control scheme is designed without sufficient grid disturbance rejection capability, grid disturbances such as sags, swells, and flickers might cause nontrivial harmonic pollution in the DG unit line current.

As most DG units are interfaced to the power distribution system by controlling the line current, the requirements for DG line current quality are specified by national or international grid codes such as IEEE-1547 and IEEE-519 [27][28]. IEEE-1547 sets the limits for individual low order harmonic and total harmonic distortion (THD) to 2% and 5%, respectively.

#### **1.1.2.** Interactions between multiple interfacing converters

Multiple parallel DG systems are increasingly used to achieve better energy harvesting from RESs. For instance, many small power PV inverters and wind power converters are installed in a low voltage residential power distribution system [9]. Fig. 1. 2 shows a diagram of a simple distribution system with multiple DG units. In addition to resonance in interfacing converter output filters, interactions between interfacing converters may cause other power distribution system problems.

The most obvious problem is voltage regulation. Due to the high penetration level of RESs, the reversed power flow in a low voltage distribution system can cause noticeable voltage variations in the distribution feeders [25]. To alleviate this problem, the grid code of Germany [26] was revised to allow a solar inverter to control reactive power generation to assist voltage regulation. Only a few cases of harmonic aggregation problem in multiple DG units have been reported [9]. However, the standard [27] is specified to cover a high penetration of solar inverters that is expected to cause more harmonic distortions in the near future.

Similar to multiple DG units, a single centralized high power DG unit can adopt multiple parallel inverter modules to connect a renewable energy source to the grid. A typical example is the full power rating converter for the wind power synchronous generator as shown in Fig. 1. 3. Due to current rating limits of



Fig. 1. 2. Distribution system with multiple DG units.



Fig. 1. 3. Wind power conversion using parallel converters.

power electronics switches, two parallel inverters are used to connect the polyphase synchronous generator to the utility grid. As two inverters are coupled together, the resonance in one inverter can interact with the resonance in the other converter, resulting in more harmonic distortions in the inverter line current.

#### 1.1.3. Harmonic distortion mitigation methods for DG systems

To mitigate the harmonic distortions from DG units, both the interfacing converter power circuit and the control scheme need to be properly designed. First, a series choke can be placed at the interfacing converter output to reduce the switching ripples from the interfacing power electronic converter. Alternatively, high-order LCL and LC filters are proposed to reduce the size of the output filter and to reduce power loss on the filter [29]. However, ideal LCL and LC filters have zero impedance at resonant frequency, which can adversely introduce some resonance current. To obtain high power quality DG line current, a high order filter with proper damping is mandatory. Damping can be achieved by either passive or active methods.

#### Passive damping

Passive damping can be realized by using physical resistors to absorb the resonance energy. For an LCL filter in Fig. 1. 4, there are six places to install the damping resistor [29]. A damping resistor connected in series with the shunt



Fig. 1. 4. Installation of passive damping resistor in an LCL filter.

capacitor is more widely used, as the power loss is lower compared to the power loss from damping resistor installed in other parts of the LCL.

With sufficient passive damping, conventional current control methods without any active damping effects, such as deadbeat control, hysteresis bangbang control, or single-loop proportional-integral derivative (PID) control, can be used to control the inverter current.

#### • Active damping

Thanks to advances in hard switching power electronic semiconductors, the switching frequency and control bandwidth of a DG power electronics converter can be much higher than the resonant frequency of output filters, even for wind power converters at a few megawatts (MW) [31]. As a result, active control methods are a better way to provide damping effects to the filter. The goal of active damping is to dynamically update the inverter output voltage according to resonance mitigation requirements.

Active damping methods can be divided into two categories: high order controllers without using additional measurement [32] and multi-loop control with additional measurement. The aim of using a high order controller is to alleviate the zero-impedance effect of the LCL or LC filter at resonant frequency. Many high order controllers have been proposed such as the lead-leg compensator based method [33] (Fig. 1. 5), where only line current  $I_2$  is measured to realize active damping, and the pole-zero cancellation method [34] [35].



Fig. 1. 5. Average model of active damping using a single-loop control with lead-leg compensator.



Fig. 1. 6. Average model of active damping using a double-loop current control scheme.

Note that a high order controller often brings additional noise to the system. Furthermore, system stability cannot be guaranteed if there are nontrivial parameter variations in the system such as dramatic changes in source impedance. Alternatively, multi-loop control is proposed to improve the quality of the interfacing converter line current. Due to more state feedback measurement [32], damping performance can be less sensitive to parameter variations. In [36], a double-loop control is applied to a grid-connected inverter where the outer loop is the line current control and the inner loop is the filter capacitor current control. Fig. 1. 6 shows that either the capacitor current  $I_c$  or the inverter output current  $I_1$  (illustrated in Fig. 1. 1) can be measured as inner loop feedback. Similarly, the double-loop control is also used to control the LC filter capacitor voltage [37]. In this case, the inverter can work in an autonomous islanding operation mode which offers continuous power to the critical loads in the case of utility mains interruption.

In addition to multi-loop control, virtual impedance based control methods have been proposed to further improve damping performance in the system [29].

Virtual impedance control emulates the behavior of passive damping impedance by modifying the control reference. However, the position and value of virtual impedance have not been clarified in the literature. As the virtual impedance control modifies the original output filter plant, the conventional control scheme parameter design criteria need to be revised considering the impact of the modified filter.

# **1.2.** Harmonic distortion compensation in a power distribution system

To compensate for harmonic distortions in a power distribution system, passive filters, including single-frequency tuned filters and high pass filters, are normally adopted due to their low cost and high reliability. Although passive filters are the dominant filtering component in power systems nowadays, they are not very flexible and might introduce additional resonances by interacting with other components in the system. Due to the limitations of conventional passive filters and the significant advances in power electronics technology, attention has been focused on power electronics conditioners for harmonic compensation. The power electronics conditioner can be either an active power filter (APF) with rapid harmonic current tracking capability or a multifunctional interfacing converter with auxiliary harmonic compensation service [53][54]. The major advantage of a power electronics converter is that a single device can dynamically compensate for a wide frequency range of harmonics.

An active power filter can compensate for different types of distribution system harmonics, such as local load harmonic current, PCC (point of common coupling) harmonic voltage, and resonance aggregated in the long feeders. In this section, the control schemes of active power filters under various situations are reviewed.



Fig. 1. 7. Simplified diagram of an interfacing converter with a local nonlinear load.

#### 1.2.1 Local load harmonic current compensation

Fig. 1. 7 shows a diagram of an interfacing converter with a local nonlinear load, where the nonlinear local load is connected to the output terminal of the LCL filter. In a conventional interfacing converter without harmonic compensation, the line current  $I_2$  is sinusoidal. In this case, the harmonic current of the local load flows to the main grid side and the injected current  $I_{inj}$  is distorted. To reduce the harmonic distortions in  $I_{inj}$ , the local load harmonic current can be absorbed by the interfacing converter. To realize this task, an accurate detection of the local load harmonic current and a rapid tracking of the harmonic current reference in the interfacing converter are important.

Fig. 1. 8 shows a diagram of the local load harmonic compensation scheme in an interfacing converter. First, the local load current is measured and the harmonic component is detected by a digital filter. Various types of digital filters have been proposed such as the Fourier transformation based detection method in



Fig. 1. 8. Control schemes of an interfacing converter with local nonlinear load compensation.

[74], a detection scheme using instantaneous real and reactive power theory in [75], a second-order generalized integrator (SOGI) in [76], and a delayed signal cancellation based detection method in [77].

In the inner current tracking loop, the local load harmonic current component is used as a reference  $(I_{ref_h})$ . Wide bandwidth controllers such as proportional and multiple resonant controllers, a deadbeat controller, etc., can ensure rapid current tracking. Compared to the conventional DG unit interfacing converter with limited current control bandwidth, the adoption of harmonic detection and the modification of current tracking loop bandwidth can increase the computational load of a DG unit microcontroller. For a DG interfacing converter with limited computational ability, these modifications might be unacceptable. Therefore, a key research objective for DG based distribution system harmonic compensation is to improve the programming efficiency in the DG unit microcontroller.

In addition, DG real and reactive power control performances should not be affected by the harmonic compensation schemes. To satisfy this requirement, the fundamental interfacing current reference  $(I_{ref_f})$  should be calculated according to power references. Conventionally, the fundamental current reference can be determined based on the assumption of ripple-free grid voltage with fixed magnitude, and the phased locked loop (PLL) is used to synchronize the

fundamental current reference with the main grid. However, considering that the PCC voltage magnitude often varies due to power flow fluctuations in the distribution system [25], this method may cause nontrivial power control errors. In addition, for an interfacing converter with ancillary harmonic compensation capability, the interactions between distorted converter output current and PCC harmonic voltages may contribute some real and reactive power bias, and the power bias cannot be directly addressed using the conventional open loop power control method [81]. To ensure accurate power tracking performance, closed-loop DG power control is necessary.

#### **1.2.2** Distribution system voltage harmonic compensation

In addition to local load harmonic compensation, a power electronics interfacing converter is also utilized to actively improve the voltage quality of a power distribution system via harmonic voltage detection.

For instance, a diagram of a simple distribution system with two parallel interfacing converters is shown in Fig. 1. 9, where two interfacing converters are connected to PCC with feeders and LCL filters. The PCC is connected to the main utility with the main grid feeder and an isolation transformer. Conventionally, the DG unit current is sinusoidal and the PCC nonlinear load current flows to the main grid side. Accordingly, the harmonic voltage drop on the main grid feeder causes significant harmonic voltage distortion at the PCC. In this system, the measurement of PCC load current is difficult due to the distributed nature of nonlinear loads. Alternatively, the harmonic voltage at the PCC is extracted to control the DG unit as a small damping resistor at selected harmonic frequencies [82]. As the small resistor provides a path for the flow of load harmonic current, this method can indirectly improve the quality of the PCC voltage.

A control diagram of PCC harmonic voltage compensation is shown in Fig. 1. 10. Except for the harmonic current reference generation block, the control diagram in Fig. 1. 10 is similar to the scenario in Fig. 1. 8 that shows local load



Fig. 1. 9. Two DG units with a PCC harmonic voltage compensation service.

harmonic compensation. When a DG unit is adopted to compensate PCC voltage distortion, the harmonic current reference is obtained as the PCC harmonic voltage ( $V_{PCC_h}$ ) multiples by a gain ( $-1/R_V$ ). Accordingly, the interfacing converter behaves as a damping resistor ( $R_V$ ) at selected harmonic frequencies.

When multiple DG units are used in the distribution system, the harmonics compensation task should be properly shared among DG systems according to



Fig. 1. 10. PCC harmonic compensation using a virtual harmonic resistor.

their available power ratings. As the harmonic voltage detection based compensation method controls the entire DG unit as a virtual damping resistor, the PCC load harmonic current is automatically shared in reverse proportion to the DG virtual resistance [84].

#### **1.2.3** Voltage controlled power system harmonic issues

The growing penetration of distributed energy resources has inspired the control of DG unit interfaces to emulate the operation of a synchronous generator through voltage regulation [87][88][100]. Compared to current controlled methods, voltage control schemes can effectively address the challenges of islanding operations, as the system voltage support is provided by DG unit interfacing converters.

A diagram of a distribution system with two voltage controlled DG units is shown in Fig. 1. 11. In this system, the DG unit output LC filter capacitor voltage  $(V_c)$  is controlled to be sinusoidal. The control schemes of these DG units are shown in the lower part of Fig. 1. 11. First, in the power control loop, real powerfrequency droop and reactive power-voltage magnitude droop control methods are used to share the load demand among multiple parallel DG units. In the inner loop, a voltage controller is used to ensure high performance DG filter capacitor voltage tracking. When the voltage control method is used for both grid-connected and islanding operations, the transition between them is very smooth. Due to this feature, a voltage controlled DG unit is often preferred for dual-mode microgrid applications, where the transfer between grid-connected and islanding operations is required to improve the reliability and efficiency of the microgrid.

Compared to a current controlled grid-connected system, a voltage controlled system is more sensitive to the disturbance from nonlinear loads. This is mainly because voltage controlled DG units are not capable of realizing closed-loop control of DG line current. When the DG capacitor voltage is controlled to be ripple-free, the DG unit can be modeled as a short circuit connection at low order harmonic frequencies [50]. Accordingly, the PCC load harmonic current is



Fig. 1. 11. Distribution system with voltage controlled DG units.

passively shared by DG units, according to their existing feeder harmonic impedance values. Therefore, DG units with smaller feeder harmonic impedance absorb more harmonic load current, which may cause over-current protection in the DG units.

## 1.3. Research objectives and thesis layout

To reduce power distribution system harmonics, a comprehensive study of DG unit interfacing converter control is conducted in this thesis. The research aims to actively mitigate the resonance in both single DG unit and multiple parallel DG units. Flexible control of interfacing converters to compensate for different types of harmonics in the power distribution system is developed and discussed.

Several DG interfacing converter control schemes are developed to address harmonic pollution. The first control scheme can accurately track converter control reference, and at the same time actively dampen the resonance in interfacing converter output filters. In addition, an accurate model for parallel grid-tied inverters is established and the effectiveness of conventional damping methods for single inverters is verified in the case of multiple inverters. Finally, power distribution system harmonic compensation methods using flexible control of interfacing converters are proposed. They can reduce the computing load in the DG unit digital controller, and some of them can also be directly used for autonomous islanding microgrid applications. A summary of the research objectives addressed in each chapter is listed here.

#### Chapter 2

The impact of existing control schemes on single inverter filter resonance is investigated in this chapter. First, the internal mode principle based single-closedloop control and double-closed-loop control are reviewed. The model-based deadbeat current control is also discussed. To simplify the control parameter design, a generalized closed-loop controller (GCC) is proposed. The proposed controller controls an internal virtual impedance to compensate resonance in inverter output filters. Additionally, a virtual impedance based active damping method is embedded in the conventional deadbeat control scheme. The proposed revised deadbeat control can provide sufficient damping effects to an interfacing converter output filter without sacrificing the rapid dynamic response of the conventional deadbeat control.

#### Chapter 3

The interactions between coupled grid-connected inverters are studied in Chapter 3. The research indicates that the harmonic current in the interfacing converter is not determined only by its own filter circuit and the control scheme. Couplings between parallel interfacing converters at the PCC bring additional frequency-varying resonance to each interfacing's line current. To investigate this frequency varying resonance, an accurate equivalent circuit model considering interactions between multiple inverters is established and the active damping methods designed for single inverters are verified in the case of multiple parallel inverters.

#### Chapter 4

To address the impacts of increasingly installed nonlinear loads in the modern power distribution system, the multifunctional DG unit is discussed in this chapter. Considering that both current control and voltage control methods can be applied to DG unit interfacing converters, corresponding compensation methods are developed. The proposed current controlled method (CCM) scheme features a very simple structure to improve the efficiency of microcontroller programming. As the islanding operation of the DG system has been receiving increasing attention in recent years, a voltage controlled method (VCM) based harmonic compensation is proposed in this chapter. Compared to the conventional VCM based DG unit without any closed-loop line harmonic current tracking capability, this proposed method can improve the voltage quality at the PCC using a simple feed-forward term.

#### Chapter 5

Further improvements in the harmonic compensation performance of power distribution systems are discussed in this chapter. A flexible hybrid control method (HCM) with three well decoupled control terms is proposed to address different harmonic issues in the power distribution system. To improve interfacing converter harmonic compensation performance when the main grid has some frequency deviations, a simple frequency adaptive control without a frequency estimator is proposed.

#### Chapter 6

The conclusions of the research are presented in this chapter and a suggested future research is also presented.

## **Chapter 2**

# **Interfacing Converter Control and Active Damping**

Resonances caused by converter output filters and the interactions between multiple DG units often challenge the control of interfacing converter line current. Considering the study of interactions between multiple inverters is dependent on the knowledge of single inverter model, this chapter focuses on the modeling and damping of the single inverter system. A few well accepted current control methods, including single-loop control and double-loop control, which are developed based on internal mode principle, and the model-based deadbeat control, are investigated regarding their sensitivity to output LCL or LC filter resonance. The concept of virtual impedance is used to simplify the design, implementation, and comparison of interfacing converter controller schemes. First, a generalized closed-loop control (GCC) scheme with inherent virtual impedance is proposed. In addition, this chapter extends the concept of virtual impedance from GCC to the deadbeat control that is traditionally developed without any damping effects to filter resonance. Investigations and comprehensive verification results in this chapter prove that virtual impedance based active damping control is a good candidate to improve the line current quality of grid-connected DG units.

Publications out of this chapter:

<sup>(1)</sup> J. He and Y. W. Li, "Generalized Closed-Loop Control (GCC) Schemes with Embedded Virtual Impedances for Voltage Source Converters with LC or LCL Filters," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 27, pp. 1850-1861, Apr. 2012.
### 2.1. Single-loop control scheme

First, a single-phase interfacing converter with an LCL filter is shown in Fig. 2. 1. To realize grid synchronization, PCC voltage is measured and the voltage angle phase is detected by a phase-locked-loop (PLL). Considering that this chapter is focused on the performance of single inverter system, it is assumed that the PCC is connected to an infinite bus. In a single-loop control system, either the inverter output current  $I_1$  or the inverter line current  $I_2$  can be measured as the feedback.

In recent years, the proportional and resonant (PR) controllers in stationary reference frame are proposed to replace the traditional PI controller in the synchronous rotating reference frame [43][44]. According to the internal mode principle, the PR controller at the stationary reference frame has the capability to track AC signal with zero steady-state errors, and the current control performance can be less sensitive to parameter variations. Furthermore, multiple parallel harmonic resonant controllers [45][46] can also be used in the current control scheme to provide better harmonic rejection capability at characteristic harmonic orders, such as 5<sup>th</sup> and 7<sup>th</sup> harmonics. The transfer function of a PR current controller is given as



Fig. 2. 1. Diagram of a single-loop current controlled interfacing converter.

$$G_{Cur}(s) = k_{p} + \sum_{h} R_{h}(s) = k_{p} + \sum_{h} \frac{2k_{ih}\omega_{ch}s}{s^{2} + 2\omega_{ch}s + \omega_{h}^{2}}$$
(2-1)

where  $k_p$  is the proportional gain,  $R_h$  is the resonant controller at the order h,  $k_{ih}$  is the resonant controller gain at the order h,  $\omega_h$  is the resonant angular frequency at the order h, and  $\omega_{ch}$  is the cut-off frequency of the resonant controller.

With a PR controller at stationary reference frame, a single-phase and a threephase inverter control can be realized in a similar manner, without involving any reference frame transformations. Since a three-phase three-wire system can be modeled in the stationary two-axis reference frame without cross coupling, the findings and conclusions from single-phase system are also valid for three-phase three-wire system.

### 2.1.1. Single-loop control with inverter output current $I_1$ feedback

To provide over-current protection, the inverter output current feedback  $I_1$  is preferred. In this case, the current flowing to the LCL filter capacitor bank needs to be compensated, in order to ensure high power factor operation of the DG unit. When the current controller as shown  $G_{cur}(s)$  in (2-1) is used, the reference inverter output voltage  $V_{Inv}^*$  is described as

$$V_{hv}^{*} = G_{Cur}(s) \cdot (I_{ref} - I_{1})$$
(2-2)

where  $I_{ref}$  is the reference current of the interfacing converter,  $G_{cur}(s)$  is the single-loop current controller.

Fig. 2. 2 shows the detailed information of an LCL filter. The response is given as

$$I_1 = H_1(s) \cdot V_{Inv} + H_2(s) \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(2-3)

$$I_2 = H_3(s) \cdot V_{Inv} + H_4(s) \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(2-4)

where  $V_{PCC}$  is the PCC voltage as shown Fig. 2. 1 and  $V_{Inv}$  is the average inverter output voltage. The gains  $H_1(s)$  to  $H_4(s)$  are listed as



Fig. 2. 2. An LCL filter interfaced to PCC.

$$H_1(s) = \frac{z_2 + z_C}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_C + z_2 \cdot z_C},$$

$$H_2(s) = \frac{-z_C}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_C + z_2 \cdot z_C}$$

$$H_3(s) = \frac{z_C}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_C + z_2 \cdot z_C}$$

and 
$$H_4(s) = \frac{-(z_1 + z_C)}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_C + z_2 \cdot z_C}$$
.

The coefficients in  $H_1(s)$  to  $H_4(s)$  are given as  $Z_1 = sL_1 + R_1$ ,  $Z_2 = sL_2 + R_2$ , and  $Z_c = 1/(sC_f) + R_c$ , where  $L_1$  and  $R_1$  are inverter side choke inductance and its stray resistance,  $L_2$  and  $R_2$  are line side choke inductance and its stray resistance.  $C_f$  is the filter capacitance.  $R_c$  is the damping resistance placed in series with the filter capacitor.

By solving the equations (2-2) to (2-4), and assuming  $V_{Inv}^* = V_{Inv}$ , the inverter line current response can be described as shown in (2-5)

$$I_2 = G_{eq}(s) \cdot I_{ref} - Y_{eq}(s) \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(2-5)

where  $G_{eq}(s)$  is the closed-loop gain of the current source and  $Y_{eq}(s)$  is the shunt admittance of the current source circuit. Their detailed expressions are shown as

$$G_{eq}(s) = \frac{H_3(s) \cdot G_{Cur}(s)}{1 + H_1(s) \cdot G_{Cur}(s)}$$
(2-6)

$$Y_{eq}(s) = \frac{G_{Cur}(s) \cdot H_2(s) \cdot H_3(s)}{1 + H_1(s) \cdot G_{Cur}(s)} - H_4(s)$$
(2-7)

With (2-5), the line current response of this interfacing inverter can also be represented by using a Norton equivalent circuit as shown in Fig. 2. 3.

For a single-phase converter with the circuit and control parameters as listed in TABLE. 2. 1 (with inverter output current feedback), the closed-loop response of the inverter is given in Fig. 2. 4 and Fig. 2. 5. First, it can be seen from Fig. 2. 4 that reference current to inverter line current ( $G_{eq}(s)$ ) has a resonant peak at around 1050Hz. This resonant frequency is mainly determined by the parameters of the inverter LCL filter. In addition, the line current response caused by PCC voltage disturbance ( $Y_{eq}(s)$ ) is illustrated in Fig. 2. 3. It shows that the frequency

Fig. 2. 3. Equivalent circuit of a current controlled DG interfacing converter.

Parameters	Symbols	Values		
Circuit Parameter				
Inverter side inductor	$L_{1}, R_{1}$	2.1mH (0.092pu), 0.05Ω (0.003pu)		
Filter capacitor	$C_f$ , $R_C$	10uF (0.050pu), 0.25Ω (0.015pu)		
Line side inductor	$L_2$ , $R_2$	1.3mH (0.057pu), 0.05Ω (0.003pu)		
Control Parameter (single-loop with output current feedback)				
Switching frequency	12.0kHz			
PR controller proportional	$k_p = 20$			
	$k_{if} = k_{i3} = k_{i5} = k_{i7} = 40000$			
	$k_{i9} = k_{i11} = 30000$			
	$k_{i13} = k_{i15} = 20000$			
Control Parameter (single-loop with line current feedback)				
Switching frequency	12.0kHz			
PR controller proportional	$k_{\rm p} = 1.05$			
	$k_{ m if} = 140$			

TABLE. 2. 1. Parameters of a single-phase 120V/1KVA converter with single-loop current control.

domain response has a resonance at around 1050Hz, which is the same as the resonance frequency in Fig. 2. 4.

## 2.1.2. Single-loop control with inverter line current $I_2$ feedback

Similar to the case of using inverter output current as the feedback, the line current  $I_2$  can also be sensed to realize closed-loop current control. In this scenario, the inverter reference voltage is revised as

$$V_{Inv}^* = G_{Cur}(s) \cdot (I_{ref} - I_2)$$
(2-8)



Fig. 2. 4. Closed-loop response of single loop current control with inverter output current  $I_1$  feedback ( $G_{eq}(s) = I_2/I_{ref}$ ).



Fig. 2. 5. Closed-loop response of single loop current control with inverter output current  $I_1$  feedback ( $Y_{eq}(s) = -I_2/V_{PCC}$ ).

It is important to note that harmonic resonant controllers are often removed from  $G_{Cur}(s)$  in (2-8), mainly due to the reduced stability margin caused by the offset current from filter capacitor branch [33]. With line current feedback and only fundamental frequency resonant controller in  $G_{Cur}(s)$ , the closed-loop response of line current  $I_2$  can be obtained in a similar way as

$$I_2 = G_{eq}(s) \cdot I_{ref} - Y_{eq}(s) \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(2-9)

In this case, the coefficients of  $G_{eq}(s)$  and  $Y_{eq}(s)$  are expressed as

$$G_{eq}(s) = \frac{H_3(s) \cdot G_{Cur}(s)}{1 + H_3(s) \cdot G_{Cur}(s)}$$
(2-10)

$$Y_{eq}(s) = -\frac{H_4(s)}{1 + H_1(s) \cdot G_{Cur}(s)}$$
(2-11)

With different closed-loop equivalent circuit coefficients, the performance of the system is also different. This can also be verified by examining the closed-loop response of an inverter in frequency domain. For an inverter with the control and circuit parameters as shown in TABLE. 2. 1 (with line current feedback), the closed-loop response of this system is shown in Fig. 2. 6 and Fig. 2. 7. The frequency domain analysis demonstrates that the response of the inverter using line current feedback has a resonant peak at around 1075 Hz.



Fig. 2. 6. Closed-loop response of single loop current control with line current  $I_2$  feedback ( $G_{eq}(s) = I_2/I_{ref}$ ).



Fig. 2. 7. Closed-loop response of single loop current control with line current  $I_2$  feedback ( $Y_{eq}(s) = -I_2/V_{PCC}$ ).

Based on the discussions, it can be concluded that a conventional single-loop control without active damping cannot mitigate the resonant peak in an LCL filter. To over this limitation, either passive damping or active damping is needed.

### 2.2. Double-loop control scheme

A double-loop control scheme has been considered as an efficient method to mitigate the resonance of output LCL filters. Fig. 2. 8 shows the control diagram of a grid-connected interfacing converter with double-loop line current control scheme. In the outer control loop, the inverter line current is measured as the feedback and the outer control loop is expressed as

$$I_{Inner}^{*} = G_{Outer}(s) \cdot (I_{ref} - I_{2}) = (k_{p} + \sum_{h} \frac{2k_{h}\omega_{ch}s}{s^{2} + 2\omega_{ch}s + \omega_{h}^{2}}) \cdot (I_{ref} - I_{2})$$
(2-12)

where the outer loop  $G_{outer}(s)$  consists of a PR controller. In order to ensure good harmonic rejection capability, the harmonic resonant controllers can be used in (2-12).  $I_{inner}^*$  is the output of outer control loop.



Fig. 2. 8. Double-loop control diagram for current-controlled interfacing converter with an LCL filter.

In the inner control loop, either the inverter output current  $I_1$  or the LCL filter capacitor current  $I_c$  can be used as feedback, and the proportional control is normally used as

$$V_{Inv}^{*} = G_{Inner}(s) \cdot (I_{Inner}^{*} - I_{Inner}) = k_{Inner} \cdot (I_{Inner}^{*} - I_{Inner})$$
(2-13)

where  $V_{Inv}^*$  is the reference voltage for PWM modulation,  $G_{Inner}(s)$  is the inner loop proportional controller with the gain  $k_{Inner}$ .

Although this chapter is focused on the performance of grid-tied converter with current control, it is necessary to point out that similar double-loop control can also be used for islanding interfacing converter with voltage control. In this case, the interfacing converter often adopts an LC filter and the filter capacitor voltage is controlled to provide direct voltage support to the autonomous load. The outer loop of a voltage controller is shown in (2-14) as

$$I_{Inner}^{*} = G_{Outer}(s) \cdot (V_{ref} - V_{C}) = (k_{P} + \sum_{h} \frac{2k_{ih}\omega_{ch}s}{s^{2} + 2\omega_{ch}s + \omega_{h}^{2}}) \cdot (V_{ref} - V_{C}) \quad (2-14)$$

where  $V_{ref}$  is the reference voltage and  $V_C$  is the measured LC filter capacitor voltage.

For a voltage controlled interfacing converter, the inner loop is the same as the inner loop of a current controlled interfacing converter as shown in (2-13). Similarly, either inverter output current  $I_1$  or LC filter capacitor current  $I_c$  can be used as the inner loop feedback.

Compared to the damping techniques using high order controllers, such as PR controller with lead-leg compensator in [33][47], double-loop controller involves more feedbacks and control variables. Accordingly, the controller parameter tuning is difficult. One parameter tuning approach is to assume that the dynamics of the inner-loop is much faster than the outer-loop [48]. As a result, outer and inner control loops are decoupled and their parameters can be tuned through an iterative process [49]. However, this iterative method is complicated and the outer- and inner-loop parameters cannot be determined together. Alternatively, an interesting design method through pole-zero placement is reported in [34]. In this method, high order outer-loop controller is approximated as a PI controller during parameter design stage. Therefore, accurate effects of the outer-loop controller can hardly be examined.

The selection of inner-loop feedback is also important for double-loop controllers. Some analysis of the system performance regarding different feedback variables can be found in [50].

### 2.3. Generalized closed-loop control scheme

The virtual impedance based active damping using additional measurement has been discussed in recent literature. For instance, the inverter output current or capacitor current can be measured to realize the virtual impedance control. This makes the system feedback variable as same as that in double-loop control. However, what essentially makes the double-loop control similar to virtual impedance control has not been understood in a more intuitive way.

Motivated by aforementioned factors, this section proposes a generalized closed-loop control (GCC) scheme, which incorporates an interfacing converter closed-loop control term, an internal virtual impedance term and an external virtual impedance term into a parallel control structure. Unlike the conventional

cascaded double-loop control, the effects of the internal virtual impedance control term is to add a virtual damping impedance to the output filter circuit, which ensures a well dampened filter plant at first. Therefore, the closed-loop control term in GCC can provide satisfactory tracking control based on the modified filter plant. In addition, with distinct physical meaning of the internal impedance term, the feedback variable selection and the parameter design of GCC scheme can be achieved in a more intuitive way. Furthermore, the external impedance in the GCC scheme is very flexible and it can be implemented to facilitate the control of active power filters and interfacing converter closed-loop series impedance, without modifying the original control references as in the conventional methods\*.

### 2.3.1. GCC scheme structure

First, the diagram of GCC scheme is shown in (2-15). When the external



Fig. 2. 9. Proposed GCC scheme: (a) Voltage-controlled interfacing converter with an LC filter. (b) Current-controlled interfacing converter with an LCL filter.

<sup>-----</sup>

<sup>\*</sup>Note that the external impedance in the GCC scheme is not discussed here, as it is not directly related to the damping of filter resonance. The detailed discussion on external virtual impedance can be found in "Generalized Closed-Loop Control (GCC) Schemes with Embedded Virtual Impedances for Voltage Source Converters with LC or LCL Filters," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 27, pp. 1850-1861, Apr. 2012.

impedance term is not included, the GCC scheme contains a closed-loop control of the reference and an embedded virtual impedance term (internal impedance)

$$V_{Inv}^* = G_G(s) \cdot \left(x_{G,ref} - x_G\right) - G_{Internal}(s) \cdot x_{internal}$$
(2-15)

where  $G_G(s)$  is the closed-loop reference tracking controller in GCC and  $G_{Internal}(s)$  is the control term for the internal virtual impedance.  $x_{G,ref}$  and  $x_G$  are the control reference and the measured feedback (such as capacitor voltage  $V_C$  or line current  $I_2$ , see Fig. 2. 9).  $x_{Internal}$  is the selected variable (such as inverter output current  $I_1$  or capacitor current  $I_C$ ) for internal impedance control.

In the GCC scheme, the closed-loop term is used for reference tracking, which has similar function as the single-loop control. The internal impedance is mainly used to provide sufficient damping to the filter plant. By flexible control of the internal impedance term, the GCC scheme can easily achieve similar performance compared to multi-loop control scheme. In addition, the selection of internal impedance term feedback variable and the control parameter design can be more straightforward and robust.

### 2.3.2. Internal virtual impedance control

For the GCC scheme, it is very easy to realize the traditional single-loop control by removing the internal virtual impedance control term from (2-15) (corresponding to  $G_{Internal}(s) = 0$ ).

To establish the connection between GCC scheme and conventional doubleloop control, the double-loop controller in voltage controlled interfacing converter is revisited as

$$I_{\text{Inner}}^* = G_{\text{Outer}}\left(s\right) \cdot \left(V_{\text{ref}} - V_{\text{C}}\right)$$
(2-16)

$$V_{Inv}^* = G_{Inner}\left(s\right) \cdot \left(I_{Inner}^* - I_{Inner}\right)$$
(2-17)

where  $G_{outer}(s)$  and  $G_{Inner}(s)$  are the outer loop and inner loop controller, respectively.  $V_{ref}$  and  $V_C$  are the reference voltage and feedback filter capacitor voltage.  $I_{Inner}^*$  and  $I_{Inner}$  are the inner-loop reference and feedback. As mentioned earlier,  $I_{Inner}$  can be the inverter output current  $I_1$  or capacitor current  $I_C$ .

By merging (2-16) and (2-17) together yields

$$V_{\text{Inv}}^* = G_{Outer}(s) \cdot G_{Inner}(s) (V_{ref} - V_C) - G_{Inner}(s) \cdot I_{Inner}$$
  
=  $G_G(s) \cdot (V_{ref} - V_C) - G_{Internal}(s) \cdot I_{Inner}$  (2-18)

As shown, the double-loop controller is a single-loop control plus an additional control term. Comparing (2-18) to the GCC scheme in (2-15) reveals that the double-loop control is actually a single-loop control and an internal impedance with  $(G_G(s) = G_{Outer}(s)G_{Inner}(s)$  and  $G_{Internal}(s) = G_{Inner}(s)$ ). Therefore, it can be concluded that the double-loop control essentially provides active damping through the internal virtual impedance realized by the inner-loop.

However, unlike the traditional double-loop control, the internal virtual impedance control term in the proposed GCC scheme can be more flexibly tuned as the gains of  $G_G(s)$  and  $G_{Internal}(s)$  are regulated separately without having the constraint of  $G_G(s) = G_{Outer}(s)G_{Inner}(s)$  as in the double-loop control scheme. Furthermore, the performance variation of a double-loop controlled system with different inner-loop feedbacks [50] can also be explained by examining the positions and values of their corresponding internal virtual impedance.

By carrying out similar analysis for grid-tied converter with LCL filter, the double-loop current control of an interfacing converter with LCL filter is represented by the GCC scheme using a single-loop control and an additional internal impedance term as shown in (2-19)

$$V_{Inv}^{*} = G_{Outer}(s) \cdot G_{Inner}(s) (I_{ref} - I_{2}) - G_{Inner}(s) \cdot I_{Inner}$$
  
=  $G_{G}(s) \cdot (I_{ref} - I_{2}) - G_{Internal}(s) \cdot I_{Inner}$  (2-19)

where  $I_{ref}$  and  $I_2$  are the reference current and interfacing converter line current, respectively. Similarly, the closed-loop control performance difference with different inner-loop feedbacks is related to the position and value of the internal virtual impedance.

### 2.3.3. Positions of internal virtual impedance

As discussed earlier, the internal virtual impedance in the GCC scheme helps to provide active damping to the interfacing inverter system. This function is similar to the physical damping resistor that addresses the resonance problems of LC and LCL filters [55][56]. Further considering the internal impedance control term takes effect in an open-loop manner (without closed-loop control) and it adjusts the inverter output voltage reference directly, its associated bandwidth is sufficient to address the LC or LCL filter resonance as long as the inverter switching frequency is much higher than the filter resonant frequency. To simplify the discussion here, the closed-loop control term is defined as  $V_{Inv_R}$  as

$$V_{Inv_R} = G_G(s) \cdot \left(x_{G,ref} - x_G\right)$$
(2-20)

Due to the limited gain of the closed-loop control at harmonic frequency, the internal impedance term  $G_{Internal}(s) \cdot x_{Internal}$  is considered as the dominant term around the resonant frequency, which is typically much higher than the fundamental frequency. As a result, the system damping performance is regulated by this internal virtual impedance term.

First, when the inverter output current  $I_1$  is selected as the internal term feedback, the effect of the internal impedance term is to introduce an additional voltage drop at the inverter output voltage reference. Without considering the delay of voltage modulation, this equals to place a series internal virtual impedance  $Z_{VI}(s) = G_{Internal}(s)$  at the converter side inductor as shown in Fig. 2. 10(a) and (b). In this figure, the filter input voltage  $V_{Inv_R}$  is described in (2-20). It is obvious that if a proportional controller is used in  $G_{Internal}(s)$ , the internal impedance is just a damping resistor. Moreover, with the proposed GCC scheme, complex impedance can also be realized by selecting the desired  $G_{Internal}(s)$ .



Fig. 2. 10. Illustration of internal virtual impedance with different feedbacks.

Alternatively, when the capacitor current is selected as the internal impedance feedback variable, its physical meaning is not obvious. This is because the modification of inverter output voltage reference cannot be directly associated with the internal virtual circuit at the filter capacitor branch, due to the presence of converter side filter inductor. However, the effect of internal impedance term on the filter capacitor branch can be established indirectly. Without implementing the internal impedance control term, the line/load harmonic current  $I_2$  is determined as (parasite resistors of filter inductors are neglected here)

$$I_{2} = I_{1} - I_{c} = -\left(sC_{f}V_{C} + \frac{V_{C}}{sL_{1}}\right)$$
(2-21)

When the internal impedance term is added, the harmonic current in (2-21) needs to be modified as shown in (2-22)

$$I_{2,IV} = I_{1,IV} - I_{C} = -\left(\frac{V_{C} - G_{Internal}(s)I_{C}}{sL_{1}} + sC_{f}V_{C}\right)$$

$$= -\left(\frac{V_{C}}{sL_{1}} + sC_{f}V_{C} + \frac{G_{Internal}(s)I_{C}}{sL_{1}}\right)$$
(2-22)

From (2-22), it can be noticed that the internal virtual impedance control term brings an additional term to line/load current. The impact of this term can be accurately modeled as shunt impedance in parallel with the filter capacitor as

$$Z_{IV}(s) = \frac{V_C}{-(I_{2,IV} - I_2)} = \frac{sL_1V_C}{G_{Internal}(s)I_C} = \frac{L_1}{C_f G_{Internal}(s)}$$
(2-23)

This equivalent internal impedance in parallel with the filter capacitor is shown in Fig. 2. 10(c) and (d).

Based on the above discussions, the physical meaning of the internal impedance control term with different feedbacks is clarified. It also reveals that modeling the filter capacitor current feedback control as a series impedance with filter capacitor [55][56] is not accurate, as the effects of filter inductor between the converter and the filter capacitor is not considered.

### 2.3.4. Analysis and design of GCC control parameters

With distinct physical meaning of the control terms in the GCC scheme, the parameter tuning process can be more straightforward. A line current controlled interfacing converter with LCL filter is presented as an example. It worth mentioning that the proposed parameter design method can also be directly applied to the tuning of double-loop control due to the equivalence between double-loop control and GCC scheme, as discussed in the previous section.

With the proposed GCC scheme, the control parameter tuning can be simplified as the following two steps.

### • Design of the internal virtual impedance

For the current controlled interfacing converter with an LCL filter, the modified filter plant in Fig. 2. 10(b) and (d) can be described as

$$I_{2} = H_{1\_GCC}(s) \cdot V_{Inv_{R}} - H_{2\_GCC}(s) \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(2-24)

where  $V_{Inv_R}$  is defined in (2-20). When the inverter output current  $I_1$  is selected as the internal impedance feedback variable,  $H_{1\_GCC}(s)$  and  $H_{2\_GCC}(s)$  can be expressed as

$$H_{1_{GCC}}(s) = \frac{Z_{2}(s)}{(Z_{1}(s) + Z_{IV}(s))(Z_{2}(s) + Z_{3}(s)) + Z_{2}(s)Z_{3}(s)}$$
(2-25)

$$H_{2_{GCC}}(s) = \frac{Z_{1}(s) + Z_{IV}(s) + Z_{2}(s)}{(Z_{1}(s) + Z_{IV}(s))(Z_{2}(s) + Z_{3}(s)) + Z_{2}(s)Z_{3}(s)}$$
(2-26)

where  $Z_1(s) = L_1 s + R_1$ ,  $Z_2(s) = 1/(C_f s)$ , and  $Z_3(s) = L_2 s + R_2$ .  $Z_{IV}(s) = G_{Internal}(s)$  is the internal impedance connected in series with choke  $L_1$ .

It can be seen from Fig. 2. 11 that  $H_{2\_GCC}(s)$  has a significant resonance peak when  $Z_{IV}(s)$  is 0, and the resonance peak can be dampened by the internal impedance term. However, if a large internal impedance term (such as  $G_{Internal}(s)=100$ ) is added to the plant, an additional resonance can be introduced. This can be explained by the derived equivalent circuit in Fig. 2. 10(b), where large virtual impedance blocks the harmonic current in the converter side of the LCL filter. Therefore, when the grid voltage is polluted, an additional LC resonance might be introduced between  $C_f$  and  $L_2$ .

On the other hand, a large internal impedance term also decreases the magnitude of  $H_{1\_GCC}(s)$  in the low frequency range as shown in Fig. 2. 12. When there is a step change of reference current, the dynamic tracking performance is inevitably affected. With the above considerations, if the output current internal impedance term is desired, a moderate internal impedance term  $Z_{IV}(s)=25$  can be selected.



Fig. 2. 11.  $H_{2\_GCC}(s)$  with the modified LCL filter plant (with inverter output current  $I_1$  based internal impedance)



Fig. 2. 12.  $H_{1_{GCC}}(s)$  with the modified LCL filter plant. (with inverter output current  $I_1$  based internal impedance)

When capacitor current  $I_c$  is chosen as the internal impedance feedback, parameter design can also be done in a similar manner.

Unlike the internal impedance using inverter output current feedback, when the capacitor current is considered, the filter resonance peak in  $H_{2\_GCC}(s)$  is effectively dampened. There is no obvious additional LC resonance even a large damping gain is selected for  $G_{Internal}(s)$ . However, when the LCL filter is over dampened by a large damping gain  $G_{Internal}(s)$ , it is equivalent to adding small parallel impedance at the capacitor branch. Considering the small impedance essentially provides a path for grid voltage harmonics, the modified filter plant might be sensitive to low order grid harmonic voltages (such as 2<sup>nd</sup>) in this situation.

TABLE. 2. 2. Parameters of a three-phase 104V/5KVA interfacing converter with GCC scheme.

3-phase Inverter with LCL filter	Value
Grid voltage (RMS)	104V, 60Hz (3 phase)
LCL filter	L <sub>1</sub> = 4 mH (0.697pu),L <sub>2</sub> = 2.5 mH (0.437pu), C <sub>f</sub> = 40μF (0.033pu).
DC Link voltage	260V
DC Link capacitor	2000 μF (1.650pu)
$G_{G}(\mathbf{s})$	$k_{\rm p}$ =0.15, $k_{\rm if}$ =25

### Design of closed-loop tracking term

After obtaining the dampened filter plant, the closed-loop controller  $G_G(s)$  can be designed based on the modified filter plant [57]. Note that when the inverter output current is used as the internal impedance term, the equivalent effect of the modified filter plant is close to a resistor (see the zero phase angle around line frequency in Fig. 2. 12). As a result, conventional assumption in [57] that LCL filter can be simplified as a single equivalent inductor at line frequency is not valid in this case.

Compared to the two-step method in [57], the proposed approach here provides a well dampened LC or LCL filter model at first, and then the closedloop control term is designed based on the dampened model. Therefore, this design method guarantees a robust system performance with sufficient damping.

Note that although the line current interfacing converter with LCL filter is considered here, the proposed analysis method can also be applied to the voltage controlled interfacing converter with LC filter. Similar conclusions can also be found in voltage controlled system. For instance, when large internal virtual resistance (with inverter output current feedback) blocks the current flow in the choke of the LC filter, additional resonance can also be introduced by the interaction among the filter capacitor and the inductive feeder impedance (see Fig. 2. 10(a)). This phenomenon is actually consistent with the finding in [58], where a

large bandwidth of the inner-loop controller can adversely introduce resonances in a parallel-connected UPS system. In addition, if the internal impedance with capacitor current feedback is implemented with a large proportional gain, the equivalent small parallel impedance can provide a path for the harmonic load current. Accordingly, the distortion of capacitor voltage (with reduced stability margin) is mitigated.

### 2.4. Deadbeat control scheme

As PR controllers are developed based on the internal mode principle, these closed-loop control methods are less sensitive of parameter variations. However, the dynamic response of PR controller based interfacing converter can hardly be very fast, due the limitation of PR controller gains. On the other hand, the model-based one-step deadbeat control method has also been used in many commercial interfacing converters. The deadbeat controller aims to realize zero tracking error at the end of each switching period [59]-[61]. Therefore, it has very rapid response. Conventionally, the deadbeat current control is mainly used in the situation where interfacing converter is connected to PCC with only a series choke [59]. For the case of high order LCL filter, the deadbeat current control can be used in a similar way. The schematic diagram of the inverter system is presented in Fig. 2. 13. To reduce the number of feedback sensors, the inverter output current  $I_1$  is measured as the current feedback and the filter capacitor voltage  $V_c$  is measured for system synchronization.

### 2.4.1. Principle of deadbeat control

When the conventional discrete-time deadbeat controller is used in the presented inverter system, the output voltage reference is obtained as

$$V_{Inv}^{*}(k) = 1.5V_{c}(k) - 0.5V_{c}(k-1) + L_{1}\frac{I_{ref}(k) - I_{I}(k)}{T_{S}}$$
(2-27)



Fig. 2. 13. Conventional deadbeat controlled inverter system.

where  $T_s$  is the sampling and switching period and  $L_1$  is the inverter side choke inductance.  $V_{Inv}^*(k)$  is the reference voltage of the  $k^{\text{th}}$  switching period,  $I_{ref}(k)$ and  $I_1(k)$  are the reference current and the measured inverter output current at the  $k^{\text{th}}$  switching period.  $V_c(k)$  and  $V_c(k-1)$  are the measured capacitor voltage at the  $k^{\text{th}}$ and k- $I^{\text{th}}$  switching period, respectively.

#### Closed-loop circuit model using conventional deadbeat control

This subsection develops the closed-loop current source model of the conventional deadbeat current controlled inverter system. Due to the inherent discrete-time nature of deadbeat controller, the discussion here is based on z-domain models. First, the z-domain transfer functions of an LCL filter plant are obtained as

$$I_{1}(z) = H_{1}(z) \cdot V_{Inv}(z) + H_{2}(z) \cdot V_{PCC}(z)$$
(2-28)

$$I_2(z) = H_3(z) \cdot V_{hw}(z) + H_4(z) \cdot V_{PCC}(z)$$
(2-29)

$$V_{C}(z) = H_{5}(z) \cdot V_{Inv}(z) + H_{6}(z) \cdot V_{PCC}(z)$$
(2-30)

where  $V_{Inv}(z)$  and  $V_{PCC}(z)$  are the inverter output voltage and PCC voltage,  $I_2(z)$  is the line current. The transfer functions  $H_1(z)$  to  $H_6(z)$  are determined using bilinear transformation as

$$H_{1}(z) = Z_{s \to z} \left\{ \frac{z2(s) + zc(s)}{zl(s) \cdot z2(s) + zl(s) \cdot zc(s) + z2(s) \cdot zc(s)} \right\}$$
(2-31)

$$H_2(z) = Z_{s \to z} \left\{ \frac{-zc(s)}{zl(s) \cdot z2(s) + zl(s) \cdot zc(s) + z2(s) \cdot zc(s)} \right\}$$
(2-32)

$$H_{3}(z) = Z_{s \to z} \left\{ \frac{zc(s)}{zl(s) \cdot z2(s) + zl(s) \cdot zc(s) + z2(s) \cdot zc(s)} \right\}$$
(2-33)

$$H_4(z) = Z_{s \to z} \left\{ \frac{-(zl(s) + zc(s))}{zl(s) \cdot z^2(s) + zl(s) \cdot zc(s) + z^2(s) \cdot zc(s)} \right\}$$
(2-34)

$$H_{5}(z) = Z_{s \to z} \left\{ \frac{z2(s) \cdot zc(s)}{zl(s) \cdot z2(s) + zl(s) \cdot zc(s) + z2(s) \cdot zc(s)} \right\}$$
(2-35)

$$H_{6}(z) = Z_{s \to z} \left\{ \frac{z l(s) \cdot z c(s)}{z l(s) \cdot z 2(s) + z l(s) \cdot z c(s) + z 2(s) \cdot z c(s)} \right\}$$
(2-36)

Without considering the delay of the PWM voltage modulation ( $V_{Inv}(z) = V_{Inv}^*(z)$ ), the closed-loop behavior of an inverter can be obtained in (2-37) through the manipulation on (2-27) to (2-30) as

$$I_{2}(z) = G_{eq}(z) \cdot I_{ref}(z) - Y_{eq}(z) \cdot V_{PCC}(z)$$
(2-37)

where  $G_{eq}(z)$  and  $(-Y_{eq}(z))$  describe line current responses to the current reference and the PCC voltage, respectively. Their detailed expressions are described as

$$G_{Eq}(z) = \frac{H_1(z)A(z)}{1 + H_5(z)B(z) + H_1(z)A(z)}$$
(2-38)

$$Y_{Eq}(z) = \frac{H_1(z)H_3(z)A(z) + H_1(z)H_6(z)B(z)}{1 + H_5(z)B(z) + H_1(z)A(z)} - H_4(z)$$
(2-39)



Fig. 2. 14. Closed-loop Norton equivalent circuit of an inverter system.

where the coefficients A(z) and B(z) are expressed as:  $A(z) = L_1/T_s$ , and  $B(z) = 1.5 - 0.5z^{-1}$ , respectively.

Fig. 2. 14 illustrates the corresponding Norton equivalent circuit of a single inverter system (2-37), where  $G_{eq}(z)$  behaves as the coefficient of the controlled current source and  $Y_{eq}(z)$  represents the associated parallel admittance. Note that the closed-loop transfer functions here are expressed in the discretized z-domain. This is because the deadbeat control scheme is developed in the discretized z-domain, and therefore the LCL filter plants are also intentionally discretized in the z-domain for the convenience of analysis.

# 2.4.2. Proposed active damping scheme for deadbeat current control

It is necessary to point out that the conventional deadbeat control in (2-27) is typically applicable to an inverter with single choke filter. Accordingly, the LCL resonance problem can be serious in a deadbeat current controlled inverter system [61]. To alleviate the LCL resonance issues, [61] presented an improved deadbeat control method. In this method, both inverter output current and line current measurements are required in the implementation. Also the control accuracy relies on the knowledge of grid impedance. Alternatively, [62] proposed an optimal pole placement method which can be less sensitive to grid impedance uncertainty.

On the other hand, the virtual impedance based active damping method has been applied to a few grid-connected inverters with closed-loop current control, as shown the previous sections. It can be seen that the effectiveness of virtual impedance is less sensitive to the parameter variations. However, the previous virtual impedance control, including the virtual impedance realized by GCC scheme, is effective at both fundamental and harmonic frequencies and the impact at the fundamental frequency can be properly compensated by the closed-loop line current controller [63]. For the deadbeat current controlled inverter with only inverter output current regulation, virtual impedance at the fundament frequency may bring some steady-state line current offset. To overcome this limitation, this section develops a novel harmonic virtual impedance scheme that controls a virtual impedance in parallel with filter capacitor. The developed harmonic virtual impedance does not affect the flow of fundamental current.

To achieve the virtual damping resistor as shown in Fig. 2. 15 (a), digital implementation scheme is developed as shown in Fig. 2. 15 (b). As shown, the fundamental  $(V_{c_f}(k))$  and the harmonic  $(V_{c_h}(k))$  capacitor voltages are separated using a harmonic detector, which is constructed in the artificial rotating reference frames [64]. For a virtual damping resistance that is effective at the harmonic frequencies, the associated harmonic damping current can be described in the z-domain as

$$I_{ref\_AD} = \frac{V_{C\_h}}{R_{V}} = \frac{H_{Har}(z) \cdot V_{C}}{R_{V}}$$
(2-40)

where  $R_V$  is the resistance of the virtual damping resistor.  $H_{Har}(z)$  is the transfer function of the harmonic detector. The detailed diagram of this harmonic detection process is shown in Fig. 2. 15 (b). For this type of single-phase system, an artificial two-axis rotating reference frame is constructed and the fundamental component is captured by using 2<sup>rd</sup>-order Butterworth LPFs (15Hz cut-off frequency) in the rotating reference frame [64].



Fig. 2. 15. Illustration of single inverter with active damping.

If the active damping current derived in (2-40) is compensated by the regulation of inverter output current  $I_1$ , the system response can be similar to the case of using passive damping. Since the bandwidth of deadbeat control is very high, which is also good for harmonic current tracking [60], the damping current in (2-40) can be directly added to the original current reference. With this arrangement, the flow of fundamental current is not affected. The improved deadbeat control is obtained as

$$V_{Inv}^{*}(k) = 1.5V_{c}(k) - 0.5V_{c}(k-1) + L_{1}\frac{I_{ref}(k) + I_{ref\_AD}(k) - I_{1}(k)}{T_{s}}$$
(2-41)

After the implementation of the modified controller in (2-41), the deadbeat controller can also provide damping effects to the LCL filter plant.

Compared to many other active damping methods where the resonance mitigation is normally achieved through multi-loop control or redundant measurements, the proposed method does not need any additional current or voltage feedback and it is realized by simple current reference modification. Note that the capacitor voltage measurement is always needed for grid synchronization. Therefore, it is a cost effective method to provide enhanced interfacing converter line current quality.

### 2.5. Verification results

In order to demonstrate the effectiveness of virtual impedance based active damping method, both simulated and experimental results are obtained in this section.

### 2.5.1. GCC scheme verification results

First, experiments on a current controlled inverter with LCL system are conducted to verify the performance of the proposed GCC scheme. The controller of this system is developed based on TMS320F2812 DSP and Atmel FPGA. The detailed system parameters are shown in TABLE. 2. 2. In this experiment, 0.4 % 11<sup>th</sup> and 1% 2<sup>nd</sup> harmonics are added to the PCC voltage  $V_{PCC}$ , and there is no harmonic resonant controller in  $G_G(s)$ .

As shown in Fig. 2. 16, when a large inductor current internal impedance terms is adopted ( $G_{Internal}(s) = 75$ ), the line current is distorted (THD=5.58%). Consistent with the previous analysis, a large series virtual resistor through measuring  $I_1$  blocks the harmonic current flow in the converter side filter circuit, and the system becomes sensitive to the resonance between the filter capacitor and grid side inductor.





Fig. 2. 16. Current controlled grid interfacing converter with LCL filter. (Inverter output current  $I_1$  based internal virtual impedance) (Overdampened impedance term with  $G_{Internal}(s) = 70$  ). (a:  $V_{PCC}$  (100V/div); b: ( $V_C$  100V/div); c:  $I_2$ (2.5A/div). (Experiment)

Fig. 2. 17. Current controlled grid interfacing converter with LCL filter. (Capacitor current  $I_{\rm C}$  based internal virtual impedance). (Over-dampened impedance term with  $G_{Internal}(s) = 110$  ). (a:  $V_{\rm PCC}$  (100V/d); b: ( $V_C$  100V/div); c:  $I_2$ (2.5A/div). (**Experiment**)



Fig. 2. 18. Current-controlled grid-connected interfacing converter with LCL filter. (capacitor current  $I_{\rm C}$  based internal virtual impedance). Internal impedance term with  $G_{Internal}(s) = 25$ . (a:  $V_{\rm PCC}$  (100V/div); b:  $V_C$  (100V/div); c:  $I_2$  (2.5A/div).)

The performance of the system with large capacitor current internal impedance term gain ( $G_{Internal}(s) = 110$ ) is obtained in Fig. 2. 17. Since large internal impedance gain represents a small parallel virtual damping impedance at capacitor branch, the 11<sup>th</sup> harmonic current disappears while the low order harmonics (2<sup>nd</sup> harmonic current) is amplified. Here the 2<sup>nd</sup> harmonic current is 27.5%. Finally, an improved line current (THD=4.51%) can be seen in Fig. 2. 18 when an internal impedance with  $G_{Internal}(s) = 25$  is adopted.

### 2.5.2. Deadbeat control scheme verification results

The performance of interfacing converter using both conventional and the proposed deadbeat current control schemes is also tested in the Matlab/Simulink. The circuitry and control parameters are listed in TABLE. 2. 3.

First, the performance of the system with a step change of reference current from 6A to 20A is shown in Fig. 2. 19 and Fig. 2. 20. It is obvious that the reference change introduces significant transient resonances in the interfacing converter with conventional deadbeat control (transient line current THD=25.89%, for one cycle after the step change) in Fig. 2. 19, and this resonance can be dampened with the proposed virtual impedance control method as shown in Fig. 2.

TABLE. 2. 3. Circuit and control parameters of a single-phase 120V/1KVA inverter with deadbeat control

Parameters	Symbols	Values		
Circuit Parameter				
Inverter side inductor	$L_1$ , $R_1$	3mH (0.079pu), 0.25Ω (0.017pu)		
Filter capacitor	$C_{f}$	40 uF (0.215pu)		
Line side inductor	$L_2$ , $R_2$	0.2mH(0.005pu), 0.05Ω(0.004pu)		
PCC voltage	$V_{PCC}$	60V/60Hz(experiment)		
DC Link voltage	$V_{DC}$	180V(experiment)		
Control Parameter				
Switching frequency		12kHz		
Virtual impedance	Rv	6.5 Ω		





Fig. 2. 19. Performance of deadbeat control during reference step change (without damping). (a. PCC voltage: 200v/div; b. line current: 10A/div; c. output current: 10A/div). (Simulation)

Fig. 2. 20. Performance of deadbeat control during reference step change (active damping). (a. PCC voltage: 200v/div; b. line current: 10A/div; c. output current: 10A/div). (Simulation)



Fig. 2. 21. Performance of deadbeat control during grid voltage sags (without damping). (a. PCC voltage: 200v/div; b. line current: 10A/div; c. output current: 10A/div ). (Simulation)



Fig. 2. 22. Performance of deadbeat control during grid voltage sags (active damping). (a. PCC voltage: 200v/div; b. line current: 10A/div; c. output current: 10A/div). (Simulation)

20 (transient THD=6.63%).

The transient resonance introduced by grid voltage disturbances is also investigated. The associated dynamic responses of inverter1 are examined in Fig. 2. 21 and Fig. 2. 22. As shown in Fig. 2. 21, the performance of conventional deadbeat control is sensitive to grid voltage disturbances. The improved performance using virtual impedance based active damping is shown in Fig. 2. 22. During voltage sag transients, conventional deadbeat control gives a 21.85% transient THD while the active damping control reduces the THD to 4.52%.

To verify the theoretical analysis, experiments are also conducted on a scaled single-phase laboratory H-bridge inverter. The main grid is emulated by a programmable AC power supply. The DC link voltage is provided by three-phase diode rectifiers with isolation. Due to the impact of diode rectifiers, the inverter DC link voltage has some ripples.

The performances of the inverter with reference step changes for 2.5A to 7A are shown in Fig. 2. 23 and Fig. 2. 24. When the conventional control without damping is implemented, the line current has significant harmonics during reference step change transient. Moreover, due to the effects of non-ideal DC link voltage with small voltage ripples, there are also some steady-state harmonics in Fig. 2. 23. However, the investigation on the contribution of DC link voltage

ripples to system resonance is out of the scope of the discussion here. When the active damping scheme is enabled, the improved results are shown in Fig. 2. 24.

The experimental results of single inverter during 15% grid voltage sag are also obtained in Fig. 2. 25 and Fig. 2. 26. With the conventional control, it can be seen in Fig. 2. 25 that the grid voltage sag introduces some transient line current harmonics. With the active damping, the transient harmonics are properly mitigated as shown in Fig. 2. 26.



Fig. 2. 23. Performance of deadbeat control during reference step change (without damping). (a. PCC voltage: 100v/div; b. line current: 5A/div; c. output current. 5A/div). (Experiment)



Fig. 2. 24. Performance of deadbeat control during reference step change (active damping). (a. PCC voltage: 100v/div; b. line current: 5A/div; c. output current: 5A/div). (Experiment)



Fig. 2. 25. Performance of deadbeat control during grid voltage sag (without damping). (a. PCC voltage: 100v/div; b. line current: 5A/div; c. output current: 5A/div). (Experiment)

Fig. 2. 26. Performance of deadbeat control during grid voltage sag (active damping). (a. PCC voltage: 100v/div; b. line current: 5A/div; c. output current: 5A/div). (Experiment)

### 2.6. Summary

A resonance problem is described that is caused by LC and LCL filters in the DG unit power electronics interface. First, this chapter adopts the closed-loop Norton equivalent circuit to evaluate the resonance problem. The performance of interfacing converter using a few well accepted control schemes is discussed. It shows that although the single-loop control and the conventional deadbeat control feature simple control structure, they do not have any damping effects to the output filter resonance. As a result, they can easily cause harmonic problems in the interfacing converters.

In order to improve the performance of grid-interfacing converters, a generalized closed-loop control (GCC) scheme is proposed. It has an internal impedance to mitigate the resonance problem. Further discussion indicates the proposed GCC scheme can be used to explain the performance of double-loop current control with different inner loop feedbacks. Additionally, the proposed GCC scheme can also simplify the parameter design process of the double-loop control.

To provide active damping to the traditional deadbeat current control scheme, a shunt virtual harmonic impedance control scheme is proposed. This proposed control scheme is realized through modifying the inverter output current reference with a compensation term (associated with LCL filter capacitor voltage). As the filter capacitor voltage is also measured for grid synchronization, this proposed method easily realizes active resonance damping without using any additional sensors. Verification results show that the proposed GCC and deadbeat control schemes can effectively mitigate the resonance in the interfacing converter filters, and the line current quality can be improved accordingly.

### **Chapter 3**

# Modeling and Active Damping of Multiple Resonances for Parallel Grid-Tied Inverters

Distributed RESs are often integrated into the power system by using multiple DG units, which are often named as "grid-interactive microgrid" in recent literature. Since multiple DG interfacing inverters are coupled together, the disturbances from other parallel inverters may cause complex resonances in an inverter's line current. This chapter investigates the resonance interactions of grid-interactive microgrid. First, an accurate microgrid model is developed based on a closed-loop transfer function matrix. With this model, different types of resonances can be easily investigated and evaluated.

In addition, the active damping methods for a single inverter system are examined in the situation of multiple parallel inverters. It shows that virtual impedance based damping methods are also very effective in mitigating multiple resonances in parallel inverters based grid-interactive microgrid. Extensive simulated and experimental results are provided to support the discussion.

### **3.1.** Modeling of multiple parallel inverters

The modeling of multiple parallel inverters can be performed in either discretize-time z-domain or continuous-time s-domain. For the converter controller designed in s-domain, such as single-loop, multi-loop control, and GCC

Publications out of this chapter:

J. He, Y. W. Li, D. Bosnjak, and B. Harris, "Investigation and Active Damping of Multiple Resonances in a Parallel-Inverter Based Microgrid," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 28, pp. 234-246, Jan. 2013.

scheme, the analysis is conducted in the continuous-time s-domain for the sake of convenience. On the other hand, z-domain analysis is adopted for controllers developed in a digital manner, such as the deadbeat controller discussed in Chapter 2.

# 3.1.1. Multiple parallel inverters with controllers developed in sdomain

The model of parallel inverters with current tracking controllers developed in s-domain is analyzed here. First, the configuration of a grid interactive microgrid with multiple parallel inverters is shown in the upper part of Fig. 3. 1.

To form a microgrid, each inverter is connected to PCC with an LCL filter. Then, the microgrid is connected to the main grid with the main grid feeder, which is described as  $L_{grid}$  and  $R_{grid}$ . In this section, we assume that all parallel inverters are controlled by the same closed-loop current controller.

Since each interfacing inverter is modeled as a Norton equivalent circuit in the s-domain, the equivalent circuit of the entire microgrid can be established with the help of single inverter model. The equivalent circuit of multiple parallel inverters is shown in the lower part of Fig. 3. 1. As shown, for a microgrid with N parallel inverters, it can be modeled by N controlled current sources and N parallel admittances. The grid voltage  $V_{grid}$  is connected to PCC with the microgrid feeder series admittance.

With the developed model, line current of inverters can be determined accordingly. For instance, the line current of inverter1  $(I_{2,1})$  is obtained by applying Kirchhoff's law as

$$V_{PCC} = \frac{(\sum_{i=1}^{N} G_{eq,i}(s) \cdot I_{ref,i} + Y_{grid}(s) \cdot V_{grid})}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} Y_{eq,i}(s) + Y_{grid}(s)}$$
(3-1)  
$$I_{2,1} = G_{eq,1}(s) \cdot I_{ref,1} - Y_{eq,1}(s) \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(3-2)

where  $G_{eq,1}(z)$  to  $G_{eq,N}(z)$  are the closed-loop gains of current sources, and  $Y_{eq,1}(z)$  to  $Y_{eq,N}(z)$  are their associated parallel admittances, respectively.  $Y_{grid}(z)$  is the grid admittance.  $I_{ref,1}$  to  $I_{ref,N}$  are current references of multiple parallel inverters.

From (3-1) and (3-2), the line current of inverter1 can be re-expressed as

$$I_{2,1} = \overbrace{R_1(s) \cdot I_{ref,1}}^{\text{Internal Resonance}} + \sum_{t=2}^{N} P_{1,t}(s) \cdot I_{ref,t} - \overbrace{S_{G,1}(s) \cdot V_{grid}}^{\text{Series Resonance}}$$
(3-3)

It can be noticed that (3-3) has three terms and each term represents one type of resonance in the system. Specifically, the first term (internal resonance) represents the resonance introduced by the change of inverter1's current reference signal. The second term is the parallel interaction among inverters, which is introduced by changes of reference signal in other inverters. Finally, the third term demonstrates the series interaction between the main grid and the multiple-inverter based microgrid system. The elements of (3-3) are obtained as



Fig. 3. 1. Illustration of the proposed closed-loop model of parallel grid-connected inverters.

$$R_{1}(s) = G_{eq,1}(s) - \frac{Y_{eq,1}(s) \cdot G_{eq,1}(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_{eq,i}(s) + Y_{grid}(s)}$$
(3-4)

$$P_{1,t}(z) = \frac{-Y_{eq,1}(s) \cdot G_{eq,t}(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_{eq,i}(s) + Y_{grid}(s)}, \quad t \in [2, N]$$
(3-5)

$$S_{G,1}(z) = \frac{Y_{eq,1}(s) \cdot Y_{grid}(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_{eq,i}(s) + Y_{grid}(s)}$$
(3-6)

When a similar analysis approach is applied to other inverters, the behavior of the microgrid can be described using a closed-loop transfer function matrix with reference currents and grid voltage as inputs and inverter line currents as outputs

$$\begin{pmatrix} I_{2,1} \\ I_{2,2} \\ \cdots \\ I_{2,N} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_{1}(s) & P_{12}(s) & \cdots & P_{1N}(s) \\ P_{21}(s) & R_{2}(s) & & \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ P_{N1}(s) & P_{N2}(s) & & R_{N}(s) \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} I_{ref,1} \\ I_{ref,2} \\ \cdots \\ I_{ref,N} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} S_{G,1}(s) \\ S_{G,2}(s) \\ \cdots \\ S_{G,2}(s) \end{pmatrix} \cdot V_{grid}$$
(3-7)

It is obvious that the parallel inverters are always coupled when the nondiagonal elements of (3-7) are not zero. For the ideal stiff grid with zero grid impedance, the non-diagonal elements become zero and the inverters are decoupled. However, as a low voltage microgrid or a remote microgrid often have nontrivial grid impedance, strong inverter couplings may introduce significant resonant current in the microgrid.

# 3.1.2. Multiple parallel inverters with controllers developed in zdomain

For parallel grid-tied inverters regulated by controllers developed in the discretized z-domain, such as the one-step deadbeat control, it is convenient to investigate the performance of the microgrid using z-domain closed-loop transfer function matrix.

For the grid interactive microgrid with parallel inverters using controllers developed in the z-domain, the response can be calculated by (3-8) and the equivalent circuit is given in Fig. 3. 2.

$$\begin{pmatrix} I_{2,1}(z) \\ I_{2,2}(z) \\ \cdots \\ I_{2,N}(z) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R_{1}(z) & P_{12}(z) & \cdots & P_{1N}(z) \\ P_{21}(z) & R_{2}(z) & \cdots \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ P_{N1}(z) & P_{N2}(z) & \cdots & R_{N}(z) \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} I_{nef,1}(z) \\ I_{nef,2}(z) \\ \cdots \\ I_{ref,N}(z) \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} S_{G,1}(z) \\ S_{G,2}(z) \\ \cdots \\ S_{G,N}(z) \end{pmatrix} \cdot V_{grid}(z)$$
(3-8)

where  $I_{ref,1}(z)$  to  $I_{ref,N}(z)$  are reference currents of inverter1 to inverter N, which are considered as the inputs of the system. The inverter line side currents are  $I_{2,2}(z)$  to  $I_{2,N}(z)$ , which are treated as the output of the system. The coefficients in (3-8) are determined according to the inverter output filters and the control parameters.

From (3-8), the response of inverter1 line current  $I_{2,1}(z)$  is obtained as

$$I_{2,1}(z) = \underbrace{\widetilde{R_1(z) \cdot I_{ref,1}(z)}}_{\text{Internal Resonance}} + \underbrace{\sum_{t=2}^{N} P_{1,t}(z) \cdot I_{ref,t}(z)}_{\text{Internal Resonance}} - \underbrace{\widetilde{S_{G,1}(z) \cdot V_{grid}(z)}}_{\text{Gamma for the second second$$

Similar to the previous analysis for multiple inverters with controllers developed in s-domain, the response of inverter1 line current is also composed of three parts. They are defined as internal resonance, parallel resonance, and series resonance, respectively. The coefficients in (3-9) are expressed as



Fig. 3. 2. Diagram of multiple parallel inverters and its closed-loop equivalent circuit.

$$R_{1}(z) = G_{eq,1}(z) - \frac{Y_{eq,1}(z) \cdot G_{eq,1}(z)}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_{eq,i}(z) + Y_{grid}(z)}$$
(3-10)

$$P_{1,t}(z) = -\frac{Y_{eq,1}(z) \cdot G_{eq,t}(z)}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_{eq,i}(z) + Y_{grid}(z)} \qquad t \in [2, N]$$
(3-11)

$$S_{G,1}(z) = \frac{Y_{eq,1}(z) \cdot Y_{grid}(z)}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_{eq,i}(z) + Y_{grid}(z)}$$
(3-12)

### **3.2.** Frequency response analysis of multiple parallel inverters

With the closed-loop transfer function matrix for multiple inverters, the response of multiple inverters can be easily evaluated using the closed-loop Bode plots.

### 3.2.1. Analysis of multiple inverters with deadbeat current control

In this subsection, the responses of the system using the conventional deadbeat current control and the proposed virtual impedance based deadbeat control are compared.

### Inverters using conventional deadbeat control without active damping

In order to make the discussion easier, we assume that all the inverters in the microgrid have identical circuit and control parameters. Nevertheless, the current reference of each inverter is generated independently (like in PV systems with individual MPPT). The parameters are selected to be the same as in the simulation, which can be found from TABLE. 2. 3 in the previous chapter and the main grid impedance is selected as  $L_{grid} = 1.4$ mH and  $R_{grid} = 0.1\Omega$ . The Bode plots of inverter1 are shown from Fig. 3. 3 to Fig. 3. 5.
Fig. 3. 3 shows the Bode plots of inverter 1's internal resonance with different parallel inverter numbers. As illustrated, when only inverter 1 is connected to the PCC, there is only one resonance peak in the Bode plot. In a microgrid with parallel inverters, the frequency response of inverter 1 has two resonance peaks. Among them, the frequency of one resonance is fixed while the frequency of the other one moves to the low frequency region with more parallel inverters. By examining the expression of  $R_1(z)$ , it can be seen that the fixed frequency resonance peak is determined by  $G_{eq,1}(z)$ , while the moving resonance peak is introduced by the remaining term in  $R_1(z)$ . Due to these resonances, the line current of inverter1 can have transient harmonic current during the step change of its current reference signal.

In addition to the harmonics introduced by the internal resonance, the reference changes of other inverters also bring parallel resonances to inverter1. The associated Bode plots are shown in Fig. 3. 4. Similar to Fig. 3. 3, the parallel resonance also contains two resonance peaks, and one of them drifts to the low frequency region with more inverters connected to the microgrid.



Fig. 3. 3. Inverter1's internal resonance with different parallel inverter numbers  $(R_{1T}(z) = I_{2,1}(z)/I_{ref1}(z))$ . (Deadbeat control without active damping)



Fig. 3. 4. Inverter1's parallel resonance with different parallel inverter numbers  $(P_{12}(z) = I_{2,1}(z)/I_{ref2}(z))$ . (Deadbeat control without active damping)



Fig. 3. 5. Inverter1's series resonance with different parallel inverter numbers ( $S_G(z) = -I_{2,1}(z)/V_{grid}(z)$ ). (Deadbeat control without active damping)

Note that the magnitudes of frequency-varying resonances are attenuated when more parallel inverters are placed in the microgrid. This feature can be explained using the proposed equivalent circuit in Fig. 3. 1. Suppose inverter2 has a reference step change, a portion of the current  $G_{eq,2}(z)I_{ref,2}(z)$  flows to the parallel admittances of inverter1. When more inverters are connected to PCC, the current flowing to inverter1's parallel admittance is attenuated as the current  $G_{eq,2}(z)I_{ref,2}(z)$  is shared by more parallel admittances.

The series resonances in inverter1 are excited by the main grid. As shown in Fig. 3. 5, the frequency of series resonance is also affected by parallel inverter numbers. Further considering that the main grid voltage often has some low order steady-state background noises, significant steady-state harmonic line current can be produced by the effects of series resonance. For instance, when 4 parallel

inverters are included the microgrid, the series resonance frequency is around 300Hz, which may excite the 5<sup>th</sup> steady-state resonance in a 60Hz line frequency system.

### • Impact of main grid feeder resistance

It is important to note that the grid feeder resistance also has non-trivial impact to system resonance, especially for the low voltage distribution system with higher feeder R/X ratio ranging from 1.5 to 4 [99]. The following Bode plots investigate the sensitivity of resonance to grid feeder resistance variations.

First, a microgrid with two parallel inverters is considered. These inverters are controlled by conventional deadbeat scheme without active damping. The parallel resonance of inverter1 is shown in Fig. 3. 6. It can be seen that large grid feeder resistance ( $R_{grid}$ ) can passively mitigate some of the resonance in inverter1. However, the low frequency resonant peak is still around 10 dB even when the grid feeder has 1 $\Omega$  resistance. At the same time, it can also be seen that high frequency resonant peak is less sensitive to the changes of grid feeder resistance.

Similarly, the series resonance of inverter1 is also examined. As illustrated in Fig. 3. 7, passive damping by grid feeder resistance can reduce series resonant peak. When  $1\Omega$  resistance appears in grid feeder, the series resonant peak is mitigated to around 0dB.

From Fig. 3. 6 and Fig. 3. 7, it can be concluded that active damping is needed even when the microgrid feeder resistance can provide some passive damping effects to the resonance.

# • Inverters using the proposed deadbeat control with virtual impedance based active damping

The effectiveness of the virtual impedance aided deadbeat control method (see (2-41)) to microgrid resonances mitigation is examined using the closed-loop Bode plots.



Fig. 3. 6. Inverter1's parallel resonance with different grid feeder resistance. ( $P_{12}(z) = I_{2,1}(z)/I_{ref2}(z)$ ). (Two inverters are connected to the system. Conventional deadbeat control is used.)



Fig. 3. 7. Inverter1's series resonance with different grid feeder resistance. ( $S_G(z) = -I_{2,1}(z)/V_{grid}(z)$ ). (Two inverters are connected to the system. Conventional deadbeat control is used.)

Fig. 3. 8 to Fig. 3. 10 show the mitigation of resonances in inverter1 after the implementation of  $6.5\Omega$  virtual harmonic damping resistance for all the inverters. Fig. 3. 8 demonstrates inverter1's internal resonance mitigation performance. It is obvious that the previous fixed frequency resonance peak around 35dB in Fig. 3. 3 is reduced to 5dB. Also the frequency-varying resonances are around 0 dB in Fig. 3. 8. Similarly, by using the active damping method, the parallel and series resonances in inverter1 are also suppressed as shown in Fig. 3. 9 and Fig. 3. 10, respectively. Compared to the case using conventional deadbeat control without any active damping, it can be seen that the proposed active damping method is effective in addressing various types of resonances in a microgrid.



Fig. 3. 8. Inverter1's internal resonance mitigation with different parallel inverter numbers ( $R_{1T}(z) = I_{2,1}/I_{ref,1}$ ). (Deadbeat control with virtual impedance based active damping)



Fig. 3. 9. Inverter1's parallel resonance mitigation with different parallel inverter numbers ( $P_{12}(z) = I_{2,1}/I_{ref,2}$ ). (Deadbeat control with virtual impedance based active damping)



Fig. 3. 10. Inverter1's series resonance mitigation with different parallel inverter numbers ( $S_{G,1}(z) = -I_{2,1}/V_{grid}$ ). (Deadbeat control with virtual impedance based active damping)

# **3.2.2.** Analysis of multiple inverters with single-loop current control

The performance of multiple inverters with single closed-loop control can be analyzed in a similar manner. In this subsection, the system with inverter output current feedback is selected for case study.

When the inverter output current is selected as the feedback, the performance of multiple inverters is shown in Fig. 3. 11, Fig. 3. 12, and Fig. 3. 13. The grid impedance in this case is set to  $L_{grid}$ =1.5mH and  $R_{grid}$ =0.05 $\Omega$ . Fig. 3. 11 shows the internal resonance of inverter1. It is obvious that there are two resonance peaks in the internal resonance. One resonance peak is fixed to around 1050Hz



Fig. 3. 11. Internal resonance of inverter1  $(I_{2,1}/I_{ref,1})$ . (2, 5, and 10 in the figure mean parallel inverter numbers of the system) (single-loop control with inverter output current feedback)



Fig. 3. 12. Parallel resonance of inverter1  $(I_{2,1}/I_{ref,2})$ . (2,5, and 10 in the figure mean parallel inverter numbers of the system) (Single-loop control with inverter output current feedback)

while the other one moves to low frequency region when more parallel inverters are connected to PCC.

Similarly, the performance of the parallel resonance is also given in Fig. 3. 12. The parallel resonance illustrated in Fig. 3. 12 describes the performance of inverter1 when other inverters' references have changes. It is obvious there are also two resonant peaks and they can degrade line current quality of inverter1 during the reference changes of others inverters.

Finally, the frequency response of series resonance is shown in Fig. 3. 13. This resonant frequency moves to low frequency region when more parallel inverters are connected to the system.

It is obvious that the frequency of fixed resonance peak in Fig. 3. 11, Fig. 3. 12, and Fig. 3. 13 is close to the characteristic resonant frequency of the single inverter LCL filter as

$$f_{RES1} \approx \frac{1}{2\pi \sqrt{(L_1 \cdot L_2 / (L_1 + L_2)) \cdot C_f}}$$
(3-13)

The moving resonant peak at low frequency region is mainly caused by interactions between multiple inverters. The estimation of this resonant frequency without using complex closed-loop transfer function matrix is not very straightforward. Considering that harmonic resonant controllers are used in the closed-loop current tracking scheme in (2-1), it is reasonable to assume that the inverter current  $I_1$  can accurately follow the reference current  $I_{ref}$  in the low order harmonic frequency region. As a result, a simplified equivalent circuit can be established without complex closed-loop transfer function equations, as shown in the upper part of Fig. 3. 14.

It is important to note that this equivalent circuit is only effective at the low order harmonic frequency region that is within the control bandwidth of inverter output current regulation. It cannot be used to analyze high frequency resonant in (3-13), as the inverter output current response cannot be treated as an idea controlled current source around the resonant frequency in (3-13).



Fig. 3. 13. Series resonance of inverter1  $(-I_{2,1}/V_{Grid})$ . (2,5, and 10 in the figure mean parallel inverter numbers of the system) (single-loop control with inverter output current feedback)



Fig. 3. 14. Simplified equivalent circuit of parallel inverters with single-loop current control and inverter output current feedback.

Considering a system has N identical parallel inverters with the same control and circuit parameters for the sake of simplicity, the N parallel inverters as shown in the upper part of Fig. 3. 14 can be further merged as a single inverter with revised parameters. Through simple calculation, it can be seen that the equivalent shunt capacitance is this case is  $N \cdot C_f$  and the equivalent line side choke impedance is  $L_2/N$  and  $R_2/N$ . With this simple equivalent circuit developed in the lower part of Fig. 3. 14, the moving resonant frequency can be easily determined as

$$f_{RES2} \approx \frac{1}{2\pi \sqrt{(L_{grid} + (L_2 / N)) \cdot (N \cdot C_f)}}$$

$$\approx \frac{1}{2\pi \sqrt{(N \cdot L_{grid} + L_2) \cdot C_f}}$$
(3-14)

The frequency in (3-14) is in good agreement with the resonant frequency determined by complex closed-loop transfer function matrix. Considering a system with 10 parallel inverters with the parameters as shown in TABLE. 2. 1, one resonant frequency is 394.21Hz according to (3-14). On the other hand, it is obvious that one resonant frequency with 10 parallel inverters in Fig. 3. 13 is around 400Hz, which is very close to the calculated value using (3-14).

# 3.2.3. Analysis of multiple inverters with GCC control scheme

Finally, the performance of multiple single-phase inverters using GCC scheme is briefly discussed. The discussion here is based on the control and circuit parameter in TABLE. 3. 1. The frequency domain response of inverter1 is shown in Fig. 3. 15, Fig. 3. 16, and Fig. 3. 17. In contrast to the conventional

Parameters	Symbols	Values
Circuit Parameter		
Inverter side inductor	$L_1$ , $R_1$	2.1mH (0.056 pu), 0.05Ω (0.004pu)
Filter capacitor	$C_f$ , $R_C$	10uF (0.055pu), 0.25Ω (0.017pu)
Line side inductor	$L_2$ , $R_2$	1.3mH (0.035pu), 0.05Ω (0.004pu)
Main grid impedance	L <sub>grid</sub> , R <sub>grid</sub>	1.5mH (0.040pu), 0.05Ω (0.004pu)
Parallel Inverter Control Parameter		
Switching frequency		12.0kHz
	$K_p = 7$ $K_{if} = 200$	
PR controller $K_{i3}$ =		$= K_{i5} = K_{i7} = K_{i9} = 40$
proportional	$K_{i11} = K_{i13} = K_{i15} = 20$	
	$K_p = 10$	

TABLE. 3. 1. Parameters of multiple inverters (single-phase 120V/1KVA) with GCC control scheme



Fig. 3. 15. Internal resonance of inverter1  $(I_{2,1}/I_{ref})$ . (2, 5, and 10 in the figure mean parallel inverter numbers of the system) (GCC control for multiple inverters)



Fig. 3. 16. Parallel resonance of inverter1  $(I_{2,1}/I_{ref})$ . (2,5, and 10 in the figure mean parallel inverter numbers of the system) (GCC control for multiple inverters)



Fig. 3. 17. Series resonance of inverter1  $(I_{2,1}/V_{Grid})$ . (2,5, and 10 in the figure mean parallel inverter numbers of the system) (GCC control for multiple inverters)

single-loop current control without any active damping, it shows in Fig. 3. 15, Fig. 3. 16, and Fig. 3. 17 that the GCC control scheme effectively mitigates resonances in parallel interfacing inverters.

## **3.3.** Verification results

In this section, detailed simulated and experimental results are provided to evaluate the performance of multiple grid-tied inverters.

# 3.3.1. Performance with deadbeat control scheme

### Simulated results

First, a grid-interactive microgrid with deadbeat current controlled parallel inverters is considered. The control and circuitry parameters for each inverter can be seen in TABLE. 2. 3 in the previous chapter.

To verify the parallel resonances, this microgrid is originally constructed with two identical inverters (inverter1 and inverter2). The reference of inverter2 is fixed to 10A, while the reference of inverter1 changes from 6A to 20A. As discussed before, the reference changes of inverter1 can also affect the line current of inverter2. Their transient line current without damping is shown in Fig. 3. 18. As illustrated in the middle trace, the ripples of both line currents have two resonances at different frequencies around 1650Hz and 420Hz (these harmonics frequencies are determined by the investigation on the off-line harmonic spectra). In this simulation, THDs of inverter1 and inverter2 line current is 23.13% and 37.57%, respectively.

To verify the frequency-varying parallel resonance feature, four identical inverters are placed in the microgrid. The reference current of inverter1 has a step increase from 6A to 20A, while the current references of other inverters are constant during the transient. The distorted waveforms of line current without active damping are shown in Fig. 3. 19. Once again, there are considerable ripples in the line currents of inverter1 and inverter2. Compared to the microgrid with two inverters, the low frequency resonance in this case further drifts to around 300Hz.



Fig. 3. 18. Parallel resonance without damping (two-inverter microgrid). (Simulation)



Fig. 3. 19. Parallel resonance mitigation without active damping. (four inverter microgrid). (Simulation)

When the active damping control is enabled, the performance of the twoinverter based microgrid is shown in Fig. 3. 20, where inverter1 and inverter2 have 4.33% and 4.95% transient THD, respectively.

To further verify multiple resonances caused by parallel resonance, a harmonic spectrum of inverter1 is provided in Fig. 3. 21. When the conventional deadbeat control without active damping is applied to multiple inverters, it can be seen that the inverter1's line current has two resonance peaks. One is at high frequency region close to the resonant of frequency of inverter1's LCL filter, while the other one is at low frequency region.

When the proposed virtual impedance based active damping control is enabled, harmonic spectrum of inverter1 is also provided in Fig. 3. 21. In this situation, it can be seen that multiple resonances are effectively mitigated.



Fig. 3. 20. Parallel resonance mitigation with active damping (two-inverter microgrid). (Simulation)



Fig. 3. 21. Harmonic spectra of inverter1 during parallel resonance transient.

In addition to transient resonance, the steady-state series resonances are investigated in Fig. 3. 22. In this simulation, 2% 5<sup>th</sup> steady-state harmonic voltage is intentionally added to the grid voltage. The microgrid originally operates with four parallel inverters. Since the series resonance peak is close to 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic frequency when four inverters are included, the line current of inverter1 has 15.59% THD before 0.25sec.

After the disconnection of three inverters (inverter2 to inverter4) at 0.25sec, the steady-state line harmonic current of inverter1 is attenuated with 4.38% THD. To demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed active damping method, the enhanced performance during the disconnection of three inverters is also shown in Fig. 3. 23, where inverter1's line current THD is 4.01% before the transition and it reduces to 3.54% after the transition.



Fig. 3. 22. Series resonance without damping (Inverter2 to Inverter4 shut down at 0.25sec). (Simulation)



Fig. 3. 23. Series resonance mitigation with active damping. (Inverter2 to Inverter4 shut down at 0.25sec). (Simulation)

• Experimental results

To verify the theoretical analysis, experiments are also conducted on a scaled single-phase laboratory prototype.

To investigate the parallel resonances, two identical inverters are connected to the PCC. In this test, the reference of inverter1 has a step reference jump from 1.5A to 7.5A, while the reference of inverter2 keeps constant (1.5A) during the process. The line current without damping is shown in Fig. 3. 24. Similar to the simulation results, line currents of both inverters are distorted after current reference signal step change of inverter1. In addition to transient resonances, there are also some steady-state resonances after the reference jump. This is because the



Fig. 3. 24. Parallel resonances between two-inverter microgrid without damping. (a. main grid voltage: 100v/div; b. line current of inverter1: 5A/div; c. line current of inverter2: 5A/div). (**Experiment**)



Fig. 3. 25. Mitigation of parallel resonances between two-inverter microgrid with active damping. (a. main grid voltage: 100v/div; b. line current of inverter1: 5A/div; c. line current of inverter2: 5A/div). (**Experiment**)

DC link voltage of the inverter is provided by diode rectifiers. The DC voltage ripples are amplified when more power flows through the diode bridge rectifier.

The associated experimental results with active damping are also presented in Fig. 3. 25. Once again, the active damping control gives better line current quality by reducing the magnitude of parallel resonance peaks.

Finally, the steady-state series resonances between the microgrid system and the main grid are examined. As mentioned earlier, this phenomenon often appears in the distribution system with weak main grid. Therefore, the grid impedance is increased to 3.4mH and 1 $\Omega$  to test the performance of the system. In addition, the grid voltage contains 2.8% 5<sup>th</sup> and 2.8% 7<sup>th</sup> steady-state harmonics.



Fig. 3. 26. Series resonances of inverter1 in a single-inverter based microgrid without damping. (a. grid voltage: 100v/div; b. PCC voltage: 100v/div; c. line current of inverter1: 5A/div). (Experiment)



Fig. 3. 27. Series resonances of inverter1 in a double-inverter based microgrid without damping. (a. grid voltage: 100v/div; b. PCC voltage: 100v/div; c. line current of inverter1: 5A/div). (Experiment)



Fig. 3. 28. Mitigation of series resonances of inverter1 in a double-inverter based microgrid with active damping. (a. grid voltage: 100v/div; b. PCC voltage: 100v/div; c. line current of inverter1: 5A/div). (Experiment)

When only a single inverter (inverter1) is placed in the microgrid, the corresponding waveforms are obtained in Fig. 3. 26. Although the nontrivial resistive component of grid impedance can provide more passive damping effects

to the system, the line current of inverter1 and the PCC voltage are still severely polluted by the series interaction between microgrid and main grid. It is obvious that the major harmonics here are 7<sup>th</sup> harmonics.

On the other hand, when another inverter (inverter2) is placed in the microgrid, the waveforms of inverter1 are shown in Fig. 3. 27. As expected, the dominate resonance in the PCC voltage and line current changes from 7<sup>th</sup> harmonics to 5<sup>th</sup> harmonics due to the operation of inverter2. Therefore, for a distribution system with variable DG unit numbers, the steady-state harmonics can change.

With the proposed active damping method, the steady-state power quality of the microgrid can be significantly improved. The enhanced performance of inverter1 is obtained in Fig. 3. 28.

# **3.3.2.** Performance with single-loop control

When parallel inverters are regulated by single-loop PR controller with inverter output current feedback, the steady-state performance of inverter1 is shown in Fig. 3. 29. In this simulation, 2.5% harmonic distortion is added to 5<sup>th</sup>, 7<sup>th</sup>, 9<sup>th</sup>, 11<sup>th</sup>, 13<sup>th</sup>, and 15<sup>th</sup> harmonic frequencies, respectively. When only two inverters are connected to PCC, it can be seen from Fig. 3. 29(a) that the 13<sup>th</sup> harmonic current is the dominant harmonic distortion in the inverter1 line current and the line current THD in this case is 55.04%.

When five parallel inverters are connected to PCC, it can be observed that the dominant harmonic distortion in the line current drifts to 9<sup>th</sup> harmonic frequency and the line current THD is 44.28%. When ten parallel inverters are simulated in Fig. 3. 29(c), it can be seen the resonance further dips to 7<sup>th</sup> harmonic frequency.



(c) with ten parallel inverters

Fig. 3. 29. Performance of inverter1 with single-loop current control and inverter output current feedback. (Simulation)

To test the parallel and internal resonance of the system, two inverters are connected to a ripple-free main grid. During this test, inverter2's reference current signal has a step change while the reference current signal of inverte1 keeps constant. It can be seen from Fig. 3. 30 that both inverter1 and inverter2 line currents are distorted during the transient. This proves that when a current reference signal step jump happens in inverter1, the line current power quality of other inverters can also be affected.



Fig. 3. 30. Performance of inverter1 and inverter2 during the reference step change of inverter. (Simulation)



(c) with ten parallel inverters

Fig. 3. 31. Performance of inverter1 with GCC control scheme. (Simulation)

## **3.3.3.** Performance with GCC scheme

Similar to the previous simulation, the performance of inverter1 in a gridinteractive microgrid with various parallel inverter numbers is tested. In this simulation, the LCL filter capacitor current is measured to produce the internal virtual impedance (see (2-15)). Fig. 3. 31 shows that the parallel inverters are not sensitive to grid voltage harmonic disturbances, due to the effects of internal virtual damping impedance. The THDs of inverter1 line current in the case of two parallel inverters, five parallel inverters, and ten parallel inverters, are 4.13%, 3.25%, and 2.37%, respectively.

The transient performance of two parallel inverters during reference step change is also tested, as illustrated in Fig.3. 32. In this test, it can be seen that inverter1 and inverter2 line currents have minor low frequency distortions during the transient. Nevertheless, the distortion disappears a few cycles after the transient.

### **3.4.** Summary

Resonance problems in a grid-interactive microgrid with multiple parallel interfacing converters are discussed. As the power rating of a microgrid can be much higher than that of a single inverter system, the PCC voltage is not stiff especially when the microgrid is connected to a weak grid with higher upstream grid impedance. Accordingly, multiple parallel interfacing converters are coupled due to PCC voltage variations. With the help of the closed-loop Norton equivalent circuit for a single inverter modeling, a closed-loop transfer function matrix is proposed to evaluate the resonance problem in grid interactive mirogrids. From the derived closed-loop transfer function matrix, it can be seen that the line current of an interfacing converter can be separated into three parts, namely internal resonance, parallel resonance, and series resonance. Further investigation also shows that resonance frequency in the grid-interactive microgrid is affected by parallel inverter numbers. As a result, conventional passive power filters can



Fig.3. 32. Performance of inverter1 and inverter2 during the reference step change of inverter2 (inverters are controlled by GCC scheme). (Simulation)

be less effective in mitigating the resonances of a microgrid with varying parallel inverter numbers.

This chapter also verifies the effectiveness of the virtual impedance aided damping schemes in addressing the multiple resonances in the grid-interfacing microgrid. Different control schemes are considered, including the GCC scheme and the modified deadbeat control scheme. Simulated and experimental results show that all microgrid resonances can be effectively suppressed by using the proposed GCC scheme or the proposed deadbeat control with virtual harmonic damping impedance.

# **Chapter 4**

# Distribution System Harmonic Compensation Using DG Interfacing Converters

In a modern low voltage power distribution system, the increasing presence of nonlinear loads can cause severe harmonic pollutions. Chapter 4 mainly studies the feasibility of using DG units to compensate the harmonics caused by nonlinear loads. Since DG units can operate using current controlled method (CCM) or voltage controlled method (VCM), corresponding harmonic compensation methods are developed in this chapter.

First, a simple CCM based compensation method is discussed. The proposed method can avoid the adoption of phase-locked-loop (PLL) and the harmonic detection which are required in the conventional active power filters. Therefore, it can easily improve the programming efficiency in many existing DG units with limited computational capability. On the other hand, a conventional VCM based DG unit controls the power flow without using direct line current tracking loop. This feature challenges the effectiveness of harmonic compensation methods developed for CCM. Alternatively, the proposed VCM based compensation is focused on the PCC harmonic voltage reduction using feed-forward control. Verification results show that the proposed method can flexibly control PCC harmonic distortions without using the direct line current regulation.

Publications out of this chapter:

<sup>(1)</sup> J. He, Y. W. Li, F. Blaabjerg, and X. Wang, "Active Harmonic Filtering Using Current Controlled Grid-Connected DG Units with Closed-Loop Power Control," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, in press, 2013.

<sup>(2)</sup> J. He, Y. W. Li, and M. S. Munir, "A Flexible Harmonic Control Approach through Voltage Controlled DG-Grid Interfacing Converters," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 59, pp. 444-455, Jan. 2012.

## 4.1. Improved CCM for harmonic compensation

To compensate distribution system harmonic distortions, current controlled interfacing converter with harmonic compensation capability has already been proposed in recent literature, such as in [71][72]. In contrast to conventional APFs where the fundamental power flow is regulated to stabilize DC link voltage, the fundamental power flow of DG units is normally determined by the available power from back stage energy resources. As a result, it is important to avoid any conflicts between harmonic compensation and power generation in a DG system.

To actively compensate distribution system harmonics using DG units, the measurement of harmonics is needed. It mainly consists of two types:

(1) Local load harmonic current compensation with load harmonic current acquisition.

(2) Harmonic mitigation with PoC harmonic voltage detection. Note that in this category, a converter sets the line harmonic current reference as the measured harmonic voltage multiplies by an adjustable gain. As a result, it can control the DG unit like a small resistor (also named as R-APF [71][72][80]) at selected harmonic frequencies. In addition to PCC harmonic voltage compensation, this method can also be used to mitigate the resonance propagation in a long feeder with nontrivial distributed capacitance. In this situation, the inverter shall be installed at the end of the feeder to realize the resonance termination.

To simplify the operation of interfacing converter with ancillary harmonic compensation capabilities while maintaining accurate power control, this section presents an improved current controller with two parallel control branches. The first control branch is responsible for an interfacing converter fundamental current control, and the second one is employed for a distribution system harmonic compensation. In contrast to the conventional control methods with harmonic detection, the PoC voltage or local load current can be directly used as the input of the proposed current controller, without affecting the harmonic compensation accuracy of the interfacing converter. Moreover, with the simple PI regulation in the outer power control loop, the proposed interfacing converter also achieves zero steady-state power tracking errors even when the fundamental current tracking has some steady-state errors.

# 4.1.1. Principle of harmonic compensation with PLL and harmonic detection

In this subsection, a single-phase interfacing converter using the compensation strategies in the conventional active power filters is briefly reviewed. Fig. 4. 1 illustrates the configuration of a single-phase system, where the interfacing converter is connected to the distribution system with a coupling choke ( $L_1$  and  $R_1$ ). There is a local load connected to the output terminal of the coupling choke. In order to improve the power quality of line current  $I_2$ , the harmonic component of local load current  $I_{Local}$  shall be absorbed through inverter output current  $I_1$  regulation.

The DG unit control scheme is illustrated in the lower part. As shown, the current reference consists of two parts ( $I_{ref_f}$  and  $I_{ref_h}$ ). The first one is the fundamental current reference  $I_{ref_f}$  for DG power control and the second one is the harmonic current reference  $I_{ref_h}$  for system harmonic compensation.

The fundamental current reference  $I_{ref_f}$  is synchronized with PCC voltage  $V_{PCC}$  as

$$I_{ref_{f}} = \frac{(\cos(\theta) \cdot P_{ref} + \sin(\theta) \cdot Q_{ref})}{E^{*}}$$
(4-1)

where  $\theta$  is the PCC voltage phase angle detected by PLL,  $P_{ref}$  and  $Q_{ref}$  are the real and reactive power reference, and  $E^*$  is the nominal voltage magnitude of the system.

The current reference generator in (4-1) is not accurate in controlling DG power, due to variations of the PCC voltage magnitude. To overcome this drawback, an improved power control method with the consideration of PCC voltage magnitude fluctuations is developed [81]. The details are described here.



Fig. 4. 1. Diagram of a single-phase interfacing converter using conventional current control method for local load harmonic compensation.

First, the fundamental PCC voltage  $V_{PCC\alpha_f}$  and its orthogonal component  $V_{PCC\beta_f}$  (quarter cycle delayed respect to  $V_{PCC\alpha_f}$ ) are obtained as

$$V_{PCC\alpha_f} = \frac{2\omega_{Dl}s}{s^2 + 2\omega_{Dl}s + \omega_f^2} \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(4-2)

$$V_{PCC\beta_f} = \frac{2\omega_{D1}\omega_f}{s^2 + 2\omega_{D1}s + \omega_f^2} \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(4-3)

where  $\omega_{D1}$  is the cut-off bandwidth of the filter and  $\omega_f$  is the fundamental angular frequency.

For a single-phase interfacing converter system, relationships between the power reference and the fundamental reference current can be established in the artificial stationary  $\alpha - \beta$  reference frame as shown in (4-4) and (4-5)

$$P_{ref} = 1/2 \cdot (V_{PCC\alpha_f} \cdot I_{ref\alpha_f} + V_{PCC\beta_f} \cdot I_{ref\beta_f})$$
(4-4)

$$Q_{ref} = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \left( V_{PCC\beta_f} \cdot I_{ref\alpha_f} - V_{PCC\alpha_f} \cdot I_{ref\beta_f} \right)$$
(4-5)

where  $I_{ref\alpha_f}$  and  $I_{ref\beta_f}$  are the interfacing converter fundamental current reference and its orthogonal component in the artificial  $\alpha - \beta$  stationary reference frame. Similarly,  $V_{PCC\alpha_f}$  and  $V_{PCC\beta_f}$  are PCC fundamental voltage and its orthogonal component. According to (4-4) and (4-5), the instantaneous fundamental current reference  $I_{ref_f}$  of a single-phase system can be obtained as

$$I_{ref_f} = I_{ref\alpha_f} = \frac{2(V_{PCC\alpha_f} \cdot P_{ref} + V_{PCC\beta_f} \cdot Q_{ref})}{V_{PCC\alpha_f}^2 + V_{PCC\beta_f}^2}$$
(4-6)

To absorb the harmonic current of local nonlinear load, the output current harmonic reference  $(I_{ref_h})$  is determined as

$$I_{ref_{h}} = G_{Har}(s) \cdot I_{Local} = \sum_{h=3,5,7,9\dots} \frac{2\omega_{D2}s}{s^2 + 2\omega_{D2}s + \omega_h^2} \cdot I_{Local}$$
(4-7)

where  $G_{Har}(s)$  is the transfer function of the harmonic extractor. To realize selective harmonic compensation performance,  $G_{Har}(s)$  is designed to have a set of band-pass filters with cutoff frequency  $\omega_{D2}$ .

With the derived fundamental and harmonic current references, the interfacing converter output current reference is written as  $I_{ref} = I_{ref_f} + I_{ref_h}$ . Afterwards, the proportional and multiple resonant controllers are adopted to ensure current tracking as

$$V_{Inv}^{*} = G_{cur}(s) \cdot (I_{ref} - I_{1})$$

$$= (k_{p} + \sum_{h=f,3,5,\dots,15} \frac{2k_{ih}\omega_{ch}s}{s^{2} + 2\omega_{ch}s + \omega_{h}^{2}}) \cdot (I_{ref_{f}} + I_{ref_{h}} - I_{1})$$
(4-8)

It should be pointed out that the objective of local load harmonic compensation is to ensure sinusoidal line current  $I_2$  in Fig. 4. 1, and the local load current is measured to realize this task. For the harmonic filtering using harmonic voltage detection, the harmonic current reference is calculated as

$$I_{ref_h} = \left(-\frac{1}{R_{\nu}}\right) \cdot \left(G_{Har}(s) \cdot V_{PoC}\right)$$
(4-9)

where  $R_V$  is the virtual damping resistance at harmonic frequencies and  $V_{PoC}$  is the DG unit installation point voltage. With this harmonic current reference (4-9), the interfacing converter essentially works as a small equivalent harmonic resistor, when it is viewed at power distribution system level [82]. For the sake of simplicity, only interfacing inverter installed at end the end of a long feeder is considered for case study, as illustrated in Fig. 4. 2. The DG feeder is modeled by an LC ladder. By providing sufficient damping effects to the long feeder, the voltage quality at different positions of the feeder can be improved.

# 4.1.2. Proposed harmonic compensation method

For the local load harmonic current compensation using harmonic current detection or the harmonic compensation using voltage detection, the harmonic current is absorbed by the interfacing converter. Consequently, interactions between the converter harmonic current and the grid harmonic voltage may cause some steady-steady DG harmonic power offset [83]. Nevertheless, the power control using fundamental current reference in (4-6) still operates in an open-loop manner, which can not address the power offset contributed by harmonics interactions. In order to achieve accurate power control performance in current



Fig. 4. 2. Diagram of a single-phase interfacing converter using conventional current control method for feeder resonance mitigation.

controlled DG units, the instantaneous fundamental output current reference can be determined by a simple closed-loop power control strategy as

$$I_{ref_f} = g_1 \cdot V_{PCC\alpha} + g_2 \cdot V_{PCC\beta}$$
(4-10)

where  $V_{PCC\alpha}$  is the non-filtered PCC voltage expressed in the  $\alpha - \beta$  reference frame ( $V_{PCC\alpha} = V_{PCC}$ ) and  $V_{PCC\beta}$  is its orthogonal component.

The gains g1 and g2 are adjustable and they are used to control DG unit real and reactive power, respectively. The detailed regulation law is shown in (4-11) and (4-12) as

$$g_1 = (k_{p1} + \frac{k_{I1}}{s}) \cdot (\frac{1}{\tau s + 1} \cdot P_{ref} - P_{DG}) + \frac{P_{ref}}{(E^*)^2}$$
(4-11)

$$g_2 = (k_{p2} + \frac{k_{I2}}{s}) \cdot (\frac{1}{\tau s + 1} \cdot Q_{ref} - Q_{DG}) + \frac{Q_{ref}}{(E^*)^2}$$
(4-12)

where  $k_{p1}$ ,  $k_{I1}$ ,  $k_{p2}$ ,  $k_{I2}$  are proportional and integral control parameters,  $P_{ref}$  and  $Q_{ref}$  are the real and reactive power references,  $E^*$  is the nominal voltage magnitude of the DG unit,  $\tau$  is the time constant of first-order low-pass filters.  $P_{DG}$  and  $Q_{DG}$  are measured DG power with low pass filtering as

$$P_{DG} = \frac{1}{2(\tau s + 1)} \cdot (V_{PCC\alpha} \cdot I_{1\alpha} + V_{PCC\beta} \cdot I_{1\beta})$$
(4-13)

$$Q_{DG} = \frac{1}{2(\tau s + 1)} \cdot (V_{PCC\beta} \cdot I_{1\alpha} - V_{PCC\alpha} \cdot I_{1\beta})$$
(4-14)

where  $I_{1\alpha}$  is the non-filtered interfacing inverter output current expressed in the stationary  $\alpha - \beta$  reference frame  $(I_1 = I_{1\alpha})$  and  $I_{1\beta}$  is the delayed orthogonal component. Note that in (4-13) and (4-14), the power offset caused by harmonic voltage and harmonic current interactions is also included.

Although the proposed closed-loop power control method eliminates power tracking errors, it can be seen that the fundamental current reference in (4-10) has some distortions if PCC voltage is distorted. When it is applied to the current

controller in (4-8), the distorted fundamental current reference affects the performance of harmonic current tracking.

To overcome this drawback, an improved proportional and resonant controller with two control branches is proposed as

$$V_{Inv}^{*} = \frac{2k_{if}\omega_{c}s}{s^{2} + 2\omega_{c}s + \omega_{f}^{2}} \cdot (I_{ref_{f}} - I_{1})$$

$$= G_{f}(s) \cdot (I_{ref_{f}} - I_{1}) + G_{h}(s) \cdot (I_{ref_{h}} - I_{1})$$

$$(4-15)$$

$$= G_{f}(s) \cdot (I_{ref_{f}} - I_{1}) + G_{h}(s) \cdot (I_{ref_{h}} - I_{1})$$

As shown, the fundamental current reference in (4-10) is regulated by the "power control" branch in (4-15). As only fundamental resonant controller is adopted in this branch, the impacts of harmonic components in  $I_{ref_f}$  can be automatically filtered out. Therefore, the power control branch cannot introduce any obvious harmonic disturbances to the harmonic control branch in (4-15). Meanwhile, the harmonic current reference  $I_{ref_h}$  is regulated by the "harmonic control" branch, where only harmonic resonant controllers are included. Considering the control of non-characteristic harmonics in the system, a small proportional gain  $k_p$  is used to ensure better harmonic current tracking.

As fundamental resonant controller is not included in the harmonic control branch, it is possible to remove the harmonic extraction blocks in (4-7). Accordingly, the local load current or PoC voltage without any filtering can be directly used as the input of the harmonic control branch. Note that when the harmonic current reference  $I_{ref_h}$  is set to zero, the harmonic control branch ensures that the inverter output current is ripple-free. This is very similar to the performance of conventional DG unit without any compensation, where the DG unit current is controlled to be sinusoidal.

In summary, the harmonic current reference in (4-15) can have three options as given in (4-16)

$$I_{ref_h} = \begin{cases} I_{Local} & \text{Local nonlinear load compensation} \\ -V_{PoC} / R_V & \text{Harmonic voltage compensation} \\ 0 & \text{Harmonic current rejection} \end{cases}$$
(4-16)

With the proposed method in (4-15) and the control reference in (4-16), it seems there is a complication. When the local load current or the PoC voltage are directly employed as the input of the harmonic control branch and the proportional gain  $k_P$  is used in (4-15), the output of harmonic control branch has some fundamental component. These fundamental components may cause interferences with the power control branch. As a result, the fundamental current tracking has some steady-state errors. However, further considering that the fundamental current tracking in (4-15) essentially behaves as an inner loop of the proposed closed-loop DG unit power ( $P_{DG}$  and  $Q_{DG}$ ) regulation in (4-10), the DG unit still has zero steady-state power control error even when its fundamental current tracking has some errors.

The diagram of the proposed control method is presented in Fig. 4. 3. It shows that the PLL and the harmonic detection in the conventional harmonic compensation schemes are removed from the proposed interfacing converter digital controller. Also an accurate real and reactive power control is guaranteed by two PI regulators in the power control loop.

Note that this proposed control method using two decoupled terms can also be used to realize many other control objectives, which are traditionally challenging for conventional closed-loop control. In addition, this idea is extended to realize control of DG voltage and line current at different frequencies, as shown in the next chapter.



Fig. 4. 3. Diagram of an interfacing converter with the proposed control scheme.

# 4.2. Improved VCM for distribution system PCC harmonic voltage compensation

For microgrid applications, especially considering its autonomous islanding operation requirement, direct voltage support from interfacing converter is required. Unfortunately, CCM cannot directly provide voltage support to the system. Hence, the VCM based interfacing converter control methods are also proposed. To facilitate the sharing of load demand in an islanding microgrid with multiple DG units, VCM based on V-f droop control (real power-frequency droop and reactive power-voltage magnitude droop) is usually adopted to control the DG interfacing converters. In this case, DG unit interfacing converter can be controlled to emulate the behavior of synchronous generators. With VCM, virtual inertia [98] can be produced and it can be used to improve the transient performance of the power system. When DG unit is controlled to emulate synchronous generator, interfacing converters can also collaborate with real distributed synchronous generators.

Although VCM has unique advantage for islanding microgrid application, the harmonic compensation schemes which are traditionally used for APF applications cannot be directly implemented in the VCM controlled interfacing converters. This is mainly because VCM method does not have direct control of inverter line current. In order to overcome this limitation, a novel VCM based harmonic control method, which does not require line current tracking loops, is developed in this section. The proposed voltage controlled method is very flexible and it has similar compensation performance compared to the conventional current controlled compensation method.

The simplified equivalent circuit of a DG unit with VCM is shown in Fig. 4. 4, where the interfacing converter is interconnected to the PCC with an LC filter, and the filter capacitor voltage is controlled to integrate the DG system to grid. To ensure the stability of VCM operation, the inductive series feeder impedance  $Z_{feeder}$  between LC filter and PCC is required (This can be done by adopting transformers or additional coupling choke, if necessary). Note that for the interfacing converter with an LCL filter, the filter capacitor voltage can also be controlled, and the line side choke impedance is treated as a part of the feeder impedance. To simplify the discussion, the grid is represented as a voltage source  $V_{Grid}$  and the grid impedance  $Z_{Grid}$ . The harmonic current from the nonlinear load at PCC and can flow to either grid side or DG side, depending on how the interfacing converter voltage control strategy is. The DG interfacing converter controller using double-loop voltage scheme is shown in the lower part of this figure.

First, the power flow of the DG unit is regulated by the well-understood frequency and voltage magnitude control as

$$f_{DG} = f^* + D_P \cdot H_{LPF}(s) \cdot (P_{ref} - P_{Inst})$$

$$(4-17)$$

$$E_{DG} = E^* + (D_q + \frac{k_E}{s}) \cdot H_{LPF}(s) \cdot (Q_{ref} - Q_{Inst})$$
(4-18)



Fig. 4. 4. Diagram of an interfacing converter controlled by VCM.

where  $f^*$  and  $f_{DG}$  are the nominal and DG reference frequencies.  $E^*$  and  $E_{DG}$  are the nominal and DG reference voltage magnitudes.  $D_p$  and  $D_q$  are the droop coefficients for the real power and reactive power control, respectively.  $H_{LPF}(s)$ in (4-17) and (4-18) is the low pass filter to reduce the ripples in the calculated instantaneous real and reactive DG power ( $P_{Inst}$  and  $Q_{Inst}$ ).  $k_E$  in (4-18) is the integral gain, which ensures the steady-state reactive power tracking error during interfacing converter grid-connected operation. It should be noted that  $k_E$  needs to set to zero if the DG unit switches to autonomous islanding operation. For an islanding system with multiple DG units, the controllers in (4-17) and (4-18) can automatically set the frequency and voltage magnitude to an equilibrium point, which ensures power sharing between them. This control method is also often named as "*V-f* droop control" is the literature [51][52].

With the derived frequency and voltage magnitude reference, a ripple-free instantaneous voltage reference  $V_{ref_f}$  can be determined.

In the interfacing converter controller, the PCC harmonic voltage is also detected. The DG harmonic voltage reference  $V_{ref_h}$  is determined according to the PCC harmonic voltage  $V_{PCC_h}$  as

$$V_{ref_h} = -G_h \cdot V_{PCC_h} \tag{4-19}$$

where  $G_h$  is a gain which controls the PCC harmonic voltage at the harmonic order *h*. The DG unit interfacing converter can work under difference control mode by changing the value of the gain  $G_h$ .

With the derived fundamental and harmonic voltage references, the interfacing converter voltage reference  $V_{ref}$  is derived as

$$V_{ref} = V_{ref\_f} + \sum_{h} V_{ref\_h}$$
(4-20)

In the inner voltage tracking part, a wide bandwidth voltage controller shall be used to realize satisfied closed-loop *LC* filter capacitor voltage tracking. If the dynamics of inverter closed-loop voltage tracking is ignored, it can assume that the interfacing converter harmonic voltage  $V_{C_n}$  (the harmonic voltage of the LC filter capacitor) equals to the harmonic voltage reference  $V_{ref h}$  as

$$V_{c_h} = V_{ref_h} \tag{4-21}$$

Afterwards, the equivalent harmonic impedance  $Z_{DG_h}$  of the entire DG unit (including DG unit feeder impedance) at PCC can be derived through simple manipulations as

$$I_{2_h} = (V_{C_h} - V_{PCC_h}) / Z_{feeder_h} = -(1 + G_h) V_{PCC_h} / Z_{feeder_h}$$

$$Z_{DG_h} = -V_{PCC_h} / I_{2_h} = Z_{feeder_h} / (1 + G_h)$$
(4-22)

where  $I_{2_h}$  is the line harmonic current and  $Z_{feeder_h}$  is the harmonic impedance of the feeder between DG installation point and PCC. This equivalent impedance at harmonic frequencies is also shown in the left side of Fig. 4. 5.

From the above analysis, it is obvious that by properly controlling the interfacing converter harmonic voltage with a positive feedback gain of  $G_h$ , the



Fig. 4. 5. Simplified equivalent circuit at harmonic frequency.

DG unit harmonic impedance can be scaled down by a factor of  $(1+G_h)$ . Therefore, the harmonic impedance at DG side can be substantially lower than that at the grid side. As a result, most of the nonlinear load current is absorbed by the DG unit, leaving an improved grid current and PCC voltage. Obviously, a higher  $G_h$  value further reduces the PCC voltage harmonics.

With  $G_h = 0$ , the system is a standard voltage controlled DG unit without any active compensation. The harmonic current can be shared automatically according to the DG side and grid side harmonic impedances. This is in contrast to the current controlled method, where the interfacing converter line current is sinusoidal if the active power filtering function is not enabled.

Furthermore, it is well known that the focus of *V*-*f* droop control of parallel DG systems is the fundamental power flow and therefore the DG line current is prone to have harmonic problems. If desired, this proposed method can also be used to control the inverter line current  $I_2$  with lower harmonics and better THD to meet the present grid connection requirement. This can be done by using a negative feedback gain (-1<*G*<sub>h</sub><0), so that the DG equivalent impedance is increased at the harmonic frequencies. As a result, the PCC harmonic voltage is amplified compared to the conventional *V*-*f* droop control. Indeed, if inverter line harmonic similar to the conventional current controlled interfacing converter without any active harmonic compensation.

Therefore, with different compensation requirements or operation objectives, the value of  $G_h$  can be controlled adaptively (with a theoretical range from -1 to  $\infty$ ). Since a high value of  $G_h$  tends to cause over modulation problems in the interfacing converter, a practical top limit of  $G_h$  should be selected carefully. Finally, it is important to note that  $G_h$  should not be less than -1, as this case introduces capacitive equivalent impedance, which may induce some additional system resonances. In this work,  $G_h > 0$  is named as harmonic compensation mode,  $G_h = 0$  is named as uncontrolled mode, and  $G_h < 0$  is defined as harmonic rejection mode.

## 4.3. Verification results

In order to verify the correctness of the proposed CCM and VCM strategies, comprehensive simulated and experimental results are obtained.

# 4.3.1. CCM based compensation scheme verification

# • Simulation results of CCM based interfacing converter with local nonlinear load

First, the CCM controlled DG unit with a local diode rectifier load is tested in the simulation. The configuration of the system is the same as Fig. 4. 1 and PCC is connected to a stiff controlled voltage source (to emulate the main grid). The main grid voltage contains 2.8% 3<sup>rd</sup> and 2.8% 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic voltage. In this simulation, the reference power is set to 600W and 200Var. The detailed parameters of the system are provided in TABLE. 4. 1.

When the local load harmonic current is not compensated by the interfacing converter (corresponding to  $I_{ref_h} = 0$  in (4-15) and (4-16)), the performance of the interfacing converter is shown in Fig. 4. 6. It can be seen from Fig. 4. 6(b) that the converter output current is sinusoidal with 5.57% THD. At the same time, the harmonic load current flowing to the main grid is illustrated in Fig. 4. 6(a).
TABLE. 4. 1. Parameters in for a single-phase 230V/1KVA interfacing converter with CCM

System Parameter	Value	
Single-phase grid voltage	Simulation 230V/50Hz	
Single phase gna voltage	Experiment 115V/50Hz	
inverter filter	L <sub>1</sub> =6.5mH (0.039pu), R <sub>1</sub> =0.15Ω (0.003pu)	
Grid feeder	L <sub>grid</sub> =3.4mH (0.020pu), R <sub>grid</sub> =0.15Ω (0.003pu)	
LC ladder with five	L=1.0mH (0.006pu), C=25µF (0.42pu) f	
identical LC filter	each LC filter	
Sampling/Switching	20kHz/10kHz	
frequency		
Power Control Parameter	Value	
Real power control $k_{p1}$ , $k_{l1}$	$k_{p1}=0.00001, k_{11}=0.001$	
Reactive power control	$k_{p2}$ =0.00001, $k_{12}$ =0.001	
$k_{p2}, k_{12}$		
LPF time constant $ au$	0.0322 Sec	
Current control	Value	
Parameter	Value	
Proportional gain $k_p$	48	
Resonant gains kin	1500( <i>h=f</i> ); 900 ( <i>h</i> =3, 5, 7, 9); 600 (h=11, 13,	
	15)	
$R_{\rm V}$ (for long feeder	5Ω	
resonance mitigation)		



Fig. 4. 6. CCM interfacing converter during harmonic rejection. (a: line load current *I*<sub>Local</sub>.)

Fig. 4. 7. CCM interfacing converter during local harmonic compensation. (a: line current  $I_2$ ; b: output current  $I_1$ ; c: local current  $I_2$ ; b: output current  $I_1$ ; c: local load current *I*<sub>Local</sub>.)

Once the local load harmonic current compensation is activated by setting  $I_{ref_h} = I_{Local}$  in the proposed method, the performance of the system is shown in Fig. 4. 7. Although harmonic extractions are not used in this simulation, the proposed method can still realize satisfied local load harmonic current



Fig. 4. 8. Power control reference during local load harmonic compensation. (a: PCC voltage and fundamental current reference  $I_{ref_{-}f}$ , b: power control gains g1 and g2). (Simulation)

Fig. 4. 9. Power flow of the CCM based interfacing converter during local load harmonic current compensation. ( $P_{ref}$ =600W and  $Q_{ref}$ =200Var.) (Simulation)

compensation, resulting in an enhanced line current quality with 5.88% THD. Meanwhile, interfacing converter output current is polluted with 201.5% THD.

For the converter operating under local load harmonic compensation mode, its fundamental current reference adjusted by the proposed closed-loop power control scheme is shown in Fig. 4. 8(a). As the DG unit also provides 200Var reactive power to the grid, it can be seen that the fundamental current reference is slightly lagging of the PCC voltage.

The effectiveness of the proposed closed-loop power control strategy is verified in Fig. 4. 9, where the real and reactive power is calculated by (4-13) and (4-14). When the conventional open-loop power control schemed in (4-6) is applied, it can be noticed that the DG real and reactive power control is not accurate. On the other hand, as the proposed control strategy regulates DG output power in a closed-loop manner, it guarantees zero steady-state power tracking error.

# • Simulation results of CCM based interfacing converter with long underground feeder

R-APF through voltage detection can be used to compensate different types of harmonic distortions. In this section, a DG unit installed at the end of a long feeder is considered for case study. To emulate the long feeder with nontrivial parasitic capacitance, an LC ladder five cascaded LC filters (see Fig. 4. 2) is connected between the utility mains and the DG unit. The inductance and capacitance of each LC filter is 1mH and  $25\mu$ F, respectively. A single-phase diode rectifier is placed at the upstream of the feeder to excite some resonance. The performance of this system is shown from Fig. 4. 10 to Fig. 4. 14.



Fig. 4. 10. PoC voltage and the fundamental current reference for DG unit with long feeder under harmonic rejection control. (a: PCC voltage  $V_{PCC}$ ; b: fundamental current reference  $I_{ref_f}$ .) (Simulation)



Fig. 4. 11. Performance of the DG unit with long feeder under harmonic rejection control. (a: grid current  $I_{grid}$ ; b: inverter output current  $I_1$ ; c: Load current  $I_{Load}$ .)) (Simulation)



Fig. 4. 12. PoC voltage and its corresponding fundamental current reference during feeder resonance voltage compensation. (a: PoC voltage  $V_{PoC}$ ; b: fundamental current reference  $I_{ref_f}$ .)(Simulation)

Fig. 4. 13. Performance of the DG unit during feeder resonance voltage compensation. (a: grid current  $I_{grid}$ ; b: output current  $I_1$ ; c: Load current  $I_{Load}$ .) (Simulation)



Fig. 4. 14. Power flow of the DG unit with LC ladder. ( $P_{ref}$ =1000W and  $Q_{ref}$ =0 Var). (Simulation)

The performance of the proposed current controller under harmonic rejection mode ( $I_{ref_{-h}} = 0$ ) is given in Fig. 4. 10 and Fig. 4. 11. As shown in the upper part of Fig. 4. 10, the PoC voltage is distorted with 13.6% THD, due to the resonance aggregated in the LC ladder. Since the fundamental current ( $I_{ref_{-f}}$ ) is synchronized with the non-filtered PoC voltage and its orthogonal component, it is also distorted as presented in the lower part of Fig. 4. 10.

Although the fundamental current reference derived by (4-10) is distorted, it can be seen from Fig. 4. 11(b) that the inverter output current is sinusoidal with

5.61% THD. Meanwhile, the main grid current contains non-trivial harmonics with 34.2% THD.

When the feeder resonance voltage compensation is enabled by controlling the interfacing converter as a virtual resistance (Rv=5) at selected harmonic frequencies, corresponding responses of the system are shown in Fig. 4. 12 and Fig. 4. 13. In contrast to the performance in Fig. 4. 10, Fig. 4. 12 shows that the PoC harmonic voltage is mitigated and its THD reduces to 3.07%.

The associated current waveforms during feeder resonance voltage compensation are shown in Fig. 4. 13. It is obvious that inverter output current has more distortions (with 35.09% THD), while the main grid current THD reduces to 8.12%.

Finally, the power flow performance of the DG unit using the proposed power control scheme is shown in Fig. 4. 14. From the time range 0 sec to 1.0 sec, the DG unit is controlled to eliminate interfacing converter output current harmonics  $(I_{ref_{-h}} = 0)$ . From 1.0 sec to 1.5 sec, feeder resonance voltage compensation is slowly activated by changing Rv from  $\infty$  to 5 $\Omega$ . It can be seen that the power control is always accurate during the transitions between different control modes.

# • Experimental results of CCM based interfacing converter with local nonlinear load

Similar tests are also conducted in the laboratory prototype, where a singlephase *Danfoss* inverter is connected to a scaled down single-phase grid with 115V/50Hz voltage. The real-time code for the experiment is generated by dSPACE 1005.

First, the performance of the proposed CCM in addressing local load harmonic is tested. The detailed system configuration and parameters can be seen from Fig. 4. 1 and TABLE. 4. 1, respectively. In order to absorb the switching ripples of the inverter, a small shunt capacitor  $(2\mu F)$  is also connected at PCC.



Fig. 4. 15. Performance with local nonlinear load. DG unit works under harmonic rejection mode (a: PCC voltage 250v/div; b: line current 10A/div; c: inverter output current 10A/div; d: local load current 10A/div.) (Experiment)



Fig. 4. 16. Performance with local nonlinear load. DG unit works under harmonic rejection mode. (a: PCC voltage 250v/div; b: fundamental current reference  $I_{ref_{f}}$  10A/div.) (Experiment)

Fig. 4. 15 shows the performance of the interfacing converter operating in harmonic rejection mode, where the real and reactive power references are 200W and 500Var. Fig. 4. 15 (b) and (c) show that the inverter output current is sinusoidal and the local load harmonic current is pushed to the main grid side. In this case, the THDs of output current ( $I_1$ ) and line current ( $I_2$ ) are 5.16% and 41.73%, respectively. Meanwhile, due to the harmonic voltage drops on the grid feeder ( $L_{grid}$  and  $R_{grid}$ ), the PCC voltage is also distorted with 9.49% THD.

By using the DAC (digital to analog converter) ports of dSPACE controller, the fundamental current reference during harmonic rejection operation is captured in the middle of Fig. 4. 16. As the fundamental current reference is derived from the combination of non-filtered PCC voltage and it conjugated component, it is also distorted. Nevertheless, thanks to the unique feature of the proposed controller, inverter output current is still sinusoidal.



Fig. 4. 17. Performance with local nonlinear load. DG unit works under local load harmonic compensation mode. (a: PCC voltage 250v/div; b: line current 10A/div; c: inverter output current 10A/div; d: local load current 10A/div.) (Experiment)



Fig. 4. 18. Real and reactive power flow using the proposed closed-loop power control method. (Under local nonlinear load compensation mode and the PoC voltage magnitude is reduced to 106V) (**Experiment**)



Fig. 4. 19. Real and reactive power flow using the conventional open-loop power control method in (1). (Under local nonlinear load compensation mode and the PoC voltage magnitude is reduced to 106V) (**Experiment**)

When the interfacing converter works at local load harmonic compensation mode, the corresponding performance of the system is shown in Fig. 4. 17. In this experiment, the measured local load current is directly employed as the input of the harmonic control branch. It shows that the local load harmonic current is compensated by the interfacing converter, resulted in an improved line current (with 3.64% THD) in Fig. 4. 17(b). At the same time, the interfacing converter output current is polluted with 51.08% THD.

The real and reactive power control under harmonic compensation mode is also tested. To demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed closed-loop power control method, the magnitude of main grid voltage is intentionally reduced to 106V. The performance using the proposed power control method is shown in Fig. 4. 18, where the real and reactive power references have a step jump from 100W/250Var to 200W/500Var. It is obvious that the proposed method maintains an accurate power tracking even when the main grid voltage varies.

The power control performance using the fundamental current reference in (4-1) is also illustrated in Fig. 4. 19. In this experiment,  $E^*$  in (4-1) is fixed to nominal voltage magnitude 115V. In contrast to the performance using the proposed closed-loop power control, the variation of main grid voltage magnitude introduces nontrivial steady-state real and reactive power control errors.

# • Experimental results of CCM based interfacing converter with voltage detection

To produce some feeder resonance propagation, an LC ladder consists of five LC filter components is used as the feeder. The parameters of each LC filter are 1mH and  $25\mu$ F. The corresponding performances are shown from Fig. 4. 20 to Fig. 4. 23.

In the first test, the interfacing converter works under harmonic rejection mode. Due to the disturbance of diode rectifier at the upstream of the LC ladder (see Fig. 4. 2), the voltages at different nodes of the LC ladder are distorted. Fig. 4. 20 shows the waveforms of the distorted voltages. The THDs of node 1, 3, and PoC voltage are 11.46%, 14.09%, and 17.03%, respectively. It proves that feeder voltage quality is sensitive to upstream nonlinear load disturbance when the conventional interfacing converter without active resonance damping control is installed at the end of a feeder.

During interfacing converter harmonic current rejection operation, the fundamental current reference is shown in Fig. 4. 21 (b). As the fundamental current is directly derived from the non-filtered PoC voltage, it is also distorted. Nevertheless, the interfacing converter output current in Fig. 4. 20(d) is still sinusoidal with 6.02% THD.

The performance of feeder resonance voltage mitigation using virtual harmonic resistance (Rv) is shown Fig. 4. 22 and Fig. 4. 23. In this case, a 5 $\Omega$  harmonic virtual resistance is used in (4-16). Compared to the situation using harmonic rejection control, the control of virtual damping resistance can effectively mitigate voltage distortions in the LC ladder, leaving an enhanced voltage quality. The voltage THDs of node1, node3, and PoC are 7.49%, 5.54%, and 5.25%, respectively.

In the case of feeder resonance voltage mitigation, the fundamental current reference as shown in Fig. 4. 23(b) contains less distortion as compared to the case



Fig. 4. 20. Performance with an upstream LC ladder. DG unit works under harmonic rejection mode. (a: node1 voltage 250v/div; b: node3 voltage 250v/div; c: PoC voltage 250v/div; d: Inverter output current 5A/div.) (**Experiment**)



Fig. 4. 21. Performance with an upstream LC ladder. DG unit works under harmonic rejection mode. (a: PoC voltage 250v/div; b: fundamental current reference  $I_{ref f}$  5A/div.) (Experiment)



Fig. 4. 22. Performance with an upstream LC ladder. Interfacing converter works under harmonic compensation mode. (a: node1 voltage 250v/div; b: node3 voltage 250v/div; c: PoC voltage 250v/div; d: inverter output current 5A/div.) (Experiment)



Fig. 4. 23. Performance with an upstream LC ladder. Interfacing converter works under harmonic compensation mode. (a: PoC voltage 250v/div; b: fundamental current reference  $I_{ref_f}$  5A/div.) (Experiment)

in Fig. 4. 21(b). However, since the input of the harmonic control branch is not zero, it can be seen that the interfacing converter output current in Fig. 4. 22(d) is polluted with 28.25% THD.

#### 4.3.2. VCM based compensation scheme verification

In addition to the performance of interfacing converter using CCM, the VCM based compensation method is also tested by simulation and experiments in a three-phase laboratory prototype. The results are shown in Fig. 4. 24, Fig. 4. 25, and Fig. 4. 26. The parameters of the setup can be seen in TABLE. 4. 2.

#### Simulated results of VCM based interfacing converter

Fig. 4. 24 shows the results without any harmonic compensation. In this simulation, the interfacing converter LC filter capacitor voltage  $V_c$  (see Fig. 4.

4(b)) is controlled with pure sinusoidal voltage. In this case, the interfacing converter and grid share the nonlinear load current as can be seen from Fig. 4. 24 (c) and (d). Consequently, the PCC voltage is distorted due to the nonlinear currents through the grid impedance.

To improve the PCC voltage, harmonic compensation is implemented as shown in Fig. 4. 25(with  $G_5=12$ ,  $G_7=12$ ,  $G_{11}=5$ ). As the DG equivalent harmonic impedance ( $Z_{DG_h}$ ) at harmonic frequencies is reduced by a factor of  $(1 + G_h)$ , the interfacing converter absorbs most of the load nonlinear currents as can be seen in Fig. 4. 25(d). As a result, the grid current and PCC voltage are improved. Finally, the harmonic rejection mode is tested and the results are presented in Fig. 4. 26. As shown, with  $G_h$ =-1, the interfacing converter line current is controlled to be sinusoidal (see Fig. 4. 26(d)) due to the very high DG equivalent harmonic impedance at harmonic frequencies. In this case, the grid provides all nonlinear load current, and therefore the grid current and PCC voltage are further distorted compared to the harmonic uncontrolled mode in Fig. 4. 24.

The associated harmonic analysis of PCC voltages under different operation modes is provided in Fig. 4. 27. As shown, the PCC voltage has almost 6%  $5^{\text{th}}$  harmonic voltage and the THD is 6.72% when the conventional voltage control without any active PCC harmonic control is adopted in the interfacing converter. On the other hand, when harmonic compensation control is adopted, the  $5^{\text{th}}$ 

Parameters	Simulations	Experiments
Grid voltage	104V, 60Hz (3 phase)	104V, 60Hz (3 phase)
DC link voltage	260V	260V
LC filter	$L_1$ = 1.25mH (0.219pu), $C_f$ =	$L_1$ = 1.25mH (0.219pu), $C_f$ =
	40µF (0.03pu)	40µF (0.03pu)
DG Impedance	$R_{feeder} = 1\Omega (0.436 pu),$	$R_{feeder} = 1\Omega (0.436 pu),$
	$L_{feeder} = 5$ mH (0.873pu)	$L_{feeder} = 5$ mH (0.873pu )
Grid impedance	$R_{grid}$ = 1 $\Omega$ (0.436pu), $L_{grid}$ =	$R_{grid}$ = 1 $\Omega$ (0.436pu), $L_{grid}$ =
	5mH (0.873pu)	5mH (0.873pu)
Switching frequency	12kHz	12kHz
Power reference	P*=300W, Q*=125Var	P*=120W, Q*=75Var

TABLE. 4. 2. Parameters of a three-phase 104V/5KVA inverter controlled by VCM





Fig. 4. 24. VCM based interfacing converter without compensation: (a) PCC phase voltage, (b) DG phase voltage, (c) grid current, (d) line current. (**Simulation**)

Fig. 4. 25. VCM based interfacing converter with PCC harmonic compensation: (a) PCC phase voltage, (b) DG phase voltage, (c) grid current, (d) line current. (**Simulation**)



Fig. 4. 26. Voltage control method with harmonic rejection: (a) PCC phase voltage, (b) DG phase voltage, (c) grid current, (d) line current. (**Simulation**)

harmonic voltage at PCC is reduced to around 1.5% and the THD is reduced to 2.43%. Finally, the harmonic rejection mode introduces a further polluted PCC voltage with THD of 10.08%.

#### • Experimental results of VCM based interfacing converter

Experiments are also conducted on a three-phase grid-connected interfacing converter to verify the proposed VCM based PCC harmonic voltage compensation scheme. In the experiment, a three-phase programmable power supply is used to represent the grid, and the three-phase interfacing converter system is controlled by a DSP-FPGA platform.



Fig. 4. 27. Harmonic analysis of PCC voltage (VCM). (Simulation)

The performance of the uncontrolled mode (without harmonic control) is shown in Fig. 4. 28, in which the interfacing converter and grid share the nonlinear PCC load current. Since the DG real and reactive power references are relatively small in the experiment, the grid current contains higher fundamental current. Without harmonic compensation, the THD of PCC voltage and grid current are 10.5% and 16.9% respectively.

When the PCC harmonic compensation is implemented (with  $G_5=7.5$ ,  $G_7=3.4$ ,  $G_{11}=0$ ), the interfacing converter absorbs the nonlinear load current. As a result, both the grid current and PCC voltage are improved as shown in Fig. 4. 29. In this case, the THD of PCC voltage and grid current is improved to 5.2% and 6.6% respectively.

For the harmonic rejection mode, the interfacing converter line current is controlled to contain very few harmonics as the DG unit equivalent impedance increases significantly at the selected harmonic frequencies. It can be seen from Fig. 4. 30 that most of the nonlinear load current is supplied through the source, resulting in a further deteriorated PCC voltage. With harmonic rejection control, the THD of PCC voltage and grid current are 15.3% and 26.3% respectively.



Fig. 4. 28. Voltage control method without harmonic compensation: (a) PCC line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (b) DG line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (c) grid current (5A/div), (d) DG current (5A/div). (Experiment)



Fig. 4. 29. Voltage control method with harmonic compensation: (a) PCC line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (b) DG line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (c) grid current (5A/div), (d) DG current (5A/div). (Experiment)



Fig. 4. 30. Voltage control method with harmonic rejection: (a) PCC line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (b) DG line-to-line voltage (200V/div), (c) grid current (5A/div), (d) DG current (5A/div). (Experiment)

#### 4.4. Summary

This chapter proves that the interfacing converter can also be used to provide very flexible power line conditioning services. First, the current controlled interfacing converter is studied and an improved current control scheme with closed-loop power control is proposed. By using two well decoupled terms to realize fundamental and harmonic components tracking, the proposed method features many advantages compared to the conventional harmonic compensation methods. The first advantage is the reduced computational load. The proposed method can realize harmonic compensation without using any harmonic detection processes or phase-locked loops. Therefore, it is very suitable for low cost interfacing converter with limited computing capability. Additionally, this proposed method also ensures zero steady-state power control errors even when the harmonic compensation function is enabled in the interfacing converter.

Further considering that distributed power generation systems can be controlled to emulate the behavior of synchronous generator through voltage control, this chapter discusses the PCC harmonic voltage compensation scheme using voltage controlled interfacing converter. By deducting the harmonic voltage reference from the fundamental voltage reference, this proposed method can realize very flexible control of PCC harmonic voltage without having any closedloop regulation of interfacing converter line current. Compared to the current controlled method that is only effective for grid-tied converters, this proposed control method can be used for both grid-tied and islanding applications.

Finally, inspired by the idea of fundamental and harmonic component tracking scheme in the proposed CCM, a hybrid control method for voltage and current tracking is proposed in this work, and is discussed in Chapter 5.

## **Chapter 5**

# Hybrid Voltage and Current Control Method to Improve DG Units Performance

Inspired by the previously proposed CCM with two decoupled control branches, a hybrid control method (HCM) is proposed in this chapter. The HCM realizes the control of DG fundamental voltage and line harmonic current at the same time. Accordingly, it is more flexible compared to CCM and VCM and it can be used to realize better harmonic compensation for both grid-tied and islanding power distribution systems. Additionally, the frequency adaptive HCM is also developed to address the impact of frequency deviation in a microgrid. Both simulated and experimental results verify the correctness of the proposed method.

### 5.1. The proposed HCM

Resonant controllers have a high gain at the selected frequency, and this gain decreases rapidly when the frequency is out of the bandwidth of a resonant controller. Due to this unique frequency selective feature, an improved CCM, which controls the fundamental and harmonic current tracking, has been applied to grid-connected interfacing converter as shown in Chapter 4. By using similar techniques, it is also possible to control the capacitor voltage and line current at

Publications out of this chapter:

<sup>(1)</sup> J. He and Y. W. Li, "Hybrid Voltage and Current Control Approach for DG-Grid Interfacing Converters with LCL filters," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 60, pp. 1797-1809, May 2013.

<sup>(2)</sup> J. He, Y. W. Li, and F. Blaabjerg, "Flexible Microgrid Power Quality Enhancement Using Adaptive Hybrid Voltage and Current Controller," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, in press.

different frequencies.

For the VCM without any active harmonic compensation as shown in Chapter 4, the instantaneous voltage reference  $V_{ref}$  is almost ripple-free. This is because the droop control coefficients  $D_p$  and  $D_q$  in (4-17) and (4-18) are typically small and low pass filters are used in the DG real and reactive power calculation. Accordingly, it can be concluded that DG output power flow can be regulated through only fundamental capacitor voltage control using fundamental resonant controller. Considering that only interfacing converter line harmonic current regulation is needed to compensate power distribution system harmonics, corresponding harmonic resonant controllers can be used to realize this task.

With the above considerations, a hybrid voltage and current controller is proposed for interfacing converter with an LCL filter. It can be seen from (5-1) that the proposed controller has three parallel control branches as

$$V_{Inv}^{*} = G_{Vol}(s) \cdot (V_{ref} - V_{C}) + G_{Cur}(s) \cdot (I_{ref} - I_{2}) + G_{AD}(s) \cdot I_{1}$$
(5-1)

where the first term is responsible for controlling LCL filter capacitor voltage, the second term realizes closed-loop control of LCL filter line current, and the third term is a damping term, which measures the inverter output current  $I_1$  to achieve active damping.

The voltage tracking controller in (5-1) is shown in (5-2) as

$$G_{Vol}(s) = \frac{2k_{if}\omega_{ch}s}{s^{2} + 2\omega_{ch}s + \omega_{f}^{2}}$$
(5-2)

where  $k_{if}$  is the resonant controller gain in the voltage tracking controller. The purpose of term (5-2) is to control only the fundamental component of capacitor voltage, as the reference voltage  $V_{ref}$  derived from droop control contains only the fundamental voltage. It has been revealed that the proportional gain has very limited contribution to the voltage control dynamics and it is even removed in the

controller in [89]. Therefore, only fundamental frequency resonant controller is used for voltage tracking.

The second branch in (5-1) is the harmonic current control branch, which is described as

$$G_{\rm cur}(s) = k_p + \sum_{h=3,5,..} \frac{2k_{ih}\omega_{ch}s}{s^2 + 2\omega_{ch}s + \omega_h^2}$$
(5-3)

where  $k_p$  is the proportional gain,  $k_{ih}$  is the resonant controller gain at the selected harmonic frequencies,  $\omega_h$  is the angular frequency at the selected harmonic frequencies,  $\omega_{ch}$  is the cut-off bandwidth, and h is the harmonic order.

The harmonic current controller in (5-3) is used to track the harmonic current reference. Considering that line current may have some non-characteristic harmonic compensation, a small proportional gain  $k_p$  is used in (5-3) to achieve better harmonic tracking.

Since there is no fundamental frequency resonant controller in (5-3) and the gain  $k_p$  is small, the regulation of line harmonic current and DG fundamental voltage are very well decoupled.

Finally, the controller in the third term is obtained as

$$G_{AD}(s) = k_{AD} \tag{5-4}$$

The major purpose of using this damping term is to provide good damping to the LCL filter resonance. This is similar to the internal impedance in the GCC scheme. In this case, the inverter output current is measured to realize the active damping.

Fig. 5. 1 is the diagram of a hybrid controller. It shows that three parallel branches are used in the controller, and they are responsible for filter capacitor fundamental voltage tracking, line current harmonic tracking, and LCL filter resonance damping, respectively.



Fig. 5. 1. Diagram of a hybrid voltage and current controller.

#### 5.2. Flexible operation of DG units using HCM

By using the proposed HCM, an interfacing converter can operate with great harmonic compensation flexibility when it is connected to a power distribution system, as shown in Fig. 5. 2. Furthermore, the transition between the grid-connected mode and islanding mode can be realized seamlessly. The details are described below:

• Local load harmonic compensation

The primary aim of using (5-3) is to control the line harmonic current. When the reference current  $I_{ref}$  is selected as the harmonic current  $I_{Local_h}$  of local load, this term controls the interfacing converter to compensate harmonics produced by local load, leaving an improved current injection  $I_{Inj}$  to PCC. The local load harmonic current is detected using a harmonic detector  $H_{Har}(s)$  as

$$I_{Local,h} = H_{Har}(s) \cdot I_{Local} = \frac{s^2 + (\omega_f)^2}{s^2 + 2\omega_D s + (\omega_f)^2} \cdot I_{Local}$$
(5-5)

where  $I_{Local}$  is the local load current and  $H_{Har}(s)$  is the harmonic component extractor with bandwidth  $\omega_D$ .



Fig. 5. 2. Simplified diagram of a DG unit connected to distribution system.

Further investigation finds that (5-3) has very small gain at the fundamental frequency. Hence, to realize the purpose of shunt active harmonic filtering, the measured local current  $I_{Local}$  can even be directly used as the reference current  $I_{ref}$  in (5-1) while without involving any harmonic extraction. This feature is similar to the CCM that has been proposed in Chapter 4.

#### • PCC harmonic voltage compensation

It should be pointed out that when the HCM is used to compensate local load harmonics, it cannot directly regulate the PCC voltage quality of the system. For instance, interactions between the shunt capacitor bank at PCC and inductive grid feeder may cause some PCC voltage distortions even when the local load harmonic current is properly compensated by the DG unit interfacing converter. To address this issue, the R-APF concept as discussed in Chapter 4 can also be realized by using the proposed HCM in a similar way.

First, the PCC harmonic voltage  $V_{PCC,h}$  needs to be detected as

$$V_{PCC,h} = H_{Har}(s) \cdot V_{PCC}$$
(5-6)

where  $V_{PCC}$  is the PCC voltage. With the knowledge of PCC harmonic voltages, the reference current of HCM can be obtained as

$$I_{ref} = -V_{pcc,h} / R_V \tag{5-7}$$

where the coefficient  $R_V$  is designed to determine the reference current in the HCM. By using (5-7), the DG unit interfacing converter also works as a virtual damping resistor at the selected harmonic frequencies.

• Line current harmonic rejection

In addition to harmonic compensation ability, when  $I_{ref}$  in (5-1) is set to zero, it reduces interfacing converter line current harmonics. In this case, the steady-state performance is similar to that in an interfacing converter with conventional CCM.

Fig. 5. 3 illustrates a complete schematic diagram of a single-phase interfacing converter system. The converter is interconnected to PCC with an LCL filter and the local load is connected at the output terminal of LCL filter. The diagram of the controller is given in the lower part of Fig. 5. 3. It mainly consists of three control loops. The inner loop is the HCM controller, which has been given in Fig. 5. 1. The references of HCM are determined according to outer loop, intermediate loop, and system power quality enhancement task. The outer loop is the droop control which controls the output power of the DG unit through adjusting the voltage reference  $V_{ref_f}$  as

$$f_{DG} = f^* + D_P \cdot H_{LPF}(s) \cdot (P_{ref} - P_{Inst})$$
(5-8)

$$E_{DG} = E^* + (D_q + \frac{k_E}{s}) \cdot H_{LPF}(s) \cdot (Q_{ref} - Q_{Inst})$$
(5-9)

where  $f^*$  and  $f_{DG}$  are the nominal and DG reference frequencies.  $E^*$  and  $E_{DG}$  are the nominal and DG reference voltage magnitudes.  $D_p$  and  $D_q$  are the droop coefficients for the real power and reactive power control, respectively.  $k_E$  is the integral gain which ensures zero reactive power control errors for grid-tied interfacing converters at the steady-state.  $H_{LPF}(s)$  in (5-8) and (5-9) is the low pass filter.

The droop control for VCM as shown in Chapter 4 is developed based on the assumption of inductive impedance between filter capacitor and PCC [87]. In



Fig. 5. 3. Diagram of interfacing converter controlled by HCM.

order to compensate the impacts of resistive feeder in some direct coupled DG units using output LC filters, inductive virtual series impedance is often produced through interfacing converter control [87] and [88]. This virtual fundamental frequency impedance control formulates the intermediate virtual impedance loop. To emulate the behavior of series impedance in a single-phase system, the corresponding voltage drop  $V_V$  shall be calculated as

$$V_{V} = R_{Vf} \cdot I_{2,f} - 2\pi f^{*} \cdot L_{Vf} \cdot I_{2,f\_delay}$$
(5-10)

where  $R_{Vf}$  and  $L_{Vf}$  are the virtual resistance and inductance produced by interfacing converter control.  $I_{2,f}$  is the fundamental current and  $I_{2,f\_delay}$  is obtained by delaying  $I_{2,f}$  for quarter fundamental cycle.

The fundamental current  $I_{2,f}$  in (5-10) is obtained as

$$I_{2,f} = H_f(s) \cdot I_2 = \frac{2\omega_D s}{s^2 + 2\omega_D s + (\omega_f)^2} \cdot I_2$$
(5-11)

where  $H_f(s)$  is a fundamental component detector realized by a band-pass filter with the bandwidth  $\omega_D$ .

The voltage drop on the virtual impedance shall be deducted from  $V_{ref_f}$ , and the voltage reference for voltage control branch in HCM is determined as

$$V_{ref} = V_{ref\_f} - V_V$$
(5-12)

where  $V_{ref}$  is the revised voltage reference..

### 5.3. Modeling of interfacing converter with HCM

It is well understood that the conventional voltage and current controlled interfacing converter shall be modeled using Thevenin equivalent circuit and Norton equivalent circuit, respectively.

Since the proposed HCM provides an interfacing converter with unique hybrid voltage and current source features, the conventional Norton or Thevenin equivalent circuits cannot be directly applied to describe such a system. Instead, this section discusses a modified Thevenin and Norton equivalent circuits in Fig. 5. 4 and Fig. 5. 5 to address the modeling issues at the fundamental and harmonic frequencies.

First, similar to the analysis in Chapter 1, an LCL filter is presented in Fig. 5. 6, the filter impedances are expressed as  $z1 = L_1s + R_1$ ,  $z2 = L_2s + R_2$ , and  $zc = 1/(C_f s) + R_c$ . Accordingly, the following matrix equation can be established according to Kirchhoff's laws as

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_{\rm c} \\ I_{\rm 1} \\ I_{\rm 2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \\ a_{31} & a_{32} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} V_{\rm Inv} & V_{\rm PCC} \end{bmatrix}^{\rm T}$$
(5-13)

where the coefficients all to a32 is expressed as

$$a11 = \frac{z2 \cdot zc}{z1 \cdot z2 + z1 \cdot zc + z2 \cdot zc}$$



Fig. 5. 4. Modified Norton equivalent circuit for DG interfacing converter with HCM. (Valid at selected harmonic frequencies)



Fig. 5. 5. Modified Thevenin equivalent circuit for DG interfacing converter with HCM. (Valid at fundamental frequency)



Fig. 5. 6. The diagram of an LCL filter.

$$\begin{aligned} a_{12} &= \frac{z_1 \cdot z_c}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_c + z_2 \cdot z_c} ,\\ a_{21} &= \frac{z_2 + z_c}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_c + z_2 \cdot z_c} ,\\ a_{22} &= \frac{-z_c}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_c + z_2 \cdot z_c} ,\\ a_{21} &= \frac{z_c}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_c + z_2 \cdot z_c} ,\\ and \ a_{32} &= \frac{-(z_1 + z_c)}{z_1 \cdot z_2 + z_1 \cdot z_c + z_2 \cdot z_c} .\end{aligned}$$

Through simple manipulations on (5-1) and (5-13), and assuming  $V_{inv} = V_{inv}^*$ , the closed-loop current source model can be derived as shown in (5-14) and Fig. 5.4

$$I_{2} = G_{_{eq_{_{c}}}}(s) \cdot I_{_{ref}} + G_{_{dis_{_{h}}}}(s) \cdot V_{_{ref}} - Y_{_{eq_{_{-}HCM}}}(s) \cdot V_{_{PCC}}$$
(5-14)

where the coefficients  $G_{eq_c}(s)$  and  $G_{dis_h}(s)$  are the closed-loop gains of current and voltage references at harmonic frequencies. At the selected harmonic frequencies, the voltage reference  $V_{ref}$  shall be treated as a disturbance.  $Y_{eq_{HCM}}(s)$  is the parallel admittance of the modified current source. The detailed expressions of the gains are shown as

$$G_{aq_{c}}(s) = \frac{a_{31} \cdot G_{Cur}(s)}{1 + G_{ivol}(s) \cdot a_{11} + G_{Cur}(s) \cdot a_{31} - G_{AD}(s) \cdot a_{21}}$$
(5-15)

$$G_{dis_h}(s) = \frac{a_{31} \cdot G_{_{IGI}}(s)}{1 + G_{_{IGI}}(s) \cdot a_{11} + G_{_{Car}}(s) \cdot a_{31} - G_{_{AD}}(s) \cdot a_{21}}$$
(5-16)

$$Y_{eq_{-HCM}}(s) = \frac{a_{31} \cdot [G_{\text{power}}(s) \cdot a_{12} + G_{\text{harmonic}}(s) \cdot a_{32} - G_{\text{damping}}(s) \cdot a_{22}]}{1 + G_{ioi}(s) \cdot a_{11} + G_{our}(s) \cdot a_{31} - G_{aD}(s) \cdot a_{21}} - a_{32}$$
(5-17)

On the other hand, the interfacing converter needs to be modeled as a voltage source around the fundamental frequency. Accordingly, the PCC side LCL filter choke  $L_2$  is considered as a part of the DG unit feeder. The response of an LC filter can be obtained as

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_C \\ I_1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} b11 & b12 \\ b21 & b22 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} V_{bv} & I_2 \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(5-18)

The coefficients  $b_{11}$  to  $b_{22}$  are expressed as

$$b_{11} = \frac{z_c}{z_1 + z_c}$$
,  $b_{12} = \frac{-z_1 \cdot z_c}{z_1 + z_c}$ ,  $b_{21} = \frac{1}{z_1 + z_c}$ , and  $b_{22} = \frac{z_c}{z_1 + z_c}$ .

Similarly, through simple manipulations on (5-1) and (5-18), the closed-loop characteristic of a HCM controlled interfacing converter around fundamental frequency is given in (5-19)

$$V_{\rm c} = G_{eq_{\rm v}}(s) \cdot V_{\rm ref} + G_{dis_{\rm f}}(s) \cdot I_{\rm ref} - Z_{out_{\rm HCM}}(s) \cdot I_{\rm 2}$$
(5-19)

where the coefficients  $G_{eq_v}(s)$  and  $G_{dis_f}(s)$  are the closed-loop gains of voltage and current references at fundamental frequency. Around the fundamental frequency, the current reference for line harmonic current regulation shall be treated as a disturbance.  $Z_{out_HCM}(s)$  is the series impedance of the modified voltage source circuit. The detailed expressions of the gains in (5-19) are shown as

$$G_{_{eq,v}}(s) = \frac{b_{11} \cdot G_{_{vol}}(s)}{1 + G_{_{vol}}(s) \cdot b_{11} - G_{_{dv}}(s) \cdot b_{21}}$$
(5-20)

$$G_{ds_{-f}}(s) = \frac{b_{11} \cdot G_{Car}(s)}{1 + G_{ival}(s) \cdot b_{11} - G_{AD}(s) \cdot b_{21}}$$
(5-21)

$$Z_{_{out\_HCM}}(s) = \frac{b_{11} \cdot [G_{_{Iol}}(s) \cdot b_{12} + G_{_{Cur}}(s) - G_{_{AD}}(s) \cdot b_{22}]}{1 + G_{_{Iol}}(s) \cdot b_{11} - G_{_{AD}}(s) \cdot b_{21}} - b_{12}$$
(5-22)

#### Bode Plot Analysis

In this subsection, the Bode plot of the coefficients in (5-14) and (5-19) are plotted to analyze the features of interfacing converter controlled by HCM.

Fig. 5. 7 shows the current tracking gains  $G_{eq\_c}(s)$  in (5-14). In order to make the discussion more straightforward, the closed-loop gain  $G_{eq}(s)$  of the interfacing converter using conventional double-loop current control is also presented for comparison. With the HCM, the closed-loop magnitude response of  $G_{eq\_c}(s)$  is close to 0dB at the harmonic frequencies. It is obvious that the HCM has similar line current tracking gains compared to the conventional double-loop CCM ( $G_{eq}(s)$ ) at the selected harmonic frequencies. It is important to note that the focus of Fig. 5. 7 is the harmonic frequencies, as the interfacing shall be modeled as a voltage source at the fundamental frequency.

The disturbance from the voltage reference (see (5-14)) is also examined in Fig. 5. 8. As shown, the disturbance ( $G_{dis_h}(s)$ ) has very small gain at the harmonic frequencies. Further considering that the voltage reference is obtained from droop control with very little harmonics, the input of voltage reference disturbance here can be ignored for line harmonic current tracking.

The effects of parallel admittances are obtained in Fig. 5. 9. It can be seen that both  $Y_{eq}(s)$  using the conventional double-loop CCM and  $Y_{eq_{HCM}}(s)$  using the proposed HCM have limited gains at the selected harmonics. As a result, the line harmonic current control is not very sensitive to PCC voltage disturbances. If necessary, an additional compensator can be used to further alleviate the effects of parallel admittances [90].

Furthermore, the voltage source behavior of the HCM based interfacing converter around fundamental frequency is studied in Fig. 5. 10, Fig. 5. 11, and Fig. 5. 12. Note that the focus here is around the fundamental frequency. The response of the closed-loop voltage tracking gains is shown in Fig. 5. 10. As mentioned earlier, although the proportional gain  $k_p$  is removed from the voltage control branch  $G_{Vol}(s)$  in (5-1), the closed-loop tracking gain  $G_{eq_v}(s)$  has similar performance compared to the counterpart  $G_{eq}(s)$  using the traditional double-loop VCM. Consequently, the dynamics of the power control for an interfacing



Fig. 5. 7. Bode plot of current tracking gains  $G_{eq}(s)$  using conventional CCM and  $G_{eq_c}(s)$  using the proposed HCM. (Valid at selected harmonic frequencies)

Fig. 5. 8. Bode plot of disturbance gain  $G_{Dis_h}(s)$  using the proposed HCM. (Valid at selected harmonic frequencies)



Fig. 5. 9. Bode plot of shunt admittance  $(-Y_{eq}(s))$  using conventional CCM and  $(-Y_{eq_{HCM}}(s))$  using the proposed HCM.





Fig. 5. 10. Bode plot of voltage tracking gains  $G_{eq}(s)$  using conventional VCM and  $G_{eq\_v}(s)$  using the proposed HCM. (Valid at fundamental frequency).

Fig. 5. 11. Bode plot of disturbance gain  $G_{dis_f}(s)$  using the proposed HCM. (Valid at fundamental frequency).



Fig. 5. 12. Bode plot of series output impedance  $z_{out}(s)$  using conventional CCM and  $z_{out\_HCM}(s)$  using the proposed HCM. (Valid at fundamental frequency).

converter with HCM shall be close to the conventional VCM. This conclusion is verified by the simulation and experimental results later in this chapter.

Around the fundamental frequency, the effects of current reference in HCM to capacitor fundamental voltage tracking are presented in Fig. 5. 11. It is clear that the disturbance has a very limited gain around 60Hz and the disturbance effect can therefore be ignored.

Finally, the series impedances  $Z_{out}(s)$  with conventional double-loop VCM (13) and  $Z_{out\_HCM}(s)$  with the proposed HCM are compared in Fig. 5. 12. It shows that these two impedances have similar responses around 60Hz.

The above analysis confirms that the interfacing converter with HCM can be modeled by two decoupled equivalent circuits (Fig. 5. 4 and Fig. 5. 5) at the fundamental and selected harmonic frequencies, respectively. For the control parameter design in HCM, the damping term shall be first tuned to realize a well dampened LCL filter plant, similar to the design criteria for the proposed GCC in Chapter 2. Then the voltage and current control terms can be designed for good reference tracking. Due to the decoupled nature of the fundamental voltage control (power control term) and harmonic current control (power quality control term), their control parameters can be tuned independently, as long as the gain  $k_p$ in (5-3) is selected to be small enough.

# 5.4. Adaptive HCM to compensate impact of frequency disturbance

The control of power converter under the situation of grid frequency disturbance has received increasing attentions in recent years. In [91], the adaptive frequency estimation method is proposed and the estimated grid frequency is used to improve the performance of direct power control scheme for grid-tied inverters. Additionally, the resonant controller [92] and reduced order generalized integrator [93] are also revised in order to alleviate the impacts of frequency deviations in the grid-tied inverter systems.

In this section, the HCM is also used to address the impact of variable frequencies in power system. This revised HCM provides very good frequency adaptive feature especially considering that HCM is recommended to be used in microgrid applications with more frequency deviations, such as the frequency dips causes by droop control [96]. Moreover, this section also shows that the complexity of interfacing controller can be reduced via flexible utilization of the

proposed adaptive HCM. At first, the conventional real power-frequency droop control is replaced by a PI regulator when DG unit works in the grid-connected mode. Thus, accurate steady-state real power control is achieved even when the microgrid frequency varies. In contrast to [91] and [92] where the phase-locked loops (PLL) or frequency-locked loops (FLL) are used to determine the frequency of the microgrid, the frequency reference obtained from power control loop is directly adopted as a time-varying parameter of the proposed HCM. With this arrangement, the line current control accuracy can be improved in a PLL-less manners. Moreover, the proposed adaptive HCM is further exploited to simplify the power control and virtual impedance control loops. Note that similar idea can also be applied to CCM and VCM to improve the performance of interfacing converter under grid frequency disturbances. The details of the proposed adaptive HCM are shown below.

#### • Revised power control loop

During the grid-connected operation, the real power control scheme using (5-8) can achieve zero steady-state real power control error only when the main grid frequency is fixed at the nominal value. TABLE. 5. 1 illustrates the allowed grid frequency ranges for interconnecting wind turbines in Denmark. It shows that wind turbines need to avoid shunting down when there are only small amount of frequency variations in the main grid voltage.

In order to ensure accurate real power control of grid-connected DG system under grid voltage frequency disturbances, a simple integral term is added to the conventional real power -frequency control scheme. Thus, the revised power loop control scheme becomes

$$f_{DG} = f^* + (D_p + \frac{k_f}{s}) \cdot H_{LPF}(s) \cdot (P_{ref} - P_{Inst})$$
(5-23)

$$E_{DG} = E^* + (D_q + \frac{k_E}{s}) \cdot H_{LPF}(s) \cdot (Q_{ref} - Q_{Inst})$$
(5-24)

where  $k_f$  is the integral gain for real power control. Similar to  $k_E$  for reactive power control, the gain  $k_f$  is only effective in grid-connected operation and it

Frequency Range	Clearing Time
Less than 47.0 Hz	0.3sec
From 47Hz to 47.5Hz	10sec
From 47.5Hz to 48.0Hz	5min
From 48.0Hz to 49.0Hz	25min
From 49.0Hz to 50.2Hz	Continuous operation
From 50.2Hz to 53.0Hz	1min
Higher than 53.0Hz	0.3sec

TABLE. 5. 1. Requirement for integration wind turbines in Denmark [92].

needs to be set to zero in DG unit islanding operation. Note that the droop control is inherently sensitive to the disturbance from the main grid, due to the low pass filters used in the power calculation stage. The aim of integral control in (5-23) is to ensure zero steady-state real power control errors when grid frequency drifts from the nominal value. It can be seen from [94] that the grid frequency deviation is typically slow even when the synchronous generator failure occurs in the power system. Consequently, the proposed method is capable of addressing frequency variations in the grid-tied microgrid.

#### • Adaptive HCM

In addition to power control loop, the conventional HCM as discussed in the previous section is also designed to compensate fixed frequency harmonics in a microgrid. Note that the bandwidth ( $\omega_{ch}$ ) of resonant controllers as illustrated in (5-2) and (5-3) can be adjusted to make the closed-loop DG voltage and current tracking less sensitive to grid frequency deviation. When the fundamental frequency of the microgrid varies, the frequency deviation of system harmonics is in proportion to their respective harmonic orders. Therefore, harmonic resonant controllers with wide bandwidth have to be adopted. However, wide bandwidth harmonic resonant controllers may cause additional coupling that may adversely affect the stability of the DG system.

To ensure accurate current tracking even under adverse frequency conditions, a few adaptive controllers were proposed before. However, they were mainly applied to CCM based grid-connected inverter, in which the existing PLL is ready to provide instantaneous frequency information. For the HCM based DG unit operating in a PLL-less manner, the adoption of additional PLLs increases the complexity of DG control system. On the other hand, it can be seen that the microgrid frequency information has already been reflected in the real powerfrequency control scheme in (5-23). Indeed, to inject controllable real power to the microgrid, interfacing converter voltage must be synchronized with the microgrid voltage. In other words, the reference frequency in (5-23) always equals to the microgrid frequency at the steady-state. Based on this fact, the reference frequency  $f_{DG}$  can be directly adopted to construct adaptive resonant controllers. Accordingly, the voltage control and current control branches shall be updated as

$$G_{\rm vol}(s) = \frac{2k_{if}\omega_{ch}s}{s^2 + 2\omega_{ch}s + (2\pi f_{DG})^2}$$
(5-25)

$$G_{Cur}(s) = kp + \sum_{h=3,5,7,9} \frac{2k_{ih}\omega_{ch}s}{s^2 + 2\omega_{ch}s + (h2\pi f_{DG})^2}$$
(5-26)

It has been demonstrated that the resonant controller can be implemented using the concept of Second Order Generalized Integrator (SOGI) [95]. For the implementation of adaptive HCM using SOGI, the diagram is presented in Fig. 5. 13. It shows that the reference frequency  $f_{DG}$  from (5-23) is used to realize the frequency adaptive capability of HCM.



Fig. 5. 13. Implementation of frequency adaptive HCM using SOGI.

#### • Controller complexity reduction

With the revised power control loop in (5-23) and (5-24), and the adaptive HCM in (5-25) and (5-26), the control of the interfacing converters can be less sensitive to microgrid frequency variations. In this subsection, the control scheme is further simplified by removing some low/high pass filters in the power control and virtual impedance loops.

First, it can be noticed that the voltage reference  $V_{ref}$  from power control and virtual impedance loops are regulated by the voltage control branch of HCM, where only fundamental frequency resonant controller is adopted. Thus, the ripples in the voltage reference  $V_{ref}$  is automatically filtered out by  $G_{vol}(s)$  in (5-25). Due to this feature, it is practical to remove the low pass filter in the

reactive power-voltage magnitude control scheme and the fundamental component extraction in the virtual impedance loop. This can be done by setting  $H_{LPF}(s)=1$  in (5-24) and  $H_f(s)=1$  in the virtual impedance control loop (see (5-10)).

In order to maintain an excellent closed-loop harmonic current tracking using adaptive HCM, it is better to suppress the ripples of  $f_{DG}$  in (5-25) and (5-26). Accordingly, the low pass filter is still necessary in the real power-frequency control in (5-23).

Note that, the aforementioned simplified power control and virtual impedance loops without low/band pass filters are only effective for the DG unit operating in local harmonic compensation mode and DG harmonic rejection mode. When HCM switches to conventional VCM (harmonic uncontrolled mode) mode, the input of current control branch can be set to  $0 - V_c$  to reduce the filter capacitor voltage distortion.

The improved adaptive HCM control diagram is shown in Fig. 5. 14. As illustrated, it is also composed of three control loops. In the revised power control loop, the PI regulator is applied to maintain accurate real power control when microgrid frequency varies. Also, the low/band pass filters in the virtual impedance loop and the reactive power-voltage magnitude controller are removed in order to simplify the control system. Additionally, a set of adaptive SOGI based resonant controllers are adopted to form the HCM. The updates of adaptive DG controller compared to the conventional fixed frequency HCM controller are highlighted in Fig. 5. 14.



Fig. 5. 14. Diagram of frequency adaptive HCM.

### 5.5. Verification results

In order to verify the correctness of the proposed HCM, simulated and experimental results are obtained from a single phase DG unit.

### 5.5.1. Fixed frequency HCM verification

#### • Simulated results

The performances of interfacing converter using fixed frequency HCM are verified by both simulation and experiments. The parameters of the system are provided in TABLE. 5. 2.

At first, a single-phase grid-connected interfacing converter system is tested in the simulation. To make the comparison more obvious, a diode rectifier is adopted as the local load and a resistive load is employed as PCC load.
System Parameter	Value
	L1=1mH (0.027pu), R1=0.5Ω (0.035pu),L2=0.6mH
LCL filter	(0.016pu),R2=0.4Ω (0.028pu), Cf=15uF (0.082pu)
	and Rc=0.85Ω (0.059pu)
DC Link	180V/3000uF (16.36pu)
Switching frequency	12 kHz
Main grid	Single-phase 60V ( RMS) /60Hz
Grid feeder	Lgrid=0.6mH (0.016pu) and Rgrid=0.4Ω (0.028pu)
HCM Parameter	Value
$k_p$	3.75
$\omega_{ch}$	4rad/s
k <sub>ih</sub>	312.5 (h=1,3), 250 (h=5,7,9), 150 (h=11)
Power Control Parameter	Value
Real power control $D_P$	1/628 (islanding and grid-connected, droop
	control)
Reactive power control $D_O$	1/250 (islanding and grid-connected, droop
	control)
Reactive power control $K_E$	1/30 (grid-connected)
	0 (islanding)

TABLE. 5. 2. Parameters for fixed frequency HCM verification on a single-phase 120V/1KW inverter

When the grid-connected converter is controlled with the conventional VCM, the harmonic load currents are shared by the main grid current  $I_{grid}$  and the interfacing converter line current  $I_2$  as shown in Fig. 5. 15, where THDs of  $I_{grid}$  and  $I_2$  are 31.62% and 53.17%, respectively. In this occasion, DG capacitor voltage is almost ripple-free with only 0.61% THD.

Fig. 5. 16 depicts the grid-connected converter performance when the HCM with local nonlinear loads compensation is applied (corresponding to  $I_{ref} = I_{local}$  in HCM). As mentioned earlier, the harmonic extraction for conventional APFs is not used in this occasion. Since the local harmonic current is compensated by the DG unit and a linear load is placed at PCC, the main grid current  $I_{grid}$  is significantly improved with 6.85% THD. Meanwhile, the interfacing converter

line current is further pollution with 63.78% THD and the capacitor voltage THD is 2.90%.

Fig. 5. 17 demonstrates the performance of the system when the line harmonic current rejection (corresponding to  $I_{ref} = 0$ ) is selected for the HCM. As illustrated, almost all the harmonic current are pushed to the main grid side and the THDs of  $I_{grid}$  and  $I_2$  are 98.12% and 2.27%, respectively. At the same time, the capacitor voltage THD is 3.04%. This performance is similar to that of an interfacing converter controlled by the conventional CCM without power line conditioning, where resonant compensator significantly reduces line harmonic current.



Fig. 5. 15. Performance of interfacing inverter with HCM (local harmonic compensation) (a: inverter converter line current; b: main grid current; c: DG voltage). (Simulation)

Fig. 5. 16. Performance of interfacing inverter with HCM (local harmonic compensation) (a: inverter converter line current; b: main grid current; c: DG voltage). (Simulation)



Fig. 5. 17. Performance of interfacing inverter with HCM (line harmonic rejection) (a: inverter converter line current; b: main grid current; c: DG voltage). (Simulation)

The power tracking performance of the DG unit with both VCM and HCM is shown in Fig. 5. 18, where the reactive power reference is 0 during the whole process while the real power reference has a step increase from 30W to 140W at 2.5sec. It can be seen that the response of power control using HCM is the same as that using VCM. Note that there is noticeable power coupling in Fig. 5. 18 and power tracking response are slow. This is mainly caused by the adoption of low pass filters in the power calculation/measurement and the slow integral control of reactive power error in the voltage magnitude control in (5-8).

To test the response of HCM controlled interfacing converter to current reference changes, simulated results are obtained in Fig. 5. 19. It shows the performance of the interfacing converter when the HCM switches from local



Fig. 5. 18. Power flow during real reference step increase. (Simulation)



Fig. 5. 19. Control mode transfer performance in grid-connected operation. (a: DG line current; b: main grid current; c: DG voltage). (Transfer from local harmonic load compensation to line harmonic compensation at 4.5sec). (Simulation)



Fig. 5. 20. An islanding microgrid with two identical DG units. (DG1 controlled with line harmonic rejection; DG2controlled with local harmonic load compensation)

harmonic load compensation mode to line harmonic current rejection mode at 4.5sec.

The performance of HCM controlled interfacing converter in an islanding microgrid is also examined by the simulation. As shown in Fig. 5. 20, the islanding system consists of two DG units at the same power rating. A linear load is connected to DG1 and the nonlinear load is placed at DG2 terminal. In this case, the line current control objective of DG1 is to reduce its harmonic current by setting  $I_{ref} = 0$ , and DG2's task is to compensate its local harmonic current using  $I_{ref} = I_{Local}$  in the fixed frequency HCM.

The output power of these islanded DG units during a sudden increase of loads is shown in Fig. 5. 21. Similar to the islanding microgrid with the conventional VCM, it can be seen that proper power sharing can always be maintained.



(v) = 0.95 (v)

Fig. 5. 21. Power sharing in islanding DG units. (Simulation)

Fig. 5. 22. Line currents of DG units during loads variation. (Simulation)

The associated line currents of these two DG units are shown Fig. 5. 22. It is obvious that the loads current harmonics are absorbed by DG2 (THD=44.32%) and the line current of DG1 contains very little harmonics (THD=2.25%).

## • Experimental results

The experimental results are presented to verify the proposed HCM in gridconnected operation. First, Fig. 5. 23 shows the operation of an interfacing converter using the VCM. In this situation, the load harmonic current is shared by the DG unit and the main grid according to their respective harmonic impedances.

The steady-state performance of the DG unit using HCM has also been confirmed as presented in Fig. 5. 24 and Fig. 5. 25. In Fig. 5. 24, the interfacing converter works at the harmonic rejection mode. As a result, the local load harmonic current is pushed to the main grid side. When the interfacing converter with harmonic compensation is tested in Fig. 5. 25, the majority of the local load harmonic current flows to the DG unit side. Accordingly, the power quality of main grid current is improved. It can be noticed that the main grid current still contains some  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd}$  harmonic currents, as shown in Fig. 5. 25. This phenomenon is mainly caused by the measurement errors and the effects of parallel admittance  $Y_{eq \ HCM}(s)$  in the low-power prototype [90].



Fig. 5. 23. Experimental waveforms of grid-connected DG with VCM (a: PCC voltage; b: filter capacitor voltage; c: main grid current; d: DG line current). (Experiment)



Fig. 5. 24. Experimental waveforms of grid-connected DG with HCM (Line harmonic currents rejection. a: PCC voltage; b: filter capacitor voltage; c: main grid current; d: DG line current). (Experiment)



Fig. 5. 25. Experimental waveforms of grid-connected DG with HCM (Local harmonic currents compensation. a: PCC voltage; b: filter capacitor voltage; c: main grid current; d: DG line current). (Experiment)

## 5.5.2. Adaptive HCM verification

To evaluate the performance of the proposed adaptive HCM during system frequency deviations, comprehensive simulated and experimental results are obtained from a scaled 50Hz single-phase microgrid. In the experimental verification part, the DC link voltage of each DG unit is provided by an isolated high voltage DC supply from Delta Electronics, and the control code is generated by dSPACE 1005 and its peripheral FPGAs.

## • Islanding Operation

The effectiveness of the proposed adaptive HCM has been verified in an islanding microgrid with two DG units at the same power rating. Nevertheless, their interfacing converters are connected to PCC with different feeders. Fig. 5. 26 shows the configuration of the single-phase islanding microgrid and TABLE. 5. 3 illustrates key parameters of this system.

First, the fixed frequency HCM is applied to interfacing converter. In this case, HCM works in harmonic uncontrolled mode by setting the input of the current control branch as  $(V_{ref} - V_C)$ . Also, low pass filter and fundamental component extractor are used in the power control and virtual impedance control loops, respectively. Note that the virtual series impedance is only produced in DG1, in order to improve the reactive power sharing accuracy. The performance of the islanding system is shown in Fig. 5. 27. It can be seen that the voltages of DG1 and DG2 are sinusoidal and their THDs are 2.85% and 2.41%, respectively.

To demonstrate the impact of low pass filter (5-9) and fundamental component extractor (5-27) in the conventional fixed frequency HCM, the



Fig. 5. 26. Experimental single-phase islanding microgrid with two DG units.

performance without using them in DG1 is also tested. The corresponding waveforms are shown in Fig. 5. 28, where it can be seen that DG1 voltage has some distortions with 5.61%THD. At the same time, DG2 voltage is still sinusoidal.

The performance of using the proposed frequency adaptive HCM is given in Fig. 5. 29. In this situation, both of the DG units work under harmonic uncontrolled mode by setting the input of the current control branch as  $(0 - V_C)$ . The fundamental component extraction in the virtual impedance loop and the low pass filters in the reactive power-voltage magnitude control are removed from these DG units. As expected, the voltages of DG1 and DG2 are all sinusoidal with 2.91% and 2.48% THDs, respectively. However, due to the interactions between PCC shunt capacitor bank and DG unit LCL filters, it can also be noticed that the

DG Units Circuit Parameters	Value
Output inductor $L_1$ and $R_1$	DG1&DG2:1.5mH (0.033pu) and 0.05Ω (0.003pu)
Feeder inductor $L_2$ and $R_2$	DG1:3.0mH (0.065pu) and 0.1Ω (0.006pu)
	DG2:6.5mH (0.142pu) and 0.2Ω (0.012pu)
Filter capacitor C <sub>f</sub>	DG1&DG2: 25uF (0.112pu)
Rated voltage $f^*$ and $E^*$	50Hz and 110V (RMS)
DC link voltage $V_{dc}$	DG1&DG2: 250V
Switching/Sampling	10647
Frequency	10KH2
Power Control & Virtual	
Impedance Loops Parameters	value
$D_P$ and $K_{\rm f}$	DG1&DG2:1/3450 and 0
$D_Q$ and $K_{ m E}$	DG1&DG2:1/550 and 0
$\omega_{LPF}$	35rad/s
$L_{Vf}$ and $R_{Vf}$	DG1:3.5mH (0.076pu) and 0.1Ω (0.006pu)
	DG2:0mH (0pu)and 0Ω (0.0pu)
HCM Control Parameters	Value
$k_{if}$	700
$k_p$	2.4
k <sub>ih</sub>	500(h=3,5,7); 300(h=9)
$\omega_b$	2rad/s
k <sub>AD</sub>	-20
$\omega_D$	62.8rad/s

TABLE. 5. 3. Parameters for adaptive HCM verification (islanding operation) on singlephase inverters (120V/1KVA)



Fig. 5. 27. Performance of fixed frequency HCM operating in harmonic uncontrolled mode . (a: DG1 voltage 250V/div; b: DG2 voltage 250V/div; c: DG1 line current 10A/div; D: DG2 line current 10A/div.) (Experiment)

Fig. 5. 28. Performance of fixed frequency HCM operating in harmonic uncontrolled mode. (with simplified power control and virtual impedance control loops) (a: DG1 voltage 250V/div; b: DG2 voltage 250V/div; c: DG1 line current 10A/div; D: DG2 line current 10A/div.) (**Experiment**)

PCC voltage has nontrivial distortions with 17.63% THD.

The sharing of the load current corresponding to Fig. 5. 29 is shown in Fig. 5. 30. It has been pointed out in that the DG units working in VCM (harmonic uncontrolled mode) share PCC harmonic load according to the ratio of their respective feeder harmonic impedance ( $L_2$  and  $R_2$ ). As interfacing converters in this microgrid have mismatched harmonic feeder impedances, there are some harmonic circulating currents among the DG units. Fig. 5. 30(c) shows the difference between DG line currents ( $I_{2,DG1}-I_{2,DG2}$ ).

To improve the PCC voltage quality of this islanding micrgorid, the adaptive HCM switches to PCC harmonic voltage compensation mode and the coefficient  $R_V$  is set to 3.5 $\Omega$  in both of the DG units. Compared to the performance in Fig. 5. 29, the PCC harmonic voltage in Fig. 5. 31 is effectively compensated and the PCC voltage THD reduces to 6.69%.

Additionally, the sharing of load current under PCC harmonic voltage compensation mode is given in Fig. 5. 32. It shows that the difference between DG1 and DG2 line currents ( $I_{2,DG1}-I_{2,DG2}$ ) is reduced compared to its counterpart in Fig. 5. 30(c).



Fig. 5. 29. Performance of adaptive HCM operating in harmonic uncontrolled mode. (a: DG1 voltage 250V/div; b: DG2 voltage 250V/div; c: PCC voltage 250V/div.) (Experiment)



Fig. 5. 30. Performance of adaptive HCM operating in harmonic uncontrolled mode. (a: DG1 line current 10A/div; d: DG2 current line 10A/div; c: current difference 10A/div.) (**Experiment**)



Fig. 5. 31. Performance of adaptive HCM operating in PCC harmonic compensation mode. (a: DG1 voltage 250V/div; b: DG2 voltage 250V/div; c: PCC voltage 250V/div.)(Experiment)

Fig. 5. 32. Performance of adaptive HCM operating in PCC harmonic compensation mode. (a: DG1 line current 10A/div; d: DG2 line current 10A/div; c: current difference 10A/div.)(Experiment)

### Grid-Connected Operation

The grid-connected operation of a DG unit is investigated in this subsection. The configuration of the system is shown in Fig. 5. 33, where the DG unit is connected to PCC with an LCL filter. Note that there are two types of loads in this system. The first one is the interfacing converter local load, which is connected to the output terminal of the LCL filter. Meanwhile, PCC also has a few linear and nonlinear loads, which are separated from local load by the circuit breaker (CB). The key parameters of this grid-connected system are listed in TABLE. 5. 4.



Fig. 5. 33. Experimental single-phase grid-tied microgrid with single DG units.

TABLE. 5. 4. Parameters for adaptive HCM verification on a grid-tied singl-phase
120V/1KVA inverter

DG Unit Circuit Parameters	Value
Grid feeder $L_{grid}$ and $R_{gird}$	3mH (0.065pu) and 0.1Ω (0.006pu)
Output inductor $L_1$ and $R_1$	1.5mH (0.033pu) and 0.05Ω (0.003pu)
Feeder inductor $L_2$ and $R_2$	1.5mH (0.033pu) and 0.05Ω (0.003pu)
Filter capacitor $C_f$	12.5uF (0.056pu)
Rated voltage $\omega^*$ and $E^*$	314.15rad/s and 110V
DC link voltage $V_{dc}$	250V
Switching Frequency	10kHz
Power Control & Virtual	
Impedance Loops	Value
Parameters	
$D_P$ and $K_f$	1/4750 and 1/1180
$D_Q$ and $K_E$	1/350 and 1/45
$\omega_{LPF}$	35rad/s
$L_{Vf}$ and $R_{Vf}$	$0mH$ and $0\Omega$
HCM Control Parameters	Value
$k_{if}$	700
$k_p$	2.4
K <sub>ih</sub>	500(h=3,5,7); 300( <i>h=9</i> )
$\omega_{ch}$	2rad/s
k <sub>AD</sub>	-20
$\omega_E$	62.8rad/s

The steady-state performance of the interfacing converter operating at 50.5Hz main grid voltage frequency is obtained from Fig. 5. 34 to Fig. 5. 39. In Fig. 5. 34 and Fig. 5. 35, the DG unit power control loop adopts the controller in (5-28) to maintain zero steady-state power control errors. However, fixed frequency HCM with  $f^* = 50$ Hz in (5-2) and (5-3) is still employed for closed-loop current and voltage tracking.

Fig. 5. 34 shows the performance of the DG unit operating at local load harmonic compensation mode. It can be seen that the local load harmonic current are supplied by both PCC and DG unit. The distribution of local load harmonic current proves that fixed frequency HCM cannot fully compensate local load harmonics when the main grid appears frequency variations.

Likewise, the performance of the interfacing converter under line harmonic rejection mode is also investigated in Fig. 5. 35. When line harmonic rejection mode is employed, it is supposed to mitigate the harmonic distortions in the interfacing converter line current. However, due to the attenuation of closed-loop current tracking gain ( $G_{eq_c}(s)$  in (5-14)) at the characteristic harmonic frequencies, some sort of local load harmonic current still flows to the DG unit as shown in Fig. 5. 35 (c). As a result, the THD of interfacing converter line current is 27.05%.

The operation of DG unit using the revised power control scheme and the frequency adaptive HCM is also examined. In the first test, the local load harmonic compensation performance is shown in Fig. 5. 36. As the adaptive HCM can automatically adjust the band-pass frequencies of resonant controllers according to main grid frequency, it achieves better local load harmonic compensation compared to the case in Fig. 5. 34. When the harmonic current flowing from the local nonlinear loads is compensated by this control mode, the THD of injected current  $I_{Inj}$  (the current flowing to PCC after local load, see Fig. 5. 33) in Fig. 5. 36 is 5.41%.

When the control mode switches to interfacing converter line harmonic rejection mode, it can be seen from Fig. 5. 37 that all local load harmonic current flows to the PCC side and the interfacing converter line current distortion reduces to only 5.62% THD. In this case, as PCC voltage is distorted, the DG voltage is also distorted in order to maintain sinusoidal current flowing through the choke  $(L_2 \text{ and } R_2)$ .

If lower distortion of DG capacitor voltage is desired, the harmonic uncontrolled mode can be applied to the DG unit by setting the input of the





Fig. 5. 34. Grid-connected DG using fixed frequency HCM and revised power control loop operating in local load harmonic compensation mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b: DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load current 5A/div). (**Experiment**)

Fig. 5. 35. Grid-connected DG using fixed frequency HCM and revised power control loop operating in DG harmonic current rejection mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b: DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load current 5A/div.) (**Experiment**)



 $\begin{array}{c} {\rm Fek Stop} \\ {\rm GeV}_{PCC} \\ {\rm GeV}_{C} \\ {\rm GeV}_{C} \\ {\rm GeV}_{L_{2}} \\ {\rm Joh} T_{in} \\ {\rm Jeh} \\ {\rm Jech} \\ {\rm Jech} \\ {\rm Time: 10ms/dis} \end{array}$ 

Fig. 5. 36. Grid-connected DG using adaptive HCM operating in local load harmonic compensation mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b: DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load current 5A/div.) (**Experiment**)

Fig. 5. 37. Grid-connected DG using adaptive HCM operating in DG harmonic rejection mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b: DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div; e: Local load current 5A/div.) (**Experiment**)

current control branch as  $(0 - V_C)$ . Consequently, it can be seen from Fig. 5. 38 (b) that the DG voltage distortion is reduced to 4.84% THD.

Note that for the control modes as shown from Fig. 5. 36 to Fig. 5. 38, the PCC voltage distortion is not actively addressed. To compensate PCC voltage distortion, the PCC harmonic compensation mode is also applied to the





Fig. 5. 38. Grid-connected DG using adaptive HCM operating in DG harmonic uncontrolled mode. (a: PCC voltage 250V/div; b: DG voltage 250V/div; c: line current 5A/div; d: Injected current 5A/div e: Local load current 5A/div.) (Experiment)

Fig. 5. 39. Grid-connected DG using adaptive HCM operating in PCC harmonic compensation mode. (a: main grid voltage 250V/div; b: PCC voltage 250V/div; c: DG voltage 250V/div; d: line current 5A/div.) (Experiment)

interfacing converter. In this case, Rv in (5-7) is selected as 0.8 $\Omega$ . Accordingly, Fig. 5. 39 show that excellent PCC harmonic voltage compensation performance is realized in this control mode. The PCC voltage THD in Fig. 5. 39(b) is reduced to 4.72%.

## 5.6. Summary

A hybrid voltage and current control method (HCM) for DG interfacing converters with LCL filters is proposed. The proposed method realizes simultaneous control of fundamental capacitor voltage and harmonic line current. Therefore, it can overcome the limitations of the traditional voltage control method and current control method. In the proposed control scheme, the interfacing converter fundamental power control is regulated through the fundamental voltage tracking with droop control. At the same time, the harmonic line current is regulated to compensate the power distribution system harmonics or to improve the line current quality at the selected harmonic frequencies.

Additionally, the chapter also presents the frequency adaptive HCM to improve the performance of DG interfacing converter under grid frequency deviation conditions. First, the second order generalized integrators (SOGI) are used to construct the HCM and the resonant frequency of the SOGI is determined by the frequency reference in the outer power control loop. With this modification, the frequency estimation is not needed. In addition, some digital filters for the conventional harmonic compensation or the virtual impedance control can be removed with the help of the proposed adaptive HCM. Although the frequency adaptive control is only applied to HCM as an example, this idea can be extended to improve the performance of CCM and VCM based controllers in a similar manner.

# **Chapter 6**

## **Conclusions and Future Work**

From a power electronics perspective, harmonic distortions in the power distribution system are mainly caused by two sources: (1) interfacing converter circuits, control schemes, and couplings between multiple converters, and (2) nonlinear loads and passive components/filters in the power distribution system. To reduce the harmonic distortion in the power distribution system, improved DG interfacing converter control schemes are proposed in this thesis. Note that some control schemes in this thesis can be extended to three-phase three-wire system, as they are developed in the stationary reference frame without using frame transformations.

## 6.1. Conclusions

The conclusions from the research addressed in each chapter of the thesis are presented below.

## Chapter 2

To improve the line current quality of a DG unit, active damping methods can be implemented in the interfacing converter controller. In this chapter, a few well understood current control methods, including the single-loop, the doubleloop, and the deadbeat are evaluated. The GCC scheme is proposed to provide virtual impedance to the filter plant and the interfacing converter closed-loop equivalent circuit. To enhance the performance of deadbeat current control, a harmonic damping method using virtual harmonic impedance is introduced. This guarantees a high quality interfacing converter line current by adding a harmonic virtual damping resistor to the LCL filter plant.

## Chapter 3

Chapter 3 discusses an accurate equivalent circuit model that is valid for investigating the performance of parallel interfacing converters. As this proposed equivalent circuit can easily estimate the resonant frequencies of multiple parallel inverters, it helps the design and implementation of passive filters if conventional passive filtering methods are adopted by microgrid designers. The frequency domain analysis and extensive verification results in Chapter 3 show that the GCC and the virtual impedance aided deadbeat control schemes are effective in mitigating multiple resonances in parallel inverters.

### Chapter 4

Chapter 4 discusses ways in which low voltage power distribution system harmonic distortions can be compensated using a DG interfacing converter with active power line conditioning functions. CCM and VCM are both used for DG unit integration, therefore, their respective harmonic compensation schemes are developed. This chapter proposes a simple modified CCM that achieves accurate control of distributed generation of real and reactive power when the harmonic compensation is performed in the interfacing converters. The PLL and the harmonic detection, which are mandatory for conventional grid-connected APFs, can be avoided by using the proposed method. To provide harmonic compensation for the future islanding distribution systems, VCM based compensation strategies are proposed. The proposed VCM can be used for both grid-tied and islanding operations.

#### Chapter 5

An HCM scheme is proposed to realize the merits of both CCM and VCM, through simultaneous control of the interfacing converter fundamental voltage and the harmonic current. Interfacing converter control issues during power distribution system frequency deviations are also investigated in this chapter. A frequency adaptive HCM is presented to improve the performance of an interfacing converter under frequency varying situations. By using the frequency reference from the power control loop as a variable control parameter of HCM, the proposed frequency adaptive HCM scheme couples the power control loop and the voltage/current tracking loop. This modification makes HCM harmonic current tracking less sensitive to system frequency disturbances.

## 6.2. Thesis contribution

The research reported in this thesis contributes to the field of distributed generation interfacing converter control in four areas.

## 1) Virtual impedance based active damping

The analysis and control of virtual impedance is necessary to realize active damping of resonance. Previous research failed to clarify the effects and position of virtual impedance. The proposed GCC scheme with virtual impedance control provides straightforward parameter tuning. Moreover, the harmonic virtual impedance for improving the deadbeat control performance is realized without using additional sensors, and this harmonic virtual impedance is essentially a nonlinear virtual resistor that provides high impedance at fundamental frequency. This shows that virtual impedance can be more flexibly tuned than physical impedance, and the idea of nonlinear or harmonic selective virtual impedance can be extended to other controllers to improve the line current quality of gridinterfacing converters.

## 2) Accurate modelling of multiple parallel inverters

A straightforward closed-loop equivalent circuit is proposed to investigate couplings between multiple grid-tied inverters. This model accurately predicts the resonance frequency variations caused by parallel inverter interactions. With this model, the impacts of various types of current control schemes, including singleloop control, multi-loop control, and deadbeat control on microgrid damping can be evaluated. Accordingly, the analysis and modeling method can be used to guide the design and construction of future power electronics intensive systems. Further investigation suggests that the GCC scheme and the virtual impedance aided deadbeat current control scheme as presented in Chapter 2 can be used to effectively address the frequency-varying resonances in a multiple-inverter based grid-interactive microgrid.

#### 3) Active harmonic filtering provided by DG interfacing converters

A compensation method is proposed that uses interfacing converters to achieve harmonic filtering in the power distribution system. Considering that both CCM and VCM can be used to interconnect DG units to the power system, their corresponding harmonic compensation methods are developed. CCM based gridtied converters with low cost microcontrollers face a major challenge through conflicts between limited microcontroller computational capability and complicated PLL and harmonic detection schemes. To solve this issue, a CCM based harmonic filtering method without harmonic detection and PLL is proposed for interfacing converters with cost effective microcontrollers.

#### 4) Islanding system power quality enhancement

VCM and HCM with direct voltage support capability are mainly used for high power DG units, and the dual-mode (grid-tied and islanding) operation naturally requires strong microcontroller. To realize better harmonic compensation for future power electronics intensive power distribution systems, VCM and HCM are used to mimic the operation of distributed synchronous generators at fundamental frequency. Therefore, many operation schemes for synchronous generators can also be used for interfacing converters. Additionally, VCM and HCM can satisfy harmonic compensation without any interference with the control of the inverter at fundamental frequency. In other words, these proposed methods have the capability to control DG interfacing converters as virtual synchronous generators, while providing active power line conditioning services. Compared to VCM, HCM is an improved control scheme that provides direct closed-loop control of DG line current. The capability of HCM to address the impact of microgrid frequency deviation on harmonic compensation performance shows that the interfacing converter can be insensitive to frequency disturbances with the help of adaptive HCM.

## 6.3. Future work

Three areas where further work is needed are indicated.

# 1) Development of low switching frequency active damping methods for grid interfacing converters.

A few active damping methods are proposed in Chapter 2. However, these damping methods are developed based on relatively high switching frequency at a few kilohertz. In this case, the average model of interfacing converter is suitable for filter resonance investigation. Considering that the high power converter with less than one kilohertz switching frequency can be adopted for high power renewable energy resources integration, development of an enhanced damping method that is insensitive to a lower system state updating rate is recommended.

# 2) Distribution system harmonic compensation through collaborative control of multiple DG unit interfacing converters.

Harmonic compensation capability is successfully integrated in DG unit interfacing converters. When the harmonic compensation function is implemented in a large number of interfacing converters at the same time, multiple interfacing converters may compete with each other for harmonic compensation, adversely affecting the stability of the entire system. A supervisory central controller could be developed and installed in the power distribution system to assign optimal harmonic compensation to be shared by the interfacing converters.

#### 3) Other auxiliary functions using DG unit interfacing converters.

This thesis focuses on the harmonic compensation of distribution systems. It is possible to provide many other power quality enhancement services, such as reactive power support and imbalanced voltage compensation, through the flexible control of interfacing converters. It has already been specified by a few European counties that the DG unit can inject reactive power to the grid during main grid sags. In addition, the grid-tied converter can be controlled as negative sequence virtual impedance, which can reduce the imbalanced voltage of the system by absorbing the negative sequence current from local and PCC loads.

## References

- F. Katiraei and M. R. Iravani, "Power management strategies for a microgrid with multiple distributed generation units," IEEE Transaction on Power System, vol. 21. no.4, pp. 1821-1831, Nov. 2006.
- [2] W. EI-Khattam, Y. G. Hegazy, and M.M.A. Salama, "An intergrated distributed generation optimization model for distribution system planning," IEEE Transaction on Power System, vol. 20. no.2, pp. 1158-1165, May. 2005.
- [3] A. Keane and M. O'Malley, "Optimal allocation of embedded generation on distribution networks," IEEE Transaction on Power System, vol. 20. no.3, pp. 1640-1646, Aug. 2005.
- [4] N.S. Rau and Yih-Heui Wan, "Optimum location of resources in distributed planning," IEEE Transaction on Power System, vol.9, no.4, pp. 2014-2012, Nov. 1994.
- [5] J. M. Carrasco, L. G. Franquelo, J. T. Bialasiewwicz, E. Galvan, R. C. P. Guisado, M. A. M. Prats, J. I. Leon, and N. Moreno-Alfonso, "Power-Electronic systems for the grid integration of renewable energy sources: A survey," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 1002-1016, Aug. 2006.
- [6] F. Blaabjerg, Z. Chen, and S. B. Kjaer, "Power electronics as efficient interface in dispersed power generation systems," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 19, pp. 1184-1194, Sep. 2004.
- [7] Yaosuo Xue, Liuchen Chang, Sren Baekhj Kjaer, J. Bordonau, and T. Shimizu, "Topologies of single-phase inverters for small distributed power generators: an overview," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 1305-1314, Sept. 2004.
- [8] M. K. Richard and P. K. Sen, "Compact fluorescent lamps and their effect on power quality and application guidelines," IEEE Industry Application Society Annual Meeting (IAS), Oct. 2010.
- [9] Johan H. Enslin and Peter J.M. Heskes, "Harmonic interaction between a large number of distributed power inverters and the distribution network," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 1586-1593, Nov. 2004.
- [10] S. Balathandayuthapani, C.S. Edrington, S.D. Henry, and Jianwu Cao, "Analysis and control of a photovoltaic system: Application to a high-penetration

case study," IEEE Transaction on Power System, vol.22, no.4, pp. 1574-1582, Nov. 2007.

- [11] Yuanyuan Sun, Wilsun Xu, and J.G. Mayordomo, "A harmonically coupled admittance matrix model for AC/DC converters," IEEE Transaction on Power System, vol.22, no.4, pp. 1574-1582, Nov. 2007.
- [12] Online available: <u>http://www.pavouk.org/hw/lamp/en\_index.html</u>.
- [13] Y. Jing, L. Chen, A.B. Nassif, and W. Xu, "A frequency –domain harmonic model for compact fluorescent lamps," IEEE Transaction on Power Delivery, vol.25, no.2, pp. 1182-1189, Apr. 2010.
- [14] E.B. Moullin, "The external characteristic of a diode rectifier," Journal of the Institution of Electrical Engineers, vol.80, no.485, pp. 553-563, 1937.
- [15] H.W. Dommel, A. Yan, and W. Shi, "Harmonics from transformer saturation," IEEE Transaction on Power Delivery, vol.PARD-1, no.2, pp.209-215, Apr. 1986.
- [16] Ying-Yi Hong and Bo-Yuan Chen, "Locating switched capacitor using wavelet transform and hybrid principal component analysis network," IEEE Transaction on Power Delivery, vol.22, no.2, pp.1145-1152, Apr. 2007.
- [17] S. Lloyd and Yong Zhang, "A software design tool for the regulator-controlled induction motor," IEEE workshop on computers in power electronics, pp. 251-257, 1992.
- [18] Yen-Shin Lai, Po-Sheng Chen, Hsiang-Kuo Lee, and J. Chou, "Optimal common-mode voltage reduction PWM technique for inverter control with consideration of the dead-time effects-part II: applications to IM drives with diode front end," IEEE Transaction on Industry Application, vol.40, no.6, pp.1613-1620, Dec. 2004.
- [19] A.K. Verma, B. Singh, and D. T. Shahani, "Fuzzy-logic based MPPT control of grid interfaced PV generating system with improved power quality," 2012 IEEE Fifth Power India Conference, pp. 1-6, Dec. 2012.
- [20] P. Cygan and J. R. Laghari, "Models for insulation aging under electrical and thermal multistrss," IEEE Transaction on Electrical Insulation, ""
- [21] E. F. Fuchs, D. J. Roesler, F. S. Alashhab, "Sensitivity of electrical appliances to harmonics and fractional harmonics of the power system voltage. Part I: Transformers and induction machines", IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 437-444, Apr. 1987.

- [22] T. Bellarmine, "Noise induced from power lines in voice frequency communication," Proceeding of the IEEE southeaston 2000. pp. 9-12.
- [23] F. Blaabjerg, R. Teodorescu, M. Liserre, and A.V. Timbus, "Overview of control and grid synchronization for power generation systems," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 1398-1409, May. 2006.
- [24] E. F. Fuchs, D. J. Roesler, K. P. Kovacs, "Sensitivity of electrical appliances to harmonics and fractional harmonics of the power system voltage. Part II: Television sets, Induction watt-hour meters and universal machines", IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol 2, no. 2, pp. 445-453, Apr. 1987.
- [25] M.E. Elkhatib, R. EI-Shatshat, and M.M.A. Salama, "Novel Coordinated voltage control for smart distribution networks with DG," IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, vol 2, no. 4, pp. 598-605, Apr. 2011.
- [26] Online available: <u>http://www.solaredge.com/files/pdfs/products/inverters/se-inverter-compliance-with-lvgc.pdf</u>
- [27] IEEE Recommended Practices and Requirements for Harmonic Control in Electrical Power Systems, IEEE Standard 519-1992.
- [28] IEEE Standard for Interconnecting Distributed Resources with Electric Power Systems, IEEE Standard. 1547-2003.
- [29] Y. W. Li, "Control and resonance damping of voltage source and current source converters with LC Filters," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 56, no.5, pp. 1511-1521, May. 2009.
- [30] R. Pena-Alzola, M. Liserre, F. Blaabjerg, R. Sebastian, J. Dannehl, and F.W. Fuch, "Analysis of the passive damping losses in LCL filter based grid converters," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 28, no.6, pp. 2642-2646, Jun. 2013.
- [31] A. A. Rockhill, M. Liserre, R. Teodorescu, and P. Rodriguez, "Grid-filter design for a multi-megawatt medium-voltage voltage-source inverter," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 1205–1217, Apr. 2011.
- [32] J. Dannehl, M. Liserre, and F.W. Fuchs, "Filter-based active damping of voltage source converters with LCL filter," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 3623–3633, Aug. 2011.
- [33] M. Liserre, R. Teodorescu, and F. Blaabjerg, "Stability of photovoltaic and wind turbine grid-connected inverters for a large set of grid impedance values," IEEE Transaction on industry application., vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1146-1154, Sep./Oct. 2006.

- [34] F. Liu, S. Duan, J. Yin, B. Liu, and F. Liu, "Parameter design of a two-currentloop controller used in a grid-connected inverter system with LCL filter," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 4483–4491, Nov. 2009.
- [35] T. Kawabata, T. Miyashita, and Y. Yamamoto, "Digital control of three-phase PWM inverter with LC filter," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics, vol. 6, no.1, pp. 62-72, Jan. 1991.
- [36] Twining and D.G. Holmes, "Grid current regulation of a three-phase voltage source inverter with an LCL input filter," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 888-895, May. 2003.
- [37] P. C. Loh and D. G. Holmes "Analysis of multi-loop control strategies for LC/CL/LCL-filtered voltage-source and current-source inverters," IEEE Transaction on Industry Application., vol. 41, pp. 644–654, Mar./Apr. 2005.
- [38] G. Shen, D. Xu, L. Cao, and X. Zhu, "An improved control strategy for gridconnected voltage source inverters with an LCL filter," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 1899-1906, Jul, 2008.
- [39] G. Shen, X. Zhu, J. Zhang, and D. Xu, "A new feedback method for PR current control of LCL-filter-based grid connected inverter," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 2033-2041, Jun, 2010.
- [40] J. M. Maza-Ortega, J.A. Rosendo-Macias, A. Gomez-Exposito, S. Ceballos-Mannozzi, and M. Barragan-Villarejo, "Reference current computation for active power filters by running DFT techniques," IEEE Transaction on Power Delivery, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 1986-1995, Jul. 2010.
- [41] H. Akagi, Y. Kanazawa, and A. Nabae, "Instantaneous reactive power compensation comprising switching devices without energy storage components," IEEE Transaction on Industry Application., vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 625-630, Mar/Apr. 1984.
- [42] F. Peng, H. Akagi, and A. Nabae, "A new approach to harmonic compensation in power system- a combined system of shunt passive and series active filters," IEEE Transaction on Industry Application., vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 983-990, Nov. 1990.
- [43] D.N. Zmood and D.G. Holmes, "Stationary frame current regulation of PWM inverters with zero steady-state error," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 814-822, Mar. 2003.

- [44] D.N. Zmood, D.G. Holmes, and G.H. Bode, "Frequency-domain analysis of three-phase linear current regulator," IEEE Transaction on Industry Application, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 601-610, Mar/Apr. 2001.
- [45] R. Teodorescu, F. Blaabjerg, M. Liserre, and A. D. Aquila, "A stable three-phase LCL-filter based active rectifier without damping," in Conf. Rec. IEEE IAS Annu. Meeting, 2003, pp. 1552-1557.
- [46] Z. Li, Y. Li, P. Wang, H. Zhu, C. Liu and F. Gao, "Single-loop digital control of high-power 400-Hz ground power unit for airplanes," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 532–543, Feb. 2010.
- [47] V. Blasko and V. Kaura, "A novel control to actively damp resonance in input LC filter of a three-phase voltage source converter," IEEE Transaction on Industry Application., vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 542–550, Mar./Apr.1997.
- [48] T. Ying-Yu, "DSP-based fully digital control of a PWM DC-AC converter for AC voltage regulation," in Proc. 26th IEEE PESC, 1995, vol. 1, pp. 138-144.
- [49] M. Vilathgamuwa, A. A. D. Ranjith Perera, and S. S. Choi, "Performance improvement of the dynamic voltage restorer with closed-loop load voltage and current-mode control," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 824-834, Sep. 2002.
- [50] P. C. Loh and D. G. Holmes "Analysis of multi-loop control strategies for LC/CL/LCL-filtered voltage-source and current-source inverters," IEEE Transaction on Industry Application., vol. 41, pp. 644–654, Mar./Apr. 2005.
- [51] J. M. Guerrero, L. G. Vicuna, J. Matas, M. Castilla, and J. Miret, "Output impedance design of parallel-connected UPS inverters with wireless load sharing control," IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron., vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 1126-1135, Aug. 2005.
- [52] J. He and Y. W. Li, "Analysis, design and implementation of virtual impedance for power electronics interfaced distributed generation," IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl., vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 2525-2538, Nov/Dec. 2011.
- [53] J. He, Y. W. Li, and S. Munir, "A flexible harmonic control approach through voltage controlled DG-grid interfacing converters," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 59, no. 1, pp. 444-455, Jan. 2012.
- [54] T.-L. Lee, J.-C. Li, and P.-T. Cheng, "Discrete frequency tuning active filter for power system harmonics," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 24, no.5, pp. 1209-1217, May. 2009.

- [55] P. A. Dahono, Y. R. Bahar, T. Sato, and T. Kataoka, "Damping of transient oscillations on the output LC filter of PWM inverters by using a virtual resistor," in Proc. IEEE-PEDS, 2001, pp. 403-407.
- [56] P. A. Dahono, "A control method to damp oscillation in the input LC filter of AC-DC PWM converters," in Proc. IEEE-PESC, 2002, pp. 1630-1635.
- [57] M. H. Bierhoff and F. W. Fuchs, "Active damping for three-phase PWM rectifiers with high-order line-side filters," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 371–379, Feb. 2010.
- [58] L. Corradini, P. Mattavelli, M. Corradin, and F. Polo, "Analysis of parallel operation of uninterruptible power supplies loaded through long wiring cables," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 1046-1054, Apr. 2010.
- [59] H. M. Kojabadi, B. Yu, I. A. Gadoura, L. Chang, and M. Ghribi, "A novel DSPbased current-controlled PWM strategy for single-phase grid connected inverters," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 21, no.4, pp. 985-993, Jul. 2006.
- [60] Q. Zeng, and L. Chang, "An advanced SVPWM-based predictive current controller for three-phase inverters in distributed generation systems," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 1235-1246, March. 2008.
- [61] H. Abu-Rub, J. Guzinski, Z. Krzeminski, and H. Toliyat, "Predictive current control of voltage-source inverters," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 585- 593, Jun. 2004.
- [62] E. Wu, and P. W. Lehn, "Digital current control of a voltage source converter with active damping of LCL resonance" IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 21, no.5, pp. 1364-1373, Sep. 2006.
- [63] W. Zhao and G. Chen, "Comparison of active and passive damping methods for application in high power active power filter with LCL-filter," in Conf. Rec. IEEE International Conference on Sustainable Power Generation and Supply, pp. 1-6, Apr, 2010.
- [64] X. Lei, C. Guo, Y. Xu, and Q. Liu, "Study on detection method for harmonic and reactive current in single-phase circuit," in Conf. Rec. of Measuring Technology and Mechatronics Automation (ICMTMA'09), pp.695-698, 2009.
- [65] L. A. Serpa, S. Ponnaluri, P. M. Barbose, and J. W. Kolar, "A modified direct power control strategy allowing the connection of three-phase inverter to the grid through LCL filters" IEEE Transaction on Industry Application., vol. 43, no. 5, pp.1388-1400, Sep/Oct. 2007.

- [66] J. H. R. Enslin, and P. J. M. Heskes, "Harmonic interaction between a large number of distributed power inverters and the distributed network," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 19, no.6, pp. 1586-1593, Nov. 2004.
- [67] J. Agorreta, M. Borrega, J. Lopez, and L. Marroyo, "Modeling and control of N paralleled grid-connected inverters with LCL filters coupled due to grid impedance in PV plants," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 780- 780, Apr. 2011.
- [68] M. Triggianese, F. Liccardo, and P. Marino, "Ancillary Services performed by Distributed Generation in grid integration," Proc. IEEE International Conference on Clean Electrical Power, 2007, pp. 164–170.
- [69] M. I. Marei, T. K. Abdel-Galil, E. F. El-Saadany, and M. M. A. Salama, "Hilbert transform based control algorithm of the DG interface for voltage flicker mitigation," IEEE Transaction on Power Delivery, vol. 20, pp. 1129- 1133, April 2005.
- [70] M. Cirrincione, M. Pucci, and G. Vitale, "A single-phase DG generation unit with shunt active power filter capability by adaptive neural filtering," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 55, No. 5, pp. 2093- 2110, May. 2008.
- [71] N. Pogaku and T.C. Green, "Harmonic mitigation throughout a distribution system: a distributed-generator-based solution," IEE Proc. Gener. Transm. Distrib., vol.153, no.3, pp. 350- 358, 11 May 2006.
- [72] C. J. Gajanayake, D. M. Vilathgamuwa, P.C. Loh, R. Teodorescu, and F. Blaabjerg, "Z-Source-Inverter-Based Flexible Distributed Generation System Solution for Grid Power Quality Improvement," IEEE Transaction on Energy Convertsion, vol.24, pp.695-704, Sept. 2009.
- [73] L. Asiminoaei, F. Blaabjerg, and S. Hansen, "Detection is key- harmonic detection methods for active power filter applications," IEEE Industry Application Magazine., vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 22-33, Jul/Aug. 2007.
- [74] B. P. Mcgrath, D. G. Holmes, and J. J. H. Galloway, "Power converter line synchronization using a discrete Fourier transform (DFT) based on a variable sample rate," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 877-884, Apr. 2005.
- [75] H. Akagi, Y. Kanazawa, and A. Nabae, "Instantaneous reactive power compensation comprising switching devices without energy storage components," IEEE Transaction on Industry Application., vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 625-630, Mar/Apr. 1984.

- [76] P. Rodríguez, A. Luna, I. Candlea, R. Mujal, R. Teodorescu, and F. Blaabjerg, "Multiresonant frequency-locked loop for grid synchronization of power converters under distorted grid conditions," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 127–138, Jan. 2011.
- [77] Y. Wang and Y. W. Li, "Three-phase cascaded delayed signal cancellation PLL for fast selective harmonic detection," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1452–1463, Apr. 2013.
- [78] J. Miret, M. Castilla, J. Matas, J. M. Guerrero, and J. C. Vasquez, "Selective harmonic-compensation control for single-phase active power filter with high harmonic rejection," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 3117–3127, Aug. 2009.
- [79] D. A. Toerrey and A. M. A. M. Al-Zamel, "Single-phase active power filters for multiple nonlinear loads," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 263-272, May. 1995.
- [80] X. Sun, J. Zeng, and Z. Chen, "Site selection strategy of single frequency tuned R-APF for background harmonic voltage damping in power systems," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 135–143, Jan. 2013.
- [81] R. I. Bojoi, G. Griva, V. Bostan, M. Guerriero, F. Farina, and F. Profumo, "Current control strategy of power conditioners using sinusoidal signal integrators in synchronous reference frame," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1402–1412, Nov. 2005.
- [82] H. Akagi, H. Fujita, and K. Wada, "A shunt active filter based on voltage detection for harmonic termination of a radial power distribution line," IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl., vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 638–645, May/Jun. 1999.
- [83] H. Akagi, E. H. Watanabe, and M. Aredes, "Instantaneous power theory and applications to power conditioning," Wiley-IEEE Press, pp.74-79, Feb. 2007.
- [84] P. Jintakosonwit, H. Akagi, H. Fujita, and S. Ogasawara, "Implementation and performance of automatic gain adjustment in a shunt-active filter for harmonic damping throughout a power distribution system," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol.17, pp.438-447, May. 2002.
- [85] Z. Yao, L. Xiao, and Y. Yan, "Seamless transfer of single-phase grid-interactive inverters between grid-connected and stand-alone modes" IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 1597-1603, Jun. 2010.

- [86] I. J. Balaguer, Q. Lei, S. Yang, U. Supatti, and F. Z. Peng, "Control for gridconnected and intentional islanding operation of distributed power generation," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 58, no. 1, pp.147-157, Jan. 2011.
- [87] J. M. Guerrero, L. G. Vicuna, J. Matas, M. Castilla, and J. Miret, "Output impedance design of parallel-connected UPS inverters with wireless load sharing control," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 1126-1135, Aug. 2005.
- [88] J. M. Guerrero, L. G. Vicuna, J. Matas, M. Castilla, and J. Miret, "A wireless controller to enhance dynamic performance of parallel inverters in distributed generation systems," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 1205-1213, Sep, 2004.
- [89] Z. Li, Y. Li, P. Wang, H. Zhu, C. Liu, and F. Gao, "Single-loop digital control of high-power 400-Hz ground power unit for airplanes," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 532–543, Feb. 2010.
- [90] S. Y. Park, C. L. Chen, J. S. Lai, and S. R. Moon, "Admittance compensation in current loop control for a grid-tie LCL filter fuel cell inverter" IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 1716-1723, Jul. 2008.
- [91] J. A. Suul, A. Luna, P. Rodriguez, and T. Undeland, "Voltage-sensor-less synchronization to unbalanced grids by frequency-adaptive virtual flux estimation," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 2910–2923, Jul. 2012.
- [92] A. V. Timbus, M. Ciobotaru, R. Teodorescu, and F. Blaabjerg, "Adaptive resonant controller for grid-connected converters in distributed power generation systems," in Proc. Appl. Power Electron. Conf. Expo (APEC'06), Mar. 2006, p.6.
- [93] C. A. Busada, S. G. Jorge, A. E. Leon, and J.A. Solsona, "Current controller based on reduced order generalized integrators for distributed generations systems," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 2893–2909, Jul. 2012.
- [94] J. Dong, T. Xia, Y. Zhang, T. Weekes, J. S. Thorp, and Y. Liu, "Monitoring power system disturbances at the distribution level," Proc. Power and Energy Society General Meeting, Jul. 2008, pp. 1-8.
- [95] P. Rodriguez, A. Luna, I. Candlea, R. Mujal, R. Teodorescu, and F. Blaabjerg, "Multiresonant frequency-locked loop for grid synchronization of power converters under distorted grid conditions," IEEE Transaction on Industrial Electronics., vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 127–138, Jan. 2011.

- [96] F. Gonzalez-Espin, P. Mattavelli, E. Figueres, G. Garcera, R. Foley, "A variable multi-rate plug in repetitive controller for single-phase inverters operation in the islanding mode," in Proc. 15th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference, (EPE-PEMC'2012), Sep. 2012, p.6.
- [97] T.-L. Lee, J.-C. Li, and P.-T. Cheng, "Discrete frequency tuning active filter for power system harmonics," IEEE Transaction on Power Electronics., vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 1209–1217, May 2009.
- [98] N. Soni, S. Doolla, and M. C. Chandorkar, "Improvement of transient response in microgrids using virtual inertia," IEEE Transaction on Power Delivery., vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 1830–1838, Jul 2013.
- [99] K. Strunz, R. H. Fletcher, R. Campbell, and G. Gao, "Developing benchmark models for low-voltage distribution feeders," in IEEE Power Eng. Soc. Gen. Meet., Calgary, AB, Canada, Jul. 2009, pp. 1–3.
- [100] Y. W. Li and C. N. Kao, "An Accurate Power Control Strategy for Power-Electronics-Interfaced Distributed Generation Units Operating in a Low-Voltage Multibus Microgrid," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 24, pp. 2977-2988, Dec. 2009.